THE CRF-LIKE PEPTIDE UROCORTIN REVERSES KEY INDICATORS OF NIGROSTRIATAL DAMAGE IN RODENT MODELS OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE



Amjad N. Abuirmeileh

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> The School of Pharmacy (University of London)



ProQuest Number: 10104768

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10104768

Published by ProQuest LLC(2016). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Declaration

This thesis describes research conducted in the School of Pharmacy, University of London between October 2005 and July 2008 under the supervision of Dr. Peter Whitton. I certify that the research described is original and that any parts of the work that have been conducted by collaboration are clearly indicated. I also certify that I have written all the text herein and have clearly indicated by suitable citation any part of this dissertation that has already appeared in publication.

Amjad Abirmeileh Signature

27.9.2008

Date

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is an irreversible neurodegenerative disorder with no cure and current treatments have limited efficacy and unpleasant side effects. The aetiology of PD is complex involving apoptotic, excitotoxic, free radical mediated and inflammatory events. This work involved studying the effect of the corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF)-like peptide urocortin (UCN) on two distinct rodent models of PD, the well established 6-OHDA rat model and the more recently introduced LPS model. UCN's effects were examined in these models immediately after the lesion was induced and also after the lesion had significantly progressed. The mechanisms of action for UCN were examined through the use of selective CRF-R2 agonists UCNII and UCNIII to determine whether they exerted the same actions as UCN. The non selective antagonist α -helical CRF was also used in conjunction with UCN to examine whether reversed the effect of UCN. Another selective CRF-R1 antagonist, NBI-27914, was also used with UCN to confirm those findings.

Experiments were carried out in rats, and the effects of the different treatments used were evaluated through the use of multiple assessments. When UCN was given at the same time as 6-OHDA or LPS, this peptide reversed/restored key indicators of PD-Like damage. These included behavioral effects, loss of tissue and extracellular dopamine, loss of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) activity and protein levels, in addition to the loss of TH immuno-reactivity in nigral sections.

The effects of reversing/restoring these key indicators of PD-like damage were also observed when UCN was given seven days after 6-OHDA or LPS treatment, when the lesion had significantly progressed.

When the pharmacology of the UCN phenomenon was studied using CRF receptor agonists and antagonists, it was determined that UCN was acting via CRF-R1 receptors, a finding which may prove significant for development of new medications and exploring CRF-R1 as a new target in PD treatment. It was concluded that an extension of these observations to the clinic could have potential benefits for PD patients.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my supervisor Dr. Peter Whitton for all of his support and guidance throughout my PhD studies. I would also like to thank Dr. Chris Biggs for his direction and help. Deepest gratitude goes to Dr. Brian Pearce for always being there and always taking the time to help.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. Rebecca Lever and Dr. Ann Kingsbury for their big help and continous contribution through the course of this PhD.

I am also grateful to Dr. Lez Fowler, Dr. Mike Munday and Dr. Brian Pearce for providing me with the opportunity to earn needed extra funds which made my life easier.

I would like to thank Steve, Dave and Donna for all of their help on the sixth floor. And to all the people in registry especially Sudershana and Peggy I would like to express my appreciation.

Also special thanks to all of the members of the pharmacology department for their support and advice especially Dave and Vicky. Great appreciation goes to all my friends for always being there for me, Leila, Rosa, Eloisa, Celine, Alexis, Preet, Alex, Phil, Alena, Chris, Adam and Steve, thank you. Last but not least, I would like to thank the late Dave Khan for helping and supporting me at the start of this journey, I will never forget you.

Deepest gratitude goes to Sophie Cooke for all of her help, support and patience.

I am grateful to Al-Isra Private University for their support in funding my PhD.

Finally, I wish to express my deepest gratitude, appreciation and love to my Mom and Dad, my sister Najiah, my brothers Ayman, Ahmad and Muhannad; without you none of this would have been possible. Dedication

FOR MY PARENTS

Quotation

"IF I DON'T DO IT SOMEBODY ELSE WILL"

PETER CLIFF 1946-1992

Publications

The following publications have resulted from original work carried out during the course of this study:

Abuirmeileh A, Harkavyi A, Lever R, Biggs CS, Whitton PS (2007a) Urocortin, a CRF-like peptide, restores key indicators of damage in the substantia nigra in a neuroinflammatory model of PD. *J Neuroinflammation* 4(1): 19. (Appendix)

Abuirmeileh A, Lever R, Kingsbury AE, Lees AJ, Locke IC, Knight RA, Chowdrey HS, Biggs CS, Whitton PS (2007b) The corticotrophin-releasing factor-like peptide urocortin reverses key deficits in two rodent models of PD. *Eur J Neurosci* 26(2): 417-423. (Appendix)

One more paper is to be produced from this work. The expected tittle is: 'Urocortin arrests the development of parkinsonian-like features in rat via CRF-R1 receptors'

Published Abstracts

Biggs CS, **Abuirmeileh A**, Locke IC, Knight RA, Chowdrey RS and Whitton PS. Urocortin attenuates key indicators of nigrostriatal pathway destruction in rat hemiparkinsonian model. **Poster** presentation at the BPS winter meeting 2005.

Abuirmeileh A, Biggs CS, Lever R, Whitton PS. Urocortin reverses nigral DA cell loss in 6-OHDA and lipopolysaccharide treated rats. **Poster** presentation at the BPS 75th Anniversary Meeting 2006.

Abuirmeileh A, Biggs CS, Lever R, Whitton PS. Urocortin reverses parkinsonian like effects of intra-nigral lipopolysaccharide injection. **Poster** presentation at the BPS 75th Anniversary Meeting 2006.

Harkavyi A, **Abuirmeileh A**, Lever R, Biggs CS, Whitton PS. The CRF-like peptide urocortin restores striatal DA release in a neuro-inflammatory paradigm of Parkinson's disease. **Poster** presentation at the Life Sciences meeting 2007.

Abuirmeileh A, Harkavyi A, Biggs CS, Whitton PS. Urocortin restores striatal extracellular DA in the 6-hydroxydopamine hemiparkinsonian rat. **Poster** presentation at the Life Sciences meeting 2007.

A Harkavyi, **Abuirmeileh A**, Kingsbury AE, Lever R, Whitton PS. The glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonist exendin-4 has neuroprotective properties in rat models of PD. **Poster** presentation at the BPS winter meeting 2007.

Abuirmeileh A, Harkavyi A, Lever R, Biggs C, Whitton P. Urocortin Arrests the Development of Parkinsonian-like Features In Rat via CRF-R1 Receptors. Oral communication at the BPS winter meetning 2007.

Table of contents

.

<u>DEC</u>	LARATION	2
<u>ABS</u>	TRACT	3
ACK	NOWLEDGEMENTS	4
<u>DED</u>	ICATION	5
QUC	DTATION	6
<u>PUB</u>	LICATIONS	<u>7</u>
<u>TAB</u>	LE OF CONTENTS	<u>8</u>
LIST	OF FIGURES	
LIST	OF DIAGRAMS	
LIST	OF TABLES	<u>16</u>
ABB	REVIATIONS	17
<u>1</u>	ARKINSON'S DISEASE (PD)	
1.1	HISTORY	20
1.2	PREVALENCE	20
1.3	TYPES OF PD	21
1.4	Symptoms	23
1.5	DIAGNOSIS	23
1.6	DOPAMINE (DA)	24
1.6.1	DA SYSTEM	25
1.6.2	DA RECEPTORS	29
1.7	FUNCTIONAL NEUROANATOMY OF THE BASAL GANGLIA	30

1.8	Pathology	32
1.8.1	BEHAVIOURAL / MOVEMENT DISORDER	32
1.8.2	NEURONAL PATHOLOGY	33
1.8.3	MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY	34
1.9	CAUSATIVE FACTORS	35
1.9.1	INTERNAL PREDISPOSING FACTORS	35
1.9.2	External (Environmental)	37
1.10	RISK FACTORS	38
1.10.1	CURRENT TREATMENTS	38
1.10.2	2 MEDICATIONS / DRUGS USED IN PD	39
1.10.3	SURGERY	41
1.11	MODELS OF PD	45
1.11.1	' In situ	45
1.11.2	? IN VIVO	46
1.12	CURRENT EXPERIMENTAL COMPOUNDS FOR THE TREATMENT OF PD	53
1.13	UROCORTIN (UCN)	54
1.13.1	BACKGROUND	54
1.13.2	CORTICOTROPIN-RELEASING FACTOR (CRF)	55
1.13.3	THE UCN FAMILY	57
1.13.4	FUNCTION	57
1.13.5	5 CRF RECEPTORS	59
1.13.6	5 USES AS NOVEL THERAPY	61
<u>2</u> <u>N</u>	IATERIALS AND METHODS	<u>. 67</u>
2.1	CHEMICALS AND REGENTS	67
2.2	Animals	67

2.2.1	STEREOTAXIC SURGERY	67
2.2.2	Post mortem handling	73
2.3	TISSUE HANDLING (BRAINS)	74
2.4	HPLC	74
2.4.1	System components	74
2.4.2	CHROMATOGRAMS	76
2.4.3	INTERNAL STANDARD	77
2.4.4	External standard	78
2.5	Assessment	80
2.5.1	APOMORPHINE CHALLENGE	80
2.5.2	In vivo microdialysis	80
2.5.3	TISSUE DA	83
2.5.4	Tyrosine Hydroxylase Assay	84
2.5.5	WESTERN BLOT	86
2.5.6	Immunohistochemistry	87
2.6	DATA ANALYSIS	87
<u>3</u> <u>U</u>	CN REVERSES TOXIN INDUCED PD-LIKE DEFICITS	<u>. 90</u>
3.1	INTRODUCTION	90
3.1.1	PD MODELS USED	91
3.2	EXPERIMENT DESIGN	92
3.3	THE EFFECT OF UCN IN 6-OHDA LESIONED RATS	94
3.3.1	Apomorphine challenge	94
3.3.2	In vivo microdialysis	95
3.3.3	MEASUREMENT OF TISSUE DA	96
3.3.4	TH ENZYME ASSAY	97

3.3.5	WESTERN BLOTTING	98
3.3.6	Immunohistochemistry	98
3.4	THE EFFECT OF UCN ON LPS LESIONED RATS	100
3.4.1	APOMORPHINE CHALLENGE	100
3.4.2	In vivo microdialysis	101
3.4.3	MEASUREMENT OF TISSUE DA	102
3.4.4	TH ASSAY	103
3.4.5	WESTERN BLOTTING	104
3.4.6	Immunohistochemistry	104
3.5	DISCUSSION	106

4 UCN CONFERS NEUROPROTECTION AFTER THE LESION DEVE	LOPS?.110
4.1 INTRODUCTION	110
4.2 EXPERIMENT DESIGN	111
4.3 RESULTS	113
4.3.1 Apomorphine challenge	113
4.3.2 IN VIVO MICRODIALYSIS	115
4.3.3 MEASUREMENT OF TISSUE DA	117
4.3.4 TH ASSAY	118
4.3.5 WESTERN BLOTTING	120
4.3.6 Immunohistochemistry	120
4.4 DISCUSSION	123
5 RECEPTOR TARGETS FOR UCN IN RAT MODELS OF PD	126

5.1	INTRODUCTION	126
5.2	Experiment design	127

5.3	RESULTS	129
5.3.1	EFFECTS OF NON-SELECTIVE CRF-R ANTAGONISM ON UCN-MEDIATED	
NEU	ROPROTECTION.	129
5.3.2	2 EFFECTS OF UCNII AND UCNIII IN 6-OHDA LESIONED	135
5.3.3	B EFFECT OF THE SELECTIVE CRF-R1 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST NBI – 27914 ON UCN	1-
MED	IATED NEUROPROTECTION	141
5.4	DISCUSSION	148
<u>6</u>	GENERAL DISCUSSION	<u>150</u>
6.1	FUTURE WORK	158
<u>7</u>	REFERENCES	<u>161</u>
<u>8</u>	APPENDIX	<u>191</u>

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.6.1 SAGITAL SECTION OF HUMAN BRAIN SHOWING THE DA PATHWAYS.	26
FIGURE 1.6.2 SYNTHESIS OF DA.	26
FIGURE 1.6.3 METABOLIC INACTIVATION OF DA.	27
FIGURE 1.6.4 BIOSYNTHESIS OF CATECHOLAMINES.	28
FIGURE 1.7.1 NEURONAL PATHWAYS IN THE BASAL GANGLIA.	32
Figure 1.13.1 Diagram illustrating the role of UCN in the nervous and cardiovascular $% \mathcal{A}$	
SYSTEMS.	58
FIGURE 1.13.2 SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF SIMPLIFIED CRF-R CELLULAR SIGNALLING AFTER U	CN
STIMULATION.	61
FIGURE 2.2.1 A SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM SHOWING THE TIME LINE OF UCN INJECTION AT TIME ZERO.	70
FIGURE 2.2.2 A SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM SHOWING THE TIME LINE OF UCN INJECTION AFTER 7 DAYS.	70
FIGURE 2.2.3. A SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM SHOWING THE TIME LINE OF A-HELICAL CRF AND UCN	
INJECTIONS AFTER LESIONING WITH 6-OHDA,	71
Figure 2.2.4 A schematic diagram showing the time line of NBI-27914 and UCN injections	
AFTER LESIONING WITH 6-OHDA,	72
FIGURE 2.4.1 SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM OF AN HPLC-ED SYSTEM.	75
FIGURE 2.4.2 AN EXAMPLE OF A TYPICAL CHROMATOGRAM OF CATECHOLAMINES USING HPLC-ED.	76
FIGURE 2.4.3 AN EXAMPLE OF ONE OF THE CONCENTRATIONS USED TO CONSTRUCT THE CALIBRATION	I
CURVE.	77
FIGURE 2.4.4 CALIBRATION CURVE OF L-DOPA AMOUNT VS. PEAK AREA RATIO (PAR).	78
FIGURE 2.4.5 AN EXAMPLE OF ONE OF THE CONCENTRATIONS USED TO CONSTRUCT THE CALIBRATION	I
CURVE.	79
FIGURE 2.4.6 CALIBRATION CURVE OF DA AMOUNT VS. PEAK AREA.	79
FIGURE 2.5.1 AN EXAMPLE OF A TYPICAL CHROMATOGRAM GENERATED FROM A DIALYSIS SAMPLE	
ILLUSTRATING BASAL LEVELS OF CATECHOLAMINES.	82
FIGURE 2.5.2 AN EXAMPLE OF A TYPICAL CHROMATOGRAM GENERATED FROM A DIALYSIS SAMPLE	
ILLUSTRATING HIGH POTASSIUM INDUCED LEVELS OF CATECHOLAMINES	82
FIGURE 2.5.3 AN EXAMPLE OF A TYPICAL CHROMATOGRAM GENERATED FROM STRIATAL HOMOGENA	TE
ILLUSTRATING TISSUE LEVELS OF CATECHOLAMINES	83
FIGURE 2.5.4 CHROMATOGRAM OF AN L-DOPA STANDARD USED BEFORE ENZYME ASSAY TO	
DETERMINE RETENTION TIME.	85
FIGURE 2.5.5 CHROMATOGRAM GENERATED FROM THE PRODUCT OF THE TH ENZYME ASSAY.	85
FIGURE 3.3.1 EFFECTS OF UCN ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED CONTRAVERSIVE TURNS IN RESPONSE TO	
APOMORPHINE.	94

FIGURE 3.3.2 THE EFFECT OF UCN ON LOSS OF EXTRACELLULAR STRIATAL DA LEVELS AS A RESULT	ΓOF
6-OHDA unilateral treatment where data was obtained from <i>in vivo</i> microdialys	sis.95
FIGURE 3.3.3 EFFECTS OF UCN ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TISSUE DA LOSS.	96
FIGURE 3.3.4 THE EFFECT OF UCN ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TH ACTIVITY LOSS.	97
FIGURE 3.3.5 EFFECTS OF UCN ON 6-OHDA INDUCED TH PROTEIN LOSS	98
FIGURE 3.3.6 REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOMICROGRAPHIC IMAGES OF RAT BRAIN CROSS SECTIONS AT TH	HE
SNC SHOWING UCN EFFECT ON TH NEURON SURVIVAL AFTER 6-OHDA UNILATERAL LESION	WAS
INDUCED.	99
FIGURE 3.4.1 EFFECTS OF UCN ON LPS-INDUCED CONTRAVERSIVE TURNS IN RESPONSE TO	
APOMORPHINE.	100
FIGURE 3.4.2 THE EFFECT OF UCN ON LPS INDUCED LOSS OF EXTRACELLULAR STRIATAL DA LEVER	LS
OBTAINED FROM IN VIVO MICRODIALYSIS.	101
FIGURE 3.4.3 EFFECTS OF UCN ON LPS-INDUCED TISSUE DA LOSS.	102
FIGURE 3.4.4 THE EFFECT OF UCN ON LPS-INDUCED TH ACTIVITY LOSS.	103
FIGURE 3.4.5 EFFECTS OF UCN ON 6-OHDA LPS INDUCED TH PROTEIN LOSS.	104
FIGURE 3.4.6 REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOMICROGRAPHIC IMAGES OF RAT BRAIN CROSS SECTIONS SHOW	VING
BOTH THE RIGHT AND THE LEFT SNC	105
FIGURE 4.3.1 EFFECTS OF UCN ON EITHER 6-OHDA-INDUCED (A) OR LPS-INDUCED (B)	
CONTRAVERSIVE TURNS IN RESPONSE TO APOMORPHINE.	114
FIGURE 4.3.2 THE EFFECT OF UCN ON EXTRACELLULAR STRIATAL DA LEVELS 7 DAYS AFTER 6-OH	DA
(a) or LPS (b) treatement. DA levels were obtained from <i>in vivo</i> microdialysis.	116
Figure 4.3.3 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced tissue DA loss in SNC (a) and striatum	(B)
	117
Figure 4.3.4 Effects of UCN on LPS-induced tissue DA loss in SNC (a) striatum (b)	118
FIGURE 4.3.5 THE EFFECT OF UCN ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TH ACTIVITY LOSS 7 DAYS AFTER LESION	ING.
	119
Figure 4.3.6 The effect of UCN on LPS-induced TH activity loss 7 days after lesioning	119
FIGURE 4.3.7 EFFECTS OF UCN ON 6-OHDA AND LPS-INDUCED TH PROTEIN LOSS	120
$Figure \ 4.3.8 \ Representative \ photomic rographic \ images \ of \ rat \ brain \ SNc \ cross \ sections$	
showing the effect of UCN on TH neuron loss after seven days from unilateral 6	-
OHDA LESIONING	121
$Figure \ 4.3.9 \ Representative \ photomic rographic \ images \ of \ rat \ brain \ SNc \ cross \ sections$	
showing the effect of UCN on TH neuron cell loss seven days after LPS lesioning	3 1 2 2
FIGURE 5.3.1 EFFECTS OF UCN IN THE PRESENCE OF A-HELICAL CRF ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED	
CONTRAVERSIVE TURNS IN RESPONSE TO APOMORPHINE.	130
Figure 5.3.2 The effect of UCN with and without a-helical CRF on extracellular stria	TAL
DA LEVELS OBTAINED FROM IN VIVO MICRODIALYSIS.	131

14

FIGURE 5.3.3 EFFECTS OF UCN WITH AND WITHOUT A-HELICAL CRF ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TISSUE	DA
LOSS.	132
FIGURE 5.3.4 THE EFFECT OF UCN WITH AND WITHOUT A-HELICAL CRF ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TH	
ACTIVITY LOSS.	133
FIGURE 5.3.5 REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOMICROGRAPHIC IMAGES OF A RAT BRAIN SNC CROSS SECTION	IS
showing the effect of a-Helical CRF on reversing the preservative effects of UC	N on
TH NEURON LOSS FROM 6-OHDA UNILATERAL LESIONING.	134
FIGURE 5.3.6 EFFECTS OF UCN ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED CONTRAVERSIVE TURNS IN RESPONSE TO	
APOMORPHINE.	135
FIGURE 5.3.7 THE EFFECT OF UCN III ON LOSS OF EXTRACELLULAR STRIATAL DA LEVELS AFTER 6-	
OHDA UNILATERAL LESIONNING. DA LEVELS OBTAINED FROM IN VIVO MICRODIALYSIS	136
Figure 5.3.8 The effect of UCN II on loss of extracellular striatal DA levels after 6-	
OHDA UNILATERAL LESIONNING. DA LEVELS OBTAINED FROM IN VIVO MICRODIALYSIS	137
FIGURE 5.3.9 EFFECTS OF UCN, UCN II AND UCN III ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TISSUE DA LOSS	138
FIGURE 5.3.10 THE EFFECT OF UCN, UCN II AND UCN III ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TH ACTIVITY LOS	SS
	139
FIGURE 5.3.11 REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOMICROGRAPHIC IMAGES OF A RAT BRAIN SNC CROSS SECTIO	NS
SHOWING THE EFFECT OF UCN, UCNII AND UCNIII ON THE NEURON LOSS DUE TO UNILATER.	al 6-
OHDA LESIONNING.	140
FIGURE 5.3.12 EFFECTS OF NBI-27914 ON UCN'S ATTENUATION OF 6-OHDA-INDUCED	
CONTRAVERSIVE TURNS IN RESPONSE TO APOMORPHINE.	142
Figure 5.3.13 The effect of UCN with and without NBI-27914 on loss of extracellular $% \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}$	
STRIATAL DA LEVELS DUE TO UNILATERAL 6-OHDA LESIONNING. DA LEVELS OBTAINED FRO)M IN
VIVO MICRODIALYSIS.	143
FIGURE 5.3.14 EFFECTS OF UCN WITH AND WITHOUT NBI-27914 ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TISSUE DA	x
LOSS FROM 6-OHDA LESIONNING	144
FIGURE 5.3.15 THE EFFECT OF UCN WITH AND WITHOUT NBI-27914 ON 6-OHDA-INDUCED TH	
ACTIVITY LOSS DUE TO 6-OHDA UNILATERAL LESIONNING.	145
Figure 5.3.16 Representative photomic rographic images of a rat brain SNC cross section ${\bf S}$	NS
showing the effect of NBI-27914 on reversing the UCN preservative effect on TH	
NEURONS AFTER 6-OHDA UNILATERAL LESIONING.	147

List of diagrams

DIAGRAM 1 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 93
DIAGRAM 2 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 93
DIAGRAM 3 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 112
DIAGRAM 4 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 112
DIAGRAM 5 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 128
DIAGRAM 6 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 128
DIAGRAM 7 SCHEMATIC TIME BAR INDICATING TIMES OF INJECTIONS AND PROCEDURES CARRIED OUT IN
EACH EXPERIMENTAL GROUP. 128

List of tables

TABLE 1.1 SUMMARY OF GENES FOUND TO BE LINKED TO PD	22
TABLE 1.2 EXAMPLES OF SOME OF THE MOST COMMONLY USED ANIMAL MODELS OF PD.	53

Abbreviations

AADC	Aromatic acid decarboxylase		
AC	Adenylate cyclase		
ACSF	Artificial cerebrospinal fluid		
BBB	Blood brain barrier		
BDNF	Brain derived neurotrophic factor		
BH4	Tetrahydrobiopterin		
cAMP	3', 5'- cyclic adenosine monophosphate		
CNS	Central nervous system		
COMT	Catechol-O-methyl transferase		
CRF	Corticotropin releasing factor		
CRF-R	Corticotropin releasing factor receptor		
DA	Dopamine		
DAB	3, 3'-Diaminobenzidine		
DAT	DA transporter		
DDC	Dopa decarboxylase		
DOPAC	3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid		
GABA	Gamma aminobutyric acid		
GDNF	Glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor		
HVA	Homovanillic acid		
i.c.	Intracerebral (injection)		

i.p.	Intraperitoneal (injection)		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide		
L-DOPA	L-Dihydroxyphenylalanine		
MAO	Monoamine oxidase		
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase		
MFB	Medial forebrain bundle		
MPP+	1-Methyl-4-phenyl pyridinium		
МРТР	Methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6 tetrahydropyridine		
NMDA	N-methyl d-aspartate		
6-OHDA	6-Hydroxydopamine		
PA	Peak area		
PAR	Peak area ratio		
PC12	Rat Phaeochromocytoma cell line		
PD	Parkinson's disease		
PFA	Paraformaldehyde		
РКА	Protein kinase A		
ROS	Reactive oxygen species		
s.c.	Subcutaneous (injection)		
SNc	Substantia nigra pars compacta		
ТН	Tyrosine hydroxylase		
UCN	Urocortin		

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1 Parkinson's disease (PD)

1.1 History

PD was first described in 1817 by James Parkinson, today it is recognized as being the second most common neurodegenerative disorder affecting 0.3% of the entire industrialized country population (de Lau *et al.*, 2006). When PD was first noted it was known as paralysis agitans or *Shaking Palsy*, characterized by muscle rigidity, tremor, and slowing of physical movement (Parkinson, 2002). Until the 1950's the underlying biochemical changes in the brain were still unidentified, these were then uncovered mostly due to the work of the Swedish scientist Arvid Carlsson who later went on to win a Nobel Prize. Unfortunately, the disease is progressive and the symptoms start to arise only when about 70% of the DA neurons in the substantia nirga have already died (Fearnley *et al.*, 1991). Although there is no current cure for the disease; there are a number of effective symptomatic therapies available (Poewe, 2006). The first specific treatment to be used for PD was L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA), this entered clinical practice in 1967, and the first study reporting improvements in patients with PD through the use of L-DOPA as treatment was published in 1968 (Cotzias, 1968; Cotzias *et al.*, 1967).

1.2 Prevalence

PD is a movement disorder occurring throughout the world and affecting all ethnic groups and both genders. In industrialized countries it is estimated that about 0.3% of the whole population and 1% of the population above the age of 60 suffer from PD (de Lau *et al.*, 2006). Worldwide, PD affects around 0.1% of the global population; it is an age related disorder which affects about 1-3% of people above the age of 65 and 4-5% of people above the age of 85 years, only 5-10% of PD patients are below the

age of 40 (early-onset PD) (Tanner *et al.*, 1999). In the U.S.A, the prevalence of PD rises from 0.3% in the general population to 1% to 2% in persons whose age is 65 years or older, with some data indicating a prevalence of 4% to 5% in individuals above the age of 85 years (Weintraub *et al.*, 2008).

There are cross-cultural variations in the occurrence of PD, these are possibly a consequence of the dissimilarity in environmental exposures or the difference in susceptibility gene distribution (Van Den Eeden *et al.*, 2003). For example it has been established that there is a 5 to 10 fold decrease in the prevalence of age specific PD in mainland China compared with Europe (Zhang *et al.*, 1993). PD exists both as an idiopathic and a familial disorder, and the contribution of environmental factors and genetic factors in the genesis of the disease is still not completely clear. Although many causative monogenetic mutations have been identified in recent years, they only account for a small proportion of the disease leaving about 90% of cases of sporadic origin (de Lau *et al.*, 2006). Many studies have shown that PD is more common in men than woman, while others found that there is no significant difference between the two genders (de Lau *et al.*, 2006). Also, PD is one of the few diseases that appear to occur less amongst the population who smoke tobacco (Veldman *et al.*, 1998).

1.3 Types of PD

As described above, PD exists in two forms: familial or idiopathic. In familial PD some genetic linkage has been found between the occurrence of the disease and a form of genetic alteration that is passed onto offspring, idiopathic PD however occurs sporadically with no well known cause.

Genetic implications in the aetiology of PD have been debated since both Gowers (1902) and Leroux (1880) noted that 15% of their PD patients reported an affected family member (Gowers, 1902; Pankratz *et al.*, 2004). A large sample of World War II veterans who were twins was analyzed and evidence was found for a genetic susceptibility to PD only among twins with early-onset PD (Tanner *et al.*, 1999).

Ideas on the genetic contribution to familial cases of PD have mostly been by the identification of mutations or over expression of genes encoding for various proteins. Due to the renewed interest in familial PD many genetic loci have been uncovered, namely PARK 1 to PARK 11 (McInerney-Leo, 2005), these encode proteins such as parkin, α -synuclein, ubiquitin carboxy hydrolase L1, PINK1 and DJ-1 (Di Monte, 2003; Lai *et al.*, 2002). One example is the alpha-synuclein gene mutations which are mostly point mutations and were found to be autosomal dominant (Leung *et al.*, 2005; Mouradian, 2002).

It has been shown in more than 10 studies that the risk of PD is 3 to 14 times higher in first-degree relatives of an individual suffering from PD when compared to risk in members of unaffected families (Pankratz *et al.*, 2003). The table below summerises the genes that have been linked with PD (table 1.1).

Locus	Gene	Chromosome	Inheritance	Probable function
PARK1 and PARK4	a-Synuclein	4q21	AD	Presynaptic protein, Lewy body
PARK2	Parkin	6q25.2-27	AR	Ubiquitin E3 ligase
PARK3	Unknown	2p13	AD	Unknown
PARK4	Unknown	4p14	AD	Unknown
PARK5	UCH-L1	4p14	AD	Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase
PARK6	PINK1	1p35-36	AR	Mitochondrial kinase
PARK7	DJ-1	1p36	AR	Chaperone, Antioxidant
PARK8	LRRK2	12p11.2	AD	Mixed lineage kinase
PARK9	ATP13A2	1p36	AR	Unknown
PARK10	Unknown	1p32	AD	Unknown
PARK11	Unknown	2q36-37	AD	Unknown
PARK12	Unknown	Xq21-q25	Unknown	Unknown
PARK13	HTRA2	2p12	Unknown	Mitochondrial serine protease

Table 1.1 Summary of genes found to be linked to PD

AD, autosomal dominant; AR, autosomal recessive. Table adapted from Thomas et al., 2007.

1.4 Symptoms

There are many symptoms of PD, perhaps the most pronounced are the motor symptoms which include: resting tremor, skeletal muscle rigidity, akinesia/ bradykinesia and postural instability. These motor symptoms usually develop over many years as the disease progresses. The first components of the symptomatic profile are the resting tremor, muscle rigidity and akinesia, while postural instability occurs at a later stage of the disease (Obeso et al., 2000; Quinn, 1997). Although the most pronounced characteristics of PD affect movement (motor symptoms), there are other typical symptoms which include disorders of mood, behaviour, thinking, and sensation (non-motor symptoms). Individual patients' symptoms may be quite dissimilar; progression is also distinctly individual (Aarsland et al., 1999; Schrag, 2004). Mood and anxiety disorders, fatigue and apathy, psychosis, cognitive impairments and sleep disorders are neuropsychiatric disturbances which are either a part of the process of PD itself or could be a result of the multifaceted interactions between the progressive and broad pathologic changes of the disease, emotional response to Parkinsonism and treatment-related side-effects (Ferreri et al., 2006). One or more of the psychiatric symptoms are reported by more than 60% of patients with PD at some point in the course of their disease (Aarsland et al., 1999).

1.5 Diagnosis

Unfortunately, until now the main method for diagnosing idiopathic PD is the presentation of clinical symptoms (Rao *et al.*, 2006). No blood or laboratory tests that have proved to be useful in diagnosing PD are currently available and thus medical history and neurological examination serve as the chief means for diagnosis, consequently the disease can be difficult to diagnose accurately (Gelb *et al.*, 1999). The existing criteria for diagnosing PD requires the presence of at least two of the following cardinal symptoms of the disease: resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, or postural imbalance, with the exclusion of other potential causes of secondary

parkinsonism (de Lau *et al.*, 2006). So the diagnosis of PD is established when at least two motor symptoms are found, at least one being tremor or bradykinesia, and when patients respond positively to L-DOPA therapy (Gelb *et al.*, 1999). Post mortem autopsy is used to confirm the clinical diagnosis, and only then is there a definite diagnosis of PD, as only 80-90% of clinical diagnoses of probable PD are confirmed by post mortem examination (Litvan *et al.*, 2003). Early stage diagnosis of PD is especially difficult, particularly when only assessed at a single time point (de Rijk *et al.*, 1997). Long term follow-up of patients, however, does improve the accuracy of diagnosis because with long term observation new information on disease course and progression can be evaluated, such as the appearance of additional symptoms and responsiveness to L-DOPA therapy (de Lau *et al.*, 2006).

1.6 Dopamine (DA)

DA is a neurotransmitter related to adrenaline in structure, it functions as a chemical messenger in the brain which plays an important role in controlling movement, emotional response and cognition, the ability to feel pleasure and pain, control of food intake and endocrine regulation. DA is essential for performing balanced and controlled movements, and its deficiency in certain pathways in the brain can cause a lack of controlled movements as experienced in PD (Missale *et al.*, 1998). DA also plays numerous roles in the periphery in modulating cardiovascular function, catecholamine release, hormone secretion, vascular tone, renal function and gastrointestinal motility (Missale *et al.*, 1998).

A shortage of DA in the frontal lobe may lead to memory decline. On the other hand increased levels of DA in the limbic system and not enough in the cortex may lead to schizophrenia and possible paranoia (Seutin, 2005). Pain relief and a boost in the feeling of pleasure is experienced when DA levels increase in the frontal lobes (Van Der Borne, 2004). DA is the major neurotransmitter in the nigrostriatal pathway in

the midbrain, it originates from DA-synthesizing neurons of the midbrain substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) complex and innervates the striatum (Moore *et al.*, 1978).

1.6.1 DA system

DA plays many important and different roles in the brain; these roles are presented in the form of different neuronal pathways which use DA as a neurotransmitter. There are four pathways in the brain that involve DA.

1.6.1.1 DA Pathways

The mesocortical pathway is a neural tract connecting the ventral tegmentum in the midbrain to the frontal lobes of the cortex through DA neurons. This pathway is thought to be involved in motivation and in emotional responses and consequently is associated with the negative symptoms accompanying schizophrenia, such as lack of desire, motivation or emotional response. The mesolimbic pathway connects the ventral tegmentum to the neucleus accumbens located in the striatum. This pathway is thought to be involved in the feeling of pleasure, reward and desire; and consequently is thought to be associated in the neurobiological theories of addiction. The third DA pathway is the tuberoinfundibular pathway. Here, DA neurons in the arcuate nucleus of tuberal region in the hypothalamus project to the median eminence, and when DA is released at the latter site it regulates the secretion of prolactin from the anterior pituitary gland. The fourth, nigrostriatal pathway consists of DA neurons extending from the SNc to the striatum, and as a part of the basal ganglia this pathway is mainly involved in movement, and its degeneration leads to PD (Crocker, 1994; Dahlstrom *et al.*, 1964).

Chapter 1: general Introduction



Figure 1.6.1 Sagital section of human brain showing the DA pathways. Figure from Crocker, 1994

1.6.1.2 DA Synthesis

DA is one of the catecholamine neurotransmitters, it is predominately found in the central nervous system. DA is synthesized from the amino acid tyrosine after its metabolism into L-DOPA by the enzyme TH. L-DOPA is then converted to DA by the enzyme aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) (Foye, 1995).





Pathway illustrating the enzymatic conversion of tyrosine into DOPA and finally into DA. Adapted from (Foye, 1995).

DA can also be further metabolized by the enzyme DA- β -hydroxylase to form noradrenaline which can subsequently turn into adrenaline. The rate limiting step in the synthesis of DA is through the TH enzyme.

DA is synthesized in the presynaptic terminal and is regulated by the TH enzyme (Figure 1.6.2). Once synthesized, DA is taken up and stored in synaptic vesicles in the presynaptic terminal by the vesicular monoamine transporter. DA mediates its effects by interacting with D_1 and D_2 receptors located on post-synaptic neurons but also, binds to auto receptors modulating DA cell function. Catecholamines can go through reuptake into neurons after their release via the DA transporter. DA can also be metabolized by monoamine oxidase (MAO) to 3,4,-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) or by the enzyme catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) to 3-methoxytyramine (Figure 1.6.3). These two enzymes are considered to be major mechanisms for inactivation of catecholamines, and the action by both enzymes results in the formation of homovanillic acid (HVA)(Moore *et al.*, 1978).



Figure 1.6.3 Metabolic inactivation of DA. DA is metabolized through MAO enzyme into DOPAC then through COMT to finally form HVA (Foye, 1995).

1.6.1.2.1 Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)

TH is a mixed-function monooxygenase that catalyses the enzymatic conversion of Ltyrosine, in peripheral and central catecholaminergic neurons and in chromaffin cells of adrenal medulla, to L-DOPA (Nagatsu *et al.*, 1964; Swaans *et al.*, 2000). This TH enzymatic reaction is the initial and rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of catecholamines; DA, adrenaline, noradrenaline as shown in figure 1.6.4 (Anagnoste *et al.*, 1974; Goldstein *et al.*, 1974). Hence, TH which is primarily expressed in the brain and adrenal glands plays a key role in the physiology of DA as well as adrenergic neurons (Swaans *et al.*, 2000). TH exists as a tetramer of four identical subunits and requires (6R)-L-erythro-tetrahydro-pteridine (BH4) as a cofactor (Nagatsu *et al.*, 1991). The enzyme uses tyrosine as the substrate, molecular oxygen and BH4 to generate L-DOPA (Kumer *et al.*, 1996). The enzyme acts when the pterin cofactor, oxygen and tyrosine bind to the enzyme before the hydroxylation reaction.



Figure 1.6.4 Biosynthesis of catecholamines. Adapted from (King, 2007).

Short-term regulation of TH activity occurs at the post-transcriptional level, mainly activated via phosphorylation of the TH molecule; TH is phosphorylated and activated by different protein kinases including cAMP dependent protein kinase A

(PKA)(Campbell *et al.*, 1986). Long-term regulation has been exerted at the THprotein synthesis level following TH-gene transcription (Kumer *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, estrogens differentially regulate the expression of TH (Maharjan *et al.*, 2005), which could underlie the lower incidence of PD in women.

1.6.2 DA receptors

In 1972, the first evidence for the existence of DA receptors in the central nervous system was uncovered through biochemical studies, which demonstrated that DA had the ability to stimulate adenylyl cyclase (Kebabian *et al.*, 1972). In 1978, DA receptors were found to exist as two discrete populations; one positively coupled to adenylyl cyclase (AC) and the other independent of the adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate (cAMP)-generating system (Spano *et al.*, 1978). Kebabian and Calne classified the D1 receptor as the one that activates AC, via a Gs alpha-subunit (a heterotrimeric G protein subunit), leading to an increase in cAMP concentration, and the D2 receptor as the receptor that inhibits AC (Kebabian *et al.*, 1979).

After the first firm proposal for the presence of at least two distinct DA receptors by Kebabian and Calne in 1979, and with the introduction of gene cloning procedures, five subtypes of DA receptor have been identified. These receptors have been subdivided, according to their primary structure, gene organization, signaling systems and pharmacology, into D1-like (D1 and D5) or D2-like (D2, D3 and D4). Through the interaction with these five different subtypes, DA seems to mediate its different functions (Schwartz *et al.*, 1992). The D1 and D5 receptors are closely related and stimulate AC activity. On the contrary, D2, D3 and D4 receptors seem to inhibit the formation of cAMP (McAllister *et al.*, 1995; Sokoloff *et al.*, 1995).

Clinically, anti psychotic drugs used for the treatment of schizophrenia were believed to work through blocking cerebral DA receptors; the exact target on which these drugs give their effects are still not recognized (Griffon *et al.*, 1995). Almost all clinically active compounds used for antipsychotic drug therapy are mainly antagonists of DA D2-like (D2, D3 and D4) receptors (Griffon *et al.*, 1995; Sokoloff *et al.*, 1995). These are mainly devided into typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs, with typicals producing extrapyramidal signs and symptoms. Atypicals however, clinically help patients by transiently occupying D2 receptors and then rapidly dissociating to allow normal dopamine neurotransmission which prevents the occurance of extrapyramidal signs (Seeman, 2002).

The case in PD however is different, as there is a shortage of DA in the striatum due to the loss of nigrostriatal DA neurons. DA here acts on both D1 and D2 receptors and thus non selective DA agonists, and more recently some selective DA agonists, are used for treatment.

1.7 Functional neuroanatomy of the basal ganglia

PD is a chronic, progressive neurological disease characterized by the degeneration of neurons that normally produce the neurotransmitter DA. This leads to a DA deficiency in the basal ganglia and finally results in loss of striatal DA concentrations (Rothblat *et al.*, 2001).

To understand the pathology of PD, one has first to evaluate the functional neuroanatomy of the basal ganglia and its connections. Although the striatum is not the only zone where other brain areas connect to the basal ganglia, it is considered to be the major one. Here, the basal ganglia receive input through the striatum from the cortex, mainly from the motor and prefrontal cortices (Sabatini *et al.*, 2000; Wichmann *et al.*, 2003).

The way the basal ganglia are connected is mainly divided into two main pathways, the direct pathway, and the indirect pathway. Through these two pathways the striatum regulates the voluntary movements of the body. In the direct pathway striatal excitation due to cortical activity leads to the inhibition of the globus pallidus internus (GPi) and the SNr. The inhibition of these, which are tonically inhibiting the thalamus (in charge of activating the pre motor cortex), leads to the removal of the continuous inhibition, i.e. disinhibition. In the indirect pathway however, the excitation in the striatum due to the cortical activity seems to inhibit the thalamus, i.e. inhibition of the disinhibition. The overall outcome from the direct and indirect pathway is a disinhibition effect; this is because DA from the SNc activates the direct pathway over the indirect pathway, leading to increased signaling to the thalamus and thus allowing the ability to practice movement (Albin *et al.*, 1989; Alm, 2004; Wichmann *et al.*, 2003).

In the basal ganglia there are three primary types of neurons categorised according to the type of neurotransmitter they release at their terminals. The first neurons are glutamatergic neurons which release glutamate, an amino acid neurotransmitter which is excitatory in nature, acts on post synaptic neurons through binding glutamate receptors such as NMDA (N-methyl d-aspartate) receptors. These receptors confer a positive or excitatory response. The second neurons are GABAergic and release gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) from their terminals; these neurons are inhibitory in nature and inhibit the post synaptic motor neurons through binding GABA receptors. The third type of neurons are dopaminergic; these are responsible for voluntary movement refinement through reducing the influence of the indirect pathway, and increasing the actions of the direct pathway within the basal ganglia (Alm, 2004). These Events are illustrated in Figure 1.7.1.



Figure 1.7.1 Neuronal pathways in the basal ganglia.

White arrows are excitatory and black arrows are inhibitory. Gpe: external segment of globus pallidus, Gpi: internal segment of globus pallidus, STN: subthalamic nucleus, SNc substantia pars compacta, Thal: thalamus. The striatum projects to the Gpi by both the direct and indirect pathways. The activity in these pathways is modulated by DA from the SNc: D1-receptors activate the striatal neurons forming the direct pathway while D2-receptors inhibit the striatal neurons in the indirect pathway. (Alm, 2004).

1.8 Pathology

1.8.1 Behavioural / Movement disorder

In PD the nigrostriatal pathway degenerates, and due to this disruption the major motor symptoms arise. There are also some non-motor symptoms that are associated with PD including apathy, mood disturbances, depression, cognitive disturbances, and sleep disturbances. These non-motor symptoms may be associated with the other DA pathways. Disruption of DA transmission along the non-striatal pathways explains some of the associated neuropsychiatric pathology, this however happens at later stages of the disease (Aarsland et al., 2001). Apathy for example is one of the behavioural symptoms in PD, and it is caused by dysfunctions within the prefrontal cortex and the basal ganglia system (Aarsland et al., 2003; Pluck et al., 2002). Apathy can also occur after focal lesions of specific structures of the basal ganglia such as the caudate nuclei, the internal pallidum and the medial-dorsal thalamic nuclei (Bhatia et al., 1994; Laplane et al., 1989). Other non-motor symptoms, such as depression, could develop as a consequence of damage to serotonergic neurotransmission, as well as limbic noradrenergic and dopaminergic mechanisms (Remy *et al.*, 2005). Also, noradrenaline deficiency due to the degeneration of the locus coeruleus has been linked to neuropsychiatric symptoms seen in PD, such as depression and sleep disturbances (Chaudhuri *et al.*, 2006).

The major or cardinal symptoms in PD however are the motor symptoms. These include resting tremor, muscle rigidity, hypokinesia and postural instability (Rao *et al.*, 2006; Zigmond, 2002). These symptoms arise early in the disease and are due to disruption in the nigrostrial DA pathway which is responsible for mediating movement (Herrero *et al.*, 2002). As mentioned before there are two key pathways in the basal ganglia involved in the voluntary motor movements, the direct and the indirect pathways. While the direct pathway facilitates movement the indirect pathway inhibits this movement. The lack of DA leads to an increased inhibition of the ventral lateral nucleus of the thalamus, which sends excitatory projections to the motor cortex, consequently leading to hypokinesia (Albin *et al.*, 1989; Sabatini *et al.*, 2000). The muscle rigidity and the resting tremor in PD are caused by abnormal synchronous oscillating neuronal activity within the basal ganglia (Jankovic, 2006).

1.8.2 Neuronal pathology

Pathologic features of PD include the loss of DA neurons in the SNc. This nucleus, which is located in the ventral midbrain, contains high amounts of neuromelanin pigment and plays a significant role in motor movements (Zigmond, 2002).

Another pathologic hallmark of PD is the presence of Lewy bodies (Gwinn-Hardy, 2002). These are identified as eosinophilic inclusions within neurons that consist of intracytoplasmic aggregates of α -synuclein (Gibb *et al.*, 1988). Lewy bodies usually present as rounded aggregates with an eosinophilic core surrounded by a pale halo (Gwinn-Hardy, 2002; Whitton, 2007). Lewy bodies are commonly observed in the brain regions demonstrating the most neuronal loss in PD, these include the SNc, the locus coeruleus, the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus, and the nucleus basalis of Meynert, but they are also found in the neocortex, diencephalons, spinal cord and peripheral autonomic ganglia (Gibb *et al.*, 1988; Gibb *et al.*, 1991). Lewy bodies are also encountered in the normal ageing brain; they are also present in the brains of patients suffering from other neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease and dementia (Goedert, 2001). Whether Lewy bodies are symptomatic or causative in PD is not clear (Whitton, 2007).

In PD, the DA neurons die and thus lose their nerve terminals in the basal ganglia, mainly the striatum (Gelb *et al.*, 1999). The reason behind the death of these neurons is still not completely understood, although some aetiopathogenic processes are suspected to stimulate or bring about PD, these include; oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, proteasome dysfunction and protein aggregation, all of which can lead to nigrostriatal cell dysfunction and death (Dawson *et al.*, 2003). Regardless of the cause, one very important feature of PD is that the only affected cells are the DA neurons in the SNc, while other neighboring DA neurons are unaffected (Greene *et al.*, 2005).

1.8.3 Molecular pathology

There is evidence that genetic factors can play a role in the pathogenesis of PD. In large families with early onset or juvenile PD, the disease is transmitted as an autosomal dominant or recessive trait resulting from mutations in the genes encoding various proteins (Zigmond, 2002). Although the majority of PD cases cannot be directly linked to a definite causative factor, familial PD has been linked with mutations in several genes such as parkin, ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1 and α -synuclein (Gwinn-Hardy, 2002).

1.9 Causative factors

The aetiology of PD is still unknown, and most cases are sporadic, the cause of the disease is believed to be a result of a complex mix of environmental factors acting on genetically predisposed individuals with aging (Riess *et al.*, 1999). Many theories have been proposed to explain the reason for the neuronal degeneration that takes place in PD, these include genetic factors, mitochondrial dysfunction, free radical mediated cell death, apoptosis, oxidative stress and neuroinflammation (Whitton, 2007).

1.9.1 Internal predisposing factors

PD may occur as a result of internal factors that may lead to the generation of endogenous toxins, these endogenous chemicals contain the methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) moiety and are substrates for mono amino oxidase type B (MAO B; Schapira *et al.*, 1998), examples of these are some tetrahydroisoquinolines and β -carbolines, these chemicals show neurotoxicity, and inhibit mitochondrial complex I, which then will lead to disruption in cell respiration and eventually cell death. Reduced activity of complex I has been demonstrated consistently in patients with PD (Schapira *et al.*, 1990; Schapira *et al.*, 1998). The normal metabolism of DA via MAO B in the brain may also lead to the production of compounds like HVA and
DOPAC. Neuromelanin can also be produced as a result DA auto-oxidation. All of these products may induce oxidative stress through the generation of free radicals and other reactive oxygen species (Jenner *et al.*, 1992). MAO B has been demonstrated to increase its activity with increased age (Shih, 1979), so this could partly explain why PD is common in the elderly, as more MAO B leads to higher levels of DA metabolites and thus might produce a higher toxic load in the brain or possibly impair the brain's defense mechanisms for dealing with the toxic metabolites generated from normal metabolism (Jenner *et al.*, 1992).

Other factors that suggest the implication of oxidative stress in nigral cell death are: decreased levels of reduced glutathione enzyme (Perry *et al.*, 1986; Sofic *et al.*, 1992), an increase in the levels of iron (Dexter *et al.*, 1991), alteration in the functions of the mitochondria (Schapira *et al.*, 1990), and an increased level of lipid peroxidation (Dexter *et al.*, 1994; Jenner *et al.*, 1992).

Two other linked endogenous factors that can lead to PD are neuroinflammation and the immune response; these can be either activated through an external exposure or possibly stimulated endogenously. It is becoming more and more apparent that neuro inflammation does play an important role in the aetiology of PD especially in association with the microglia which highly populate the SNc (McGeer et al., 1988; McGeer et al., 2001). Some studies have reported inflammation and increased microglial activation in PD patients and in animal models of the disease (Czlonkowska et al., 2002; McGeer et al., 2004). It has also been noted that the inflammation resulting from neuronal damage and aggregated proteins in the striatum and the SNc could exacerbate the course of the disease or be a causative factor (Czlonkowska et al., 2002). Activated microglia have also been reported in the SNc of PD sufferers, and the fact that anti-inflammatory agents can inhibit DA cell death in animal models of PD supports the role of inflammation in the disease (Bonifati et al., 2007). However, the implication of the immune response in PD was considered when antibodies to DA neurons were found in the cerebrospinal fluid of PD patients (McRae-Degueurce et al., 1988). And thus it was speculated that immune

mechanisms do play a role in initiating or maybe even amplifying a cascade of neuronal injury. This was demonstrated when IgG isolated from the serum of patients with PD caused damage to DA neurons in the SNc of rats *in vivo* (Chen *et al.*, 1998). Another factor to be considered in the aetiology of the disease is the existence of a genetic vulnerability that could lead to either irregular metabolism of endogenous molecules in the brain or the inability of these enzymes to function properly rendering them less effective in detoxifying exogenous compounds that in normal conditions would be harmless (Jenner *et al.*, 1992).

1.9.2 External (Environmental)

PD has been considered an idiopathic disorder ever since James Parkinson first described it in the early nineteenth century. It was first realized that PD can be produced from external or environmental factors when an acute intravenous dose of the compound MPTP caused parkinsonism in a group of drug users in 1983. This incident suggested for the first time that environmental factors could be a major contributor to the aetiology of the disease (Langston *et al.*, 1983). MPTP leads to neuronal cell injury in the SNc through its toxic metabolite 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium+ (MPP+) which causes oxidative stress through inhibiting mitochondrial complex I (Langston *et al.*, 1983)

Pesticides are believed to play a role in causing PD, some of these include pyridinium (paraquat), dithiocarbamate (maneb), complex inhibitor rotenone and organochlorine (dieldrin) (Liu *et al.*, 2003). All of these molecules lead to DA depletion when animals are systemically exposed to them, and most of them cause a decline in the number of TH positive neurons in the SNc (Liu *et al.*, 2003). The damage to the nigrostriatal system brought about by these molecules could be due to their ability to activate the abundant microglial cells in the SNc (McGeer *et al.*, 2001).

1.10 Risk factors

Environmental factors such as organic insecticides, herbicides, fungicides and exposure to metals as well as neuroinflammation may pose as potential risk factors in PD (Di Monte, 2003; Gao *et al.*, 2003). Also, there was an association in some prevalence studies between severe head injury and PD (Plassman *et al.*, 2000) although other studies failed to establish this correlation between head injury and the later development of PD (Williams, 1991). Although infections caused by microorganisms have been suspected to be risk factors for PD (Ghaemi *et al.*, 2000), epidemiologic studies on the relationship between the infections occurring early in life and PD were inconclusive (Logroscino, 2005). Other suggested risk factors for PD, where a premorbid personality dominates (Paulson *et al.*, 1991), and the place of birth as a risk factor in PD (Betemps *et al.*, 1993). Interestingly, the risk of PD is lower in coffee drinkers, and people who smoke also appear to have a decreased risk for the disease (Hernan *et al.*, 2002; Veldman *et al.*, 1998).

1.10.1 Current treatments

PD is a progressive chronic disorder that requires broad-based management which includes patient and family education, the services of support groups, exercise and good nutrition. To this day, there is still no cure for PD, but medications and, in some cases, surgery can provide some relief from the symptoms (Aminoff, 1994; Leung *et al.*, 2005).

The selection of the medication and its dosage is tailored to each individual, where the physician takes into consideration factors such as symptom severity, age, and the presence of other illnesses and the use of other medications. No two people respond equally to a particular drug or dosage level, so this process involves experimentation, persistence, and patience (Leung *et al.*, 2005).

As the disease is progressive, drug dosages may have to be modified and medication regimens changed, and sometimes there is a need for a combination of drugs.

1.10.2 Medications / Drugs used in PD

1.10.2.1 L-Dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA)

L-DOPA was the first effective treatment to be used in PD, and is still the mainstay of PD drug therapy. Unfortunately though, 30-50% of patients receiving L-DOPA treatment will suffer from unpleasant and potentially disabling drug induced involuntary movements, this usually happens after 2 to 5 years of using treatment (Poewe *et al.*, 1986; Schrag *et al.*, 2000). After L-DOPA is administered it is distributed in the body and in the brain, it is then metabolized to DA by aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase enzyme (AADC), which is located in both the brain and the periphery (Shen *et al.*, 2003).

1.10.2.2 DOPA Decarboxylase (DDC) inhibitors

Carbidopa is the most well known inhibitor of DDC, and when given in combination with L-DOPA it decreases the peripheral break down of L-DOPA thus leads to more drug reaching the brain. Carbidopa cannot be given alone as it has no pharmacological action in PD, so its purpose is to increase L-DOPA reaching the brain (Aminoff, 1994). Also, by inhibiting DA formation peripherally, DDC inhibitors reduce DA related side effects in the periphery. Other DDC inhibitors include benserazide (Aminoff, 1994; Shen et al., 2003).

1.10.2.3 DA agonists

DA agonists mimic the function of DA in the brain and are used primarily as adjuncts to L-DOPA/carbidopa therapy. These DA agonists can be used as monotherapy but are generally less effective in controlling symptoms. Examples of these include: bromocriptine, pergolide, pramipexole and ropinirole (Goetz *et al.*, 2005).

1.10.2.4 Amantadine

Amantadine is an antiviral drug which has DA agonist properties. It increases the release of DA and is often used to treat the early stages of PD alone, with an anticholinergic drug or with L-DOPA. Unfortunately, it generally ceases to be effective within 3 to 4 months (Thomas *et al.*, 2004).

1.10.2.5 MAO-B inhibitors

MAO-B Inhibitors work through inhibiting the oxidation of DA by monoamine oxidase B and thus prolonging its availability. One example is selegiline (Carbex®) which inhibits MAO-B and consequently increases the amount of available DA in the brain. MAO-B inhibitors act synergistically with L-DOPA (Goetz *et al.*, 2005).

1.10.2.6 Anticholinergics

Anticholinergics act by reducing the relative over activity of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine to balance the diminished activity of DA. This class of drugs is most effective in the control of tremor, and they are used as adjuncts to L-DOPA. Examples of these include: benztropine mesylate, biperiden, diphenhydramine and trihyxyphenidyl (Rao et al., 2006).

1.10.2.7 Catechol-O-methyl transferase (COMT) inhibitors

COMT Inhibitors are a class of PD medications that work by inhibiting the COMT enzyme which metabolizes L-DOPA before it reaches the brain. Inhibiting COMT increases the amount of L-DOPA that enters the brain. These drugs are only effective when used with L-DOPA. Examples of these include: entacapone and tolcapone (Deane *et al.*, 2004; Rao *et al.*, 2006).

1.10.3 Surgery

Treating PD surgically was once a common practice. But after the discovery of L-DOPA, surgery was restricted to only a few cases. In the past few decades studies have led to great improvements in surgical techniques, and surgery is again being used in advanced cases of PD where drug therapy is no longer sufficient. Deep brain stimulation is presently the most common surgical procedure used for treatment. Surgery may also be used to implant a drug delivery device, and even to inject stem cells.

1.10.3.1 Deep brain stimulation

A brain implant device is now most commonly used for deep brain stimulation, this implant helps to control many of the PD symptoms. The implant consists of a pacemaker-like unit which is implanted in the chest wall; this transmits electric impulses through a wire to very small electrodes inserted deep within the brain. Deep brain stimulation allows a focal specific electrical stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in the basal ganglia, this targeted brain center controls many parts of motor function (Kaelin-Lang *et al.*, 2007; Koller *et al.*, 1999). Deep brain stimulation can be effective in improving dyskinesia, bradykinesia, tremor and rigidity and drug treatments can be reduced. Its effectiveness on long term quality of life however has still not been established. Unfortunately, while deep brain stimulation is effective in improving the motor symptoms of PD, it is not helpful at all in patients with severe cognitive, psychiatric and axial symptoms, and any surgery carried out on these patients may even worsen their condition (Kaelin-Lang *et al.*, 2007).

1.10.3.2 Implants

Many strategies have been developed for drug delivery into the CNS, one of these is through the use of implantable polymeric devices for locally controlled drug release. These have evolved from macroscopic implants needing open surgery, into poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres which are safe and biocompatible with brain tissue, can be easily implanted stereotaxically in exact functional areas of the brain without causing damage to the surrounding tissue (Menei *et al.*, 2005), and some of these implants can be used for DA release into the striatum (Winn *et al.*, 1989). Other drug delivery strategies include a localized infusion of a drug using mini-osmotic pumps which allows a greater degree of controlling dosage. Another method for drug delivery is through the transplantation of cell accommodating non-biodegradable devices. The cells inside these devices can synthesize and release deficient neurotransmitter DA providing a sustained drug delivery (Popovic *et al.*, 2006; Xue *et al.*, 2001).

1.10.3.3 Stem cell therapy

Researchers have been developing stem-cell transplantation for the treatment of many diseases, neurodegenerative disorders such as PD have been candidates for this kind of treatment (Love, 2002). The idea behind cell replacement therapy is to restore the loss in synaptic signaling brought about by neuronal degeneration (Isacson, 2002).

Stem cells were useful as a potential source for cell replacement therapy because they can indefinitely proliferate *in vitro* without differentiating, and also remain capable of this differentiation into most cell types if the proper conditions become present (Bjorklund *et al.*, 2002; Brustle *et al.*, 1999; Kim *et al.*, 2006). Central nervous system (CNS) stem cells have trilineage ability, i.e. they have the ability to generate neurons, oligodendrocytes, and astrocytes (Kalyani *et al.*, 1998), depending on the surrounding host environment. It has been reported that embryonic stem cells can efficiently differentiate into neural precursor cells and then into DA producing neurons with the use of optimal culture conditions and/or some genetic manipulation (Kim *et al.*, 2002). Also, mouse embryonic stem cells have been witnessed to develop into functional DA neurons when transplanted into the damaged host rat striatum, this could lead to the restoration of cerebral function and behaviour in animal models of PD (Bjorklund *et al.*, 2002).

PD patients have also demonstrated improved symptoms and a significant reduction in L-DOPA therapy when they had fetal ventral mesencephalic neurons transplanted into their caudate/putamen and striatum (Lindvall, 1991; Sonntag *et al.*, 2007). The current major problems however when using fetal tissue are the ethical concerns that arise, as well as its impracticality due to the requirement of having tissue from many fetuses because of the low survival of neurons after grafting (Isacson, 2002).

1.10.3.4 Neurotrophic factors

Neurotrophic factors are proteins that activate cell signaling pathways regulating neuronal survival, differentiation, growth and regeneration (Patel et al., 2007). One very important neuroprotective agent is glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF). This factor induces the injured DA nigrostriatal system to recover, this recovery is reflected in the improved motor function of both rodent and primate animal models of PD (Burke et al., 1998; Gash et al., 1998). Only hours after the administration of GDNF, neuroprotective changes in DA neurons are observed, i.e. after the adult midbrain DA neurons are stimulated by GDNF, they increase in their size (increased fiber density and size of the neurons in SNc) and quantal size (the amount of DA released per synaptic vesicle exocytic event), and both their neurite extent and phenotypic marker expression also increase (Gash et al., 1996; Pothos et al., 1998). These changes could explain the improvements observed in the major PD symptom in non-human primates (Grondin et al., 2002). Unfortunately, GDNF does not cross the blood brain barrier and thus has to be administered intracerebrally. Nevertheless it appears to be effective when administered via intraventricular, intrastriatal and intranigral routes in rodents and non-human primates (Gash et al., 1998). Many studies have been carried out to establish the effectiveness of GDNF, and while some studies showed that GDNF was ineffective in improving motor symptoms in PD accompanied by many side effects upon administration (Nutt et al., 2003), other studies proved GDNF to successfully improve motor symptoms in PD (Gill et al., 2002). The neuroprotective and even neurorestorative features of GDNF observed in preclinical studies indicate the important role trophic factors may play in the treatment of PD (Gash et al., 1998). This led to some controlled clinical studies using GDNF (Fahn et al., 2004).

GDNF was infused into PD patients in some recent studies. One study using bilateral infusion of GDNF into the putamen did not confer the predetermined level of clinical benefits to PD patients (Lang *et al.*, 2006), another more recent study using unilateral intaputamenal infusion concluded that GDNF administration resulted in significant

sustained bilateral benefits in PD patients, but these improvements were lost within 9 months of drug withdrawal (Slevin *et al.*, 2007).

More clinical trials are needed to achieve a decision on the feasibility of employing GDNF infusions as a treatment for PD. Many related compounds to GDNF are currently being examined for their efficacy through the use of alternative delivery methods like implantation of capsules, engineered cells and viral vectors (Savitt *et al.*, 2006).

Unfortunately, to this day there is still no cure or a fully comprehensive long lasting treatment for PD. All the treatments for PD which have been discussed are faced with many limitations which range from inadequate efficacy for long term treatment to high incidence of side effects that could become at times more debilitating than the disease itself. Other more invasive treatments which incorporate surgical procedures have the problem of being financially not viable for the whole population. These procedures also suffer from limited efficacy and with the potential high risks that are involved in this type of surgery.

1.11 Models of PD

To better understand the disease many models that mimic PD in their aetiology, pathogenesis and morphology have been developed. The response of these models to a particular treatment may take it one step closer to clinical use while other experimental treatments can be dismissed. Models that mimic PD can be divided into two main categories, *in situ* and *in vivo*. The most common of these are perhaps the *in vivo* animal models of the disease (Shimohama *et al.*, 2003).

1.11.1 In situ

Many different cell types are used to mimic PD in situ; two very common cells used are the pheochromocytoma cells (PC12) and SHY5Y cells. Both of these DA-neuronderived cell lines express TH and contain DA transporter (DAT), which are features of DA neuronal phenotype (Biswas *et al.*, 2005; Deng *et al.*, 2005). Nevertheless these cells have highly variable properties and it is important to verify that every batch possess the DA features. Also, these cells do not share all molecular traits of nigrostriatal DA neurons which may be essential for their susceptibility to PD (Chesselet *et al.*, 2005). Primary mesencephalic cultures from fetal or newborn rats or mice could also be useful, but again these cells are highly heterogeneous and usually contain neurons from both the SNc and ventral tegmental area as well as many other non-DA neurons (Chesselet *et al.*, 2005). Nevertheless these different cell lines are very valuable in studying detailed mechanisms of the degeneration of DA neurons and also for screening molecules with apparent pharmacological potential (Kitamura *et al.*, 1998; Sawada *et al.*, 1996).

To generate models of PD, these different cells are exposed to toxins which show selectivity for DA neurons *in vivo* e.g. 6-OHDA, MPP+ or rotenone (Testa *et al.*, 2005). One example indicating the significance of these *in vitro* models of PD was the identification of protective role growth factors played in PD, especially GDNF and some other related molecules, which have led to clinical trials (Shimohama *et al.*, 2003; Wu *et al.*, 2005a). It is also possible to use cell lines to investigate mutations that lead to PD, either through transfecting the cells with the defective gene, or deriving primary cultures from mice expressing this mutation (Chesselet *et al.*, 2005; Peng *et al.*, 2005). Although these models have contributed considerably to better understanding the disease and to the development of agents for the treatment of PD, they are still limited by the vague relationship of the toxin-induced mechanisms to the pathophysiology of PD (Chesselet *et al.*, 2005)

1.11.2 In vivo

Many animal models have been used to mimic PD; these usually involve the use of either rodents or primates that are given some external manipulation or insult in order

for them to develop PD-like pathology. The external manipulations could be via exposing the animals to a toxin or through genetic engineering; in both cases the animals will develop PD-like effects with different characteristics, such as the time it takes to develop the model, severity and causative mechanisms. Because of the ability of these animal models to reproduce some key features of PD they are crucial for better understanding the aetiology of the disease and are useful for testing emerging new therapies.

Unfortunately these models are not without flaws, as they do not mimic the cause of human PD or the progressive neurodegeneration. Furthermore, as expected, the higher the animals in the developmental tree the closer they are to mimicking the disease in humans, and because of the strong similarity to the human brain in comparison to brains of other species, non-human primate models are considered to be the step before trial of new therapy in humans (Lane *et al.*, 2007).

1.11.2.1 Toxin induced

1.11.2.1.1 Reservine

Reserpine interferes with the storage of monoamines in synaptic vesicles causing depletion of DA (and other catecholamines) in nerve terminals, this results in sedation, hypokinesia, rigidity and also tremor (van Zwieten *et al.*, 1966). Reserpine is used in animals to produce a model of the motor disruptions that occur in PD because of its effects on spontaneous locomotor activity (Colpaert, 1987) Reserpine is suggested to be a model with some good predictive validity (Skalisz *et al.*, 2002), especially because a number of antiparkinsonian drugs like L-DOPA, amantadine and trihexyphenidyl have led to improvement in the motor deficits caused by reserpine (Menzaghi *et al.*, 1997). Unfortunately there are no morphological changes observed in this model of PD, which may limit its prospects for use as a model for the disease (Carlsson *et al.*, 1957; Hornykiewicz, 1963).

1.11.2.1.2 6-Hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)

One of the first animal models of PD was generated through the use of 6-OHDA which was the first compound found to have sufficiently specific neurotoxic effects (Sachs et al., 1975; Ungerstedt, 1971). 6-OHDA could produce two models or possible disease scenarios. The first which is more common is via the unilateral injection of 6-OHDA into the medial forebrain bundle which, due to both anterograde and retrograde diffusion, results in substantial destruction of the nigrostriatal pathway in less than a week, and almost complete destruction within two weeks. The other less common scenario is the injection of 6-OHDA directly into the striatum. Here, due to only retrograde degeneration or destruction of the DA neurons in the SNc, the lesion is less severe and takes a longer time to develop (up to 4 weeks). This type of 6-OHDA injection is used when there is a need to mimic the slow progression of the disease (Beal, 2001; Deumens et al., 2002). 6-OHDA is too hydrophilic to cross the blood brain barrier and has to be injected directly into the brain, where it is then taken up by DA neurons via the DAT system (Perese et al., 1989). Other neurons like noradrenergic and seotonirgic neurons could also take up 6-OHDA, but the selectivity to DA neurons is achieved through the co-administration of dismethylimipramine (an inhibitor of the NA and 5-HT transporters) which prevents 6-OHDA uptake by these neurons (Perese et al., 1989; Sachs et al., 1975). 6-OHDA is a neurotoxin which exerts its neurotoxicity mainly through promoting apoptosis, but some evidence indicates that microglial activation may play a role in the toxicity produced by 6-OHDA (Blum et al., 2001; He et al., 2001). Free radical formation or covalent bonding of quinone oxidation products could also be a possible cause of the potent neurodegeneration (Langston, 1988). 6-OHDA can be used in rats, mice, cats and primates as it is an effective DA neurotoxin in all of these animals. The 6-OHDA hemiparkinsonian (unilateral lesion) rat model is especially valuable due to the ability to quantitatively measure the severity of the lesion through behavioural testing using either apomorphine or amphetamine. This has proved to be very useful in the

pharmacological screening of compounds affecting the nigrostriatal DA system (Beal, 2001; Deumens *et al.*, 2002). The continuous studies performed using the 6-OHDA animal models have helped in the development of new treatments for PD. This model has also contributed to better understanding the mechanisms hypothesized as representations of the pathological dysfunction sites at the cellular level in PD (Simola *et al.*, 2007).

1.11.2.1.3 1-methyl 4-phenyl 1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)

MPTP toxicity was first accidentally demonstrated in humans when heroin addicts consumed heroin contaminated with MPTP and consequently rapidly developed clinical symptoms similar to those of PD (Langston et al., 1999). MPTP is a neurotoxin which induces parkinsonian features in both primates and rodents through rapid and selective DA neurotoxicity (Langston et al., 1983). MPTP itself is not toxic but is very lipophilic and thus readily crosses the blood brain barrier. There it is converted by MAO-B located in glial cells to MPDP which is very unstable and autooxidizes to the toxic form MPP+. It appears that DA neurons take up MPP+ through the DA reuptake mechanism where it then resides possibly due to an interaction with neuromelanin. MPP' radical is subsequently formed and actively accumulated by mitochondria, here MPP' leads to ATP depletion through inhibiting complex I in the respiratory chain and thus initiating cell death (Gao et al., 2003; Jenner, 1989). It is also possible that there is an involvement of free radical mechanisms through a redox reaction between MPP' and MPP+ which could generate super oxide radicals (Gao et al., 2003; Jenner, 1989). Apoptosis has also been suggested to be implicated in the DA neurodegeneration following exposure to MPTP (Novikova et al., 2006).

One interesting feature in the MPTP animal model of PD is that following its administration to rodents or monkeys the biochemical and cellular changes are quite similar to those observed in idiopathic PD such as the loss of DA neurons in the SNc and the appearance of α -synuclein-immunoreactive cytoplasmic inclusions (Bohlen *et al.*, 2005).

1.11.2.1.4 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

LPS is an endotoxin produced by gram-negative bacteria. LPS is a potent microglial cell activator and is an effective initiator of DA neuronal loss in the SNc. This leads to parkinsonian like symptoms in experimental animals treated with LPS (Herrera *et al.*, 2000). LPS is a potent stimulant of neuroinflammation which exerts its actions through binding an LPS membrane receptor complex on microglial cells which lead to the activation and nuclear localization of the transcription factor NFxB and successive activation of pro-inflammatory pathway genes (Liu *et al.*, 2000; Orr *et al.*, 2002).

This inflammatory neurodegeneration seems to be specific to the SNc, as the injection of LPS in other regions such as the hippocampus or cortex does not lead to this degeneration. This is probably due to the high activation and high population of microglia in the SNc. Indeed, activated microglia appear to be up to 8 times more abundant in the SNc than they are in any other region of the brain (Kim *et al.*, 2000)

1.11.2.1.5 Rotenone

Rotenone is a pesticide that is extracted from certain plant roots and when it is systemically and chronically administered to rats, they seem to develop many features of PD such as degeneration of the DA neurons in the SNc and the appearance of cytoplasmic inclusions reminiscent of Lewy bodies, which stain with antibodies for ubiquitin and α -synuclein (Betarbet *et al.*, 2000). It has been established that rotenone is a high-affinity specific inhibitor of mitochondrial complex I (Betarbet *et al.*, 2000). Besides being a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor, rotenone is also suggested to cause neuronal degradation through stimulating the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and causing protein carbonylation. It could also decrease the abundance of the antioxidant glutathione, all of which may lead to apoptosis of DA neurons. It has been suggested that rotenone may increase DA redistribution from the vesicles into the cytosol and this could in turn render DA prone to quinone formation (Watabe *et al.*, 2000).

2007). Rats treated with rotenone through chronic systemic exposure from a subcutaneously implanted osmotic pump show symptoms similar to those of human PD, including bradykinesia, postural instability, unsteady gait and some evidence of tremor. These symptoms improved when the DA agonist apomorphine was administered to the rotenone treated rats. This parkinsonian pathology is, however, limited to the Lewis rat strain (Sherer *et al.*, 2003).

1.11.2.1.6 Methamphetamine

Methamphetamine is a psychostimulatory drug that is highly addictive; it has a powerful DA releasing mechanism. When given at very high doses methamphetamine causes neurotoxicity in both rodents and primates (Wagner *et al.*, 1980). It is similar to reserpine in that it does not induce any morphological changes in the SNc and does not lead to loss of nigral cell bodies (Fibiger *et al.*, 1971). Methamphetamine is a DA toxin which enters the neuronal terminals through binding to the DAT or the serotonin transporter SERT, causing the displacement of vesicular and intracellular DA and 5-HT which are subsequently oxidized to ROS via MAO in addition to autoxidation which eventually leads to necrosis (Cubells *et al.*, 1994). Methamphetamine also causes DA redistribution from vesicles to the cytosol like rotenone (Lotharius *et al.*, 2005). There is also a relationship between apoptosis and methamphetamine induced neurotoxicity and this is more recognized on more chronic exposure to the compound (Davidson *et al.*, 2001; Iwasa *et al.*, 1996).

1.11.2.2 Genetically engineered animals

Toxin induced animal models have been important in the understanding of PD as well as in the development of many symptomatic treatments for the disease, yet they all tend to focus on degeneration of the nigrostriatal pathway, and thus are limited in not having the ability to reproduce the full pathology and progression demonstrated in PD. The recent discovery of specific genes that are involved in the familial form of the disease led to the development of novel genetic mouse models of PD like the α -synuclein over expressor mouse, the Parkin knockout mouse and the DJ-1 knockout mouse. These mice will develop specific pathological traits as a result of the induced mutation (Fleming *et al.*, 2005). Although the most popular genetically engineered animals are mice, other animal species have been used to develop mutations, such as the Drosophila fly where researchers were able to express mutant and normal forms of α -synuclein (Feany *et al.*, 2000).

The table below summerises and compares the most commonly used animal models of PD (table1.2).

Model	PD symptoms	PD pathology	Advantages	Disadvantages
6-OHDA	Motor Impairments after bilateral lesion Easily quantifiable turning behavior after unilateral lesion	Reduced DA levels in the striatum Massive loss of dopamine neurons No Intracellular aggregates	Works in mice, rats, and monkeys Well characterized Used in dyskinesia models	Does not pass the blood-brain- barrier (needs intracerebral injection, which increases variability) Fast, massive neurodegeneration Poor construct validity
МРТР	Motor impairments	Reduced DA levels in the striatum Massive loss of dopamine neurons With chronic administration, formation of aggregates with little LB resemblance	Lipophilic Systemic administration Works mainly in mice Well characterized Good construct validity	Highly toxic to humans (dangerous to administer) Reduced reliability
Reserpine	Motor impairments	Reduced catecholamines levels in the striatum Loss of dopamine neurons in the SN No aggregate formation	Systemic administration	Transient non- specific depletion of catecholamines. Hypothermia
LPS	Motor impairments after bilateral lesion Easily quantifiable turning behavior after unilateral lesion	Reduced DA levels in the striatum Massive loss of dopamine neurons. Some changes in α-synuclein observed.	Distinct neuro- Inflammatory damage through activating microglia in SNc.	Needs intracerebral injection, which increases variability, damage limited to inflammatory causes.
Methamphetamine	No clear parkinsonian symptoms	At very high doses leads to loss of TH in the striatum, possible loss of DA cells in the SNc	Screening of antioxidant therapies for their DA cell protective effects	Acute, limited histopathological changes

Rotenone	Motor impairments	Reduced DA levels in the striatum Massive loss of dopamine neurons inclusions reminiscent to Lewy bodies	Systemic administration Works only In rats with variable susceptability	Toxic for the whole organism Low construct validity
Dj-1 KO, Pink1 KO, Parkin KO	Little motor impairment	Only slight DA pathology	Good construct validity	Slight DA pathology. Expensive and time consuming.
a-Synuclein wild- type and A53T, A30P overexpression	Little motor impairment	Little DA pathology Intracellular aggregates with little Lewy body resemblance	Good construct validity	Slight DA pathology. Expensive and time consuming

Table 1.2 Examples of some of the most commonly used animal models of PD.Adapted from (Betarbet et al., 2002; Lane et al., 2007; Terzioglu et al., 2008)

1.12 Current experimental compounds for the treatment of PD

As there is still no cure for PD, the medicines available are symptomatic and due to the progressive nature of the disease, drug dosages need to be increased and different drugs may need to given in combination until eventually they will not have any effect as the nigrostriatal pathway will eventually completely degenerate. For this reason researchers are looking for treatments that would prevent the progression of the disease and would protect the remaining neurons from degradation. To achieve this, many approaches have been used, most of which were based on the uncovered mechanisms implicated in PD to attempt to stop or modify the state of the disease. Many neuroprotective agents have been investigated and are still being assessed for their disease modifying actions in PD. These alleged neuroprotective agents include pro-mitochondrial molecules like Ginko biloba, while others are supposed antiexcitotoxic agents such as NMDA antagonists. Also anti oxidants were thought to have protective action, including radical scavengers (vitamin C, E) and GSH enhancers. Many antiapoptotics were also investigated for their disease modifying abilities; examples include cyclosporine and caspase inhibitors. Finally, and due to the recent implication of neuroinflammation in the aetiology of PD (McGeer et al., 2001), anti-inflammatory agents have been investigated for their protective actions against the further degeneration of neurons; compounds investigated have included

steroids, COX 2 inhibitors, minocycline, and, more recently, urocortin (UCN) (Schapira, 2005).

1.13 Urocortin (UCN)

1.13.1 Background

UCN is a 40 amino acid peptide that was originally discovered in the midbrain of the rat. It is a member of the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) neuropeptide family. The amino acid sequence of human urocortin is 43% identical to that of CRF (Takahashi *et al.*, 2004), while cloned rat UCN is 45% identical to CRF (Vaughan *et al.*, 1995).

In 1996, Donaldson et al. mapped the UCN gene to chromosome 2 by Southern blot analysis of human/rodent somatic cell hybrids (Donaldson *et al.*, 1996). In 2002, Delplanque et al. used radiation hybrid analysis to map the UCN gene to chromosome 2p23-p21 (Delplanque *et al.*, 2002).

Urocortins are distributed in a distinct pattern, both in the brain and the gastrointestinal tract. Human UCN is expressed in both the CNS and the periphery, it is found in the placenta, fetal membranes, pituitary, brain, gastrointestinal tract, ovaries, synovial tissue, and lymphocytes (Latchman, 2002).

Generally there is minimum overlapping in the distribution of UCN and CRF in the brain, this suggests different functional roles of the two peptides (Skelton *et al.*, 2000).

Although researchers had agreed that UCN expression is most prominent in the Edinger-Westphal nucleus and the latteral superior olive (Skelton *et al.*, 2000), more recently it has been suggested that UCN is produced by midbrain sympathetic neurons adjacent to the Edinger-Westphal nucleus (Pan *et al.*, 2008). Here, UCN production is believed to be involved in mediating stress through the sympathetic

nervous system (De Fanti *et al.*, 2002). Additionally, while UCN has been observed to have low basal levels, it appears to undergo rapid induction (Pan *et al.*, 2008). It was observed that UCN production in the GI tract correlates with severity of inflammation in patients suffering from ulcerative colitis (Saruta *et al.*, 2004). Also, UCN levels were higher in the gastric mucosa of people with active H.pylori gastritis, indicating a relationship with inflammation (Chatzaki *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, in addition to its expression in the thymus and spleen, human UCN is also produced by lymphocytes, again indicating a role in inflammatory immune responses (Pan *et al.*, 2008). UCN central administration has been shown to interfere with immune system reactions, leading to decreased proliferative response of splenic lymphocytes to mitogen (Okamoto *et al.*, 1998).

In the SNc and ventral tegmental nucleus, UCN immunoreactivity has been located exclusively to neurons which co-express tyrosine hydroxylase, suggesting that within these regions, UCN is co-localized with DA (Yamamoto *et al.*, 1998). Interestingly, the female hormone estrogen exerts a direct and differential transcriptional regulation of the UCN gene (Haeger *et al.*, 2006), suggesting the possible involvement of UCN in the reduced incidence of PD in women.

1.13.2Corticotropin-Releasing Factor (CRF)

CRF is a 41-amino acid peptide which is secreted in response to stress by the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. After its release into the primary capillary plexus of the hypothalamo-hypophyseal portal system, CRF is carried by the portal system to the anterior lobe of the pituitary, where it stimulates the secretion of corticotropin and other biologically-active substances, such as β -endorphin (Hauger et al., 2006). CRF binds to the corticotropin releasing factor receptors (CRF-R). These G protein coupled receptors are classified as CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 (Hauger et al., 2006).

CRF plays a key role in mediating stress in the central nervous system. CRF also participates in inducing various changes such as stimulation of the pituitary-adrenal axis, autonomic nervous system, immune system, behaviour, and mood (Takahashi, 2001).

It has been shown that brain CRF plays a role in neuropsychiatric, neurodegenerative, metabolic, and feeding disorders (Lovenberg *et al.*, 1995b; Nemeroff *et al.*, 1988).

The excessive activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and consequent hypersecretion of glucocorticoids may underlie a number of conditions, including depression, certain anxiety disorders and anorexia nervosa (Arborelius et al., 1999). Also, it has been observed that decreased CRF signaling may play a role in motor disorders related to the basal ganglia (Heuser et al., 1991), as well as in olivopontocerebellar atrophy and spinocerebellar degeneration (De Souza, 1995). It has also been noted that there is a trend for CRF to decrease in the striatum as a consequence of aging (De Souza, 1995). This shortage in brain CRF may lead to dementia associated with neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer'sdisease (De Souza, 1990). Whitehouse et al. also observed changes in CRF concentrations in PD cases (Whitehouse et al., 1987), a phenomenon that was also confirmed when deficits in brain CRF were apparent in neurodegenerative disorders, including PD (De Souza, 1995).

Apart from its obvious physiological roles in mediating stress responses, CRF also possesses neuroprotective properties. Many studies have suggested that CRF is able to elicit CRF-R1 mediated neuroprotection (Bayatti *et al.*, 2003; Facci *et al.*, 2003; Lezoualc'h *et al.*, 2000; Pedersen *et al.*, 2002). After binding to the CRF-R1 receptor, CRF can activate a series of intracellular signalling pathways which leads to the production of protective factors, including induction of the expression of neurotrophic factors. CRF can also trigger a CRF-R1 mediated-inhibition of other intracellular pathways that may be potentially toxic and lead to apoptosis (Bayatti *et al.*, 2005).

1.13.3 The UCN family

The urocortins are a family of three related peptides belonging to the CRF family; urocortin (UCN) is known as urocortin I to distinguish it from the two further isoforms; urocortin II (UCNII) and urocortin III (UCNIII), which are identified in humans. UCN binds with high affinity to both CRF type 1 (CRF-R1) and type 2 (CRF-R2) receptors but with a much higher affinity to CRF-R2, infact it has been posulated that UCN is the endogenous ligand for CRF-R2 receptors (Parkes *et al.*, 2001). UCN 2 and UCN 3 however are are selective CRF-R2 ligands (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2004). The CRF-R2 receptor is further divided into 2 isotypes (α and β) in rodents and 3 isotypes (α , β , and γ) in humans (Takahashi, 2001). Whilst UCN is non selective and binds both CRF-R1 and CRF-R2, what determines which receptor is involved in mediating its effects could be the relative abundance of the receptor type at the site of action (Pedersen *et al.*, 2002).

1.13.4 Function

Urocortin has many functions in the body, which to date have mainly been described in the cardiovascular system and the nervous system. In the cardiovascular system UCN appears to increase cardiac contractility, decrease blood pressure and also confers cardiac protection. UCN is also functionally active in the nervous system where it elicits many effects such as reducing appetite, increasing activity and raising anxiety levels. Figure 1.13.1 illustrates these effects (Latchman, 2002).



Figure 1.13.1 Diagram illustrating the role of UCN in the nervous and cardiovascular systems.

Words in capitals represent the effects where urocortin is more potent than CRF. Adapted from (Latchman, 2002).

As UCN is a CRF agonist, it would also lead to similar effects to those observed following stimulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which plays an important role in controlling reactions to stress. Stimulating the HPA axis also regulates many physiological processes including digestion, the immune system, mood and emotions, sexuality and energy storage and expenditure (Engelmann *et al.*, 2004). Because of its similarity to CRF, UCN is capable of producing behavioral and physiological effects that are similar to CRF. However, although these effects are qualitatively similar, they seem to be quantitatively different, whereby UCN appears to be more potent in suppressing food and water intake and less potent in inducing anxiogenic behavior than CRF (Skelton *et al.*, 2000). Even though UCN is more potent than CRF in releasing ACTH from the pituitary, CRF is the predominant physiological mediator of the activity of the HPA axis (Turnbull *et al.*, 1999).

Also, while CRF is expressed widely in neurons in the brain, UCN seems to have a more restricted expression pattern (Morin *et al.*, 1999). This may account for some of the differences between the effects which are mediated by these peptides.

1.13.5 CRF receptors

As mentioned before, CRF receptors (CRF-R) are mainly classified as CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 (Hauger *et al.*, 2006). The CRF-R1 receptor is a seven transmembrane spanning Gs-protein coupled receptor which is localized primarily to cortical and cerebellar regions in the brain. The CRF-R2 receptor, which is 70% identical to CRF-R1 is also coupled to Gs-protein. This CRF-R2 exists as three splice variants, CRF-R2a is mainly found in the brain, where it is localized to subcortical regions including the lateral septum, paraventricular and ventromedial nuclei of the hypothalamus and the olfactory bulb (Lovenberg *et al.*, 1995a). The CRF-R2 β however, is more abundant in the non-neuronal parts of the brain to cerebral arterioles and choroid plexus (Lovenberg *et al.*, 1995a; McCarthy *et al.*, 1999). The CRF2 γ receptor was also later identified in the amygdale, hippocampus and septum of the human brain (Kostich *et al.*, 1998; McCarthy *et al.*, 1999).

Because overlap of the CRF-R1 and the CRF-R2 isoforms is limited it is most likely that these possess distinct functional roles (Skelton *et al.*, 2000). For example, activation of the CRF-R1 in dispersed rat and human adrenal chromaffin cells induces catecholamine secretion, while activation of the CRF-R2 suppresses catecholamine secretion (Dermitzaki *et al.*, 2007).

CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 receptors are mainly postsynaptic (Rominger et al., 1998).

In the brain, the anxiogenic effect of UCN is mediated through the CRF-R1 receptor only (Swiergiel *et al.*, 1999), while activation of the CRF-R2 receptor mediates an anxiolytic effect that apposes anxiogenic functions of CRF-R1 receptors. Because of this, CRF-R2 activation is thought to mediate stress-coping responses (Kishimoto *et al.*, 2000; Liebsch *et al.*, 1999).

1.13.5.1 CRF-R signalling

CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 are highly homologous, and both these receptor subtypes couple to the same Ga protein and consequently signal through similar second messengers (Hauger *et al.*, 2006). These seven-transmembrane domain receptors are linked to AC through Gs protein activation; the activation of AC leads to the production of cAMP which causes PKA activation, this mechanism is responsible for most CRF-R mediated events including corticotrope secretion of ACTH (De Souza, 1995).

Stimulation of CRF-R also activates the phospholipase C-protein kinase C (PLC-PKC) pathway which is possibly achieved through coupling to Gqa. The activation of this pathway eventually leads to nuclear factor-kappaB (NF- κ B) activation which ultimately leads to upregulation of gene expression (Hauger *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, it has been observed that CRF-R1 association to Gq is through activated PKA. Once activated, PKA inhibits association of CRF-R1 to Gq leading to inhibition of the PLC-PKC pathway (Nemoto *et al.*, 2005). CRF-R signalling through the PLC-PKC pathway is, until now, still not completely understood (Hauger *et al.*, 2006).

CRF-R signalling is also mediated by the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-MAP kinase cascade. This signalling pathway is activated through activation of either the PKA or the PKC pathway. In CRF-R1 receptors, activation of the PKA pathway mediates MAP kinase signalling. However, CRF-R2 receptors appear to activate this pathway through PKC activation (Rossant *et al.*, 1999). Activation of the (ERK)-MAP kinase pathway will eventually activate transcription factors which control gene expression, with an overall outcome of regulation of synaptic plasticity, cell motility, chemotaxis, and apoptosis (Lefkowitz *et al.*, 2005; Sweatt, 2004). Stimulation of the CRF-R could also lead to Gi activation which stimulates ERK1/2 activation through the G β/γ -Ras-Raf pathway. This activation leads to TH phosphorylation and subsequently catecholamine synthesis in PC12 cells (Nemoto *et al.*, 2005).

The neuroprotective effects of CRF and UCN have been associated with activation of PKA, which subsequently leads to the activation of transcription factor CREB and

eventually induces BDNF expression (Bayatti *et al.*, 2005). Figure 1.13.2 illustrates a simplified diagram of CRF-R signalling pathways.



Figure 1.13.2 Schematic representation of simplified CRF-R cellular signalling after UCN stimulation.

Adapted from (Bayatti et al., 2005; Hauger et al., 2006; Nemoto et al., 2005; Punn et al., 2006).

1.13.6 Uses as novel therapy

After UCN was cloned and became available to researchers, it was investigated for its roles in the CNS and cardiovascular system. UCN was also examined for its anti-inflammatory effects to determine any therapeutic advantage this molecule may hold.

1.13.6.1 Urocortin and Heart disease

Both UCN mRNA and UCN are expressed in the heart of the rat, where cardiomyocytes express UCN. These expression levels are increased by heat shock and ischemia (Sohail et al, 2004). It has also been recently reported that the human myocardium is immunohistochemically positive for UCN. with this immunohistochemical staining appearing to be more intense in the failing heart (Nishikimi et al., 2000). Also, UCN has been proven to have potent coronary vasodilatory and cardiac inotropic effects in conscious sheep (Parkes et al., 2001). These findings have shown that UCN has important pathophysiological roles in the heart.

In rats, UCN was found to produce CRF-R2-mediated effects of decreasing mean arterial pressure and causing tachycardia (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2004).

In sheep, UCN was also observed to possess a protective compensatory role in heart failure where it contributes to suppression of vascular tone and renin-angiotensinaldosterone/endothelin activation (Charles *et al.*, 2006; Rademaker *et al.*, 2005).

Also, autophagy, which is a known feature of cardiomyopathies and chronic ischaemia, is reduced by UCN in cardiac myocytes after ischemia/reperfusion injury, which is thought to be through UCN's activation of the PI3 kinase/Akt pathway (Valentim *et al.*, 2006).

Brar et al. (2000) demonstrated that UCN has protective effects in rat cardiac myocytes following ischemic injury. Here, UCN administration prevented cell death to primary cardiac myocyte cultures. This was observed when UCN was given before or even after simulated hypoxia/ischemia. UCN also reduced damage in isolated rat hearts *ex vivo* subjected to regional ischemia/reperfusion. This protective effect was observed when UCN was administered either before ischemia, or at the time of reperfusion after ischemia, which proposes the usefulness of this peptide even after ischemia occurs (Brar *et al.*, 2000).

Scarabelli et al. (2002) also observed that UCN still produced cytoprotective and functional benefits even when it was given only at reperfusion; this was presented as

improvement in ventricular function associated with reduction in mycocardial damage and a decrease in endothelial cell and cardiomyocyte apoptosis.

The findings of Brar et al. (2000) and Scarabelli et al. (2002), where UCN was able to still elicit cardioprotective/preservative effects even after ischemia and only at reperfusion, were also demonstrated when Townsted et al. found that acute UCN treatment decreased necrosis and improved hemodynamic recovery during reperfusion after 30 min of global ischemia in Langendorff perfused rat hearts. These reaserchers also observed that UCN reduced cell death following simulated ischemia and re-oxygenation in adult and neonatal rat isolated cardiac myocytes after both acute and chronic UCN treatment. It was suggested that UCN's ability to reduce myocyte vulnerability to reperfusion injury is through a PKC-mediated reduction of oxidative stress (Townsend *et al.*, 2007).

The result of the latter studies, where UCN was observed to produce protective/restorative effects after injury occurs, present it as a potential candidate for use in disorders like PD where treatment always takes place after neuronal damage has occured.

1.13.6.2 Urocortin and PD

1.13.6.2.1 In situ

As well as having protective effects on cardiac myocytes, UCN was also observed to produce similar effects on other cell types after injury. Pedersen et al. (2002) observed that UCN protected against oxidative and excitotoxic cell death in cultured hippocampal neurons. This finding was significant as the hippocampus, which is important in the regulation of stress responses, houses neurons that are vulnerable during disease conditions including Alzheimer's disease and anxiety disorders (Pedersen *et al.*, 2002). The UCN mediated neuroprotective effects observed here seemed to involve cAMP-dependent PKA, PKC and MAPK (Pedersen *et al.*, 2002).

These neuroprotective effects were also supported when UCN was found to be neuroprotective as well as having the ability to suppress apoptosis in cerebellar granule neurons. UCN was also able to stimulate cAMP synthesis in these cultured neurons (Facci *et al.*, 2003). These researchers also found UCN to rescue both hippocampal and cortical neurons from β -amyloid peptide toxicity (Facci *et al.*, 2003), a finding that may be of relevance to Alzheimer's disease and possibly PD.

Researchers have also observed that both CRF and UCN are potent regulators of dendritic development in rat Purkinje neurons, where they induced proliferation and dendritic growth. These observed effects were sugested to be mediated by the protein kinase A and mitogen-activating protein kinase pathways (Swinny *et al.*, 2004).

Two research groups in 2005 carried out studies that investigated the direct effect of UCN and UCN II on catecholamine release or catecholamine synthesis in PC12 rat pheochromocytoma cells. Their results showed that UCN significantly induced an increase in cAMP levels and TH enzyme activity. Furthermore, UCN also significantly increased TH mRNA. These results indicate that UCN and UCN II stimulate TH enzyme activity and synthesis, suggesting that they both contribute to catecholamine biosynthesis in PC12 cells, possibly via the cAMP/protein kinase A and the PKA/ERK1/2 pathway (Nanmoku *et al.*, 2005; Nemoto *et al.*, 2005).

Disruption in the CRF system was shown to be closely linked with the progression of Alzheimer's disease, indicating the potential neuroprotective effects of CRF and related peptides like UCN (Bayatti *et al.*, 2005).

The potential neuroprotective role that UCN may play in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and PD still needs further investigation. One aspect worth examining is the effect of UCN on models of neurodegenerative disease, especially *in vivo*.

1.13.6.2.2 Aims of the project

In light of the above, the work in this project was carried out to evaluate possible effects of UCN in animal models of PD, where the aim was to establish whether or

not this peptide possesses neuroprotective properties. Mechanisms through which this peptide exerts its effects were also studied to establish individual targets. Two distinct rodent models of PD, the 6-OHDA model and the LPS model, were used to determine whether UCN confers neuroprotection or not. These two models were used to avoid the possibility that UCN might be uniquely effective against a specific component of one model. The study outcomes were evaluated through multiple *in vivo* and *ex vivo* assessments. These assessments included: behavioural apomorphine challenge, *in vivo* measurement of extracellular DA, measurement of tissue DA, determining TH activity in the nigrostriatal system, testing for TH protein content, and TH immunostaining in the SNc to estimate the density of TH positive staining. By performing these different and complementary assessments it was possible to ascertain the effects of UCN in these animal models of the disease with confidence.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals and regents

All reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) unless otherwise stated.

2.2 Animals

Male Wistar rats (240-260 g) were purchased from Harlan, U.K. and housed in an animal care facility. The animal unit was maintained at constant temperature, humidity and fixed dark: light cycles. The animals were provided free access to tap water and rodent chow feed. All procedures were in accordance with the institutional and Home Office animal care guidelines.

2.2.1 Stereotaxic surgery

Stereotaxic surgery was performed to administer both insults used; 6-OHDA and LPS, all UCNs and α -helical-CRF. Animals were anesthetized using isoflurane 4% v/v in O₂ for induction of anesthesia (Abbot Laboratories Ltd., Kent) and then secured on a stereotaxic frame (David Kopf, US), a maintenance isoflurane concentration of 1.5% v/v in O₂ was then used throughout the duration of the surgery. Stereotaxic surgery was performed by first exposing the surface of the skull using a sterile blade. This was done by laterally reflecting two skin flaps and removing excess membranous material and blood until the scull was fully visible, the bregma was then located and marked, and using stereotaxic coordinates from the atlas of Paxinos and Watson (1982), the SNc, medial forebrain bundle (MFB) and striatum were located.

For all intracerebral (i.c) injections and before actual injections could be made, the skull was penetrated using a dental drill, after these openings in the skull were drilled the injections were carried out using a Hamilton 10 μ l syringe. *All injections through out this work were performed unilaterally*, on the left side of the brain, to achieve a unilateral animal model of PD. In this manner it was possible to compare the nigrostriatal pathway of the treated side to the untreated side, in the same animal, in addition to comparisons to other groups.

2.2.1.1 Injection of 6-OHDA

In the case of 6-OHDA, and prior to its intracerebral injection; animals were treated intraperitoneally (i.p) with pargyline (50 mg/kg) and desmethylimipramine (25 mg/kg), this was done to maximize the selectivity of 6-OHDA for the DA neurons. After these injections the rats were fixed in the stereotaxic frame and then injected with 6-OHDA ($8\mu g/4\mu l$) of saline containing 0.2% ascorbic acid in saline or vehicle into the left medial forebrain bundle MFB (from bregma in mm; A -4.3, L 1.4 and V 8.2; Paxinos and Watson, 1982). The injections were performed at a rate of 1 µl per minute, and after the total injection volume was infused, a waiting period of approximately 5 minutes was allowed to permit the local diffusion of the injected solution. The syringe was then slowly raised to prevent any back flow from occurring. The scalp was finally either sutured or bonded using Michele clips, and the rats were then returned to their cages and observed until they regained consciousness (generally within 5 minutes).

2.2.1.2 Injection of LPS

After the rats were fixed in the stereotaxic frame, they were injected with LPS (from E.coli, stertype 0111:B4) $2\mu g/2\mu l$ or normal saline directly into the left SNc (from bregma in mm; A -5.2, L 2.2 and V 8.3; Paxinos and Watson, 1982). These injections were performed at a rate of 1 μ l per minute, and after the total injection volume was infused; a waiting period of about 5 minutes was allowed to permit the diffusion of the injected solution. The syringe was then slowly raised to prevent any back flow that may happen. The scalp was finally either sutured or bonded using Michele clips, and the rats were returned to their cages and observed until they regained consciousness.

2.2.1.3 Injection of UCN, UCNII and UCN III

Rats co-treated with UCN after injection of either insult (6-OHDA or LPS) received UCN injections of 2pmol in 2μ l of saline directly into the left SNc (from bregma in mm; A -5.2, L 2.2 and V 8.3; Paxinos and Watson, 1982). These injections were made either directly after the injection of the insult (6-OHDA or LPS) or in other groups seven days after the injection of either insult. The doses of UCN used were decided according to doses of UCN used in PC12 cells where it seemed to confer a preservative or neuroprotective role (Nanmoku *et al.*, 2005; Pedersen *et al.*, 2002).

2.2.1.3.1 UCN administration at time 0

In this group of rats, the injection of the UCNs was carried on the first treatment day, and only a few minutes after the injection of either insult. $2pmol/2\mu l$ of UCN, UCNII or UCNIII in saline were injected directly into the SNc, this was done 5 minutes after insult treatment. These rats were assessed after 14 days (figure 2.2.1)

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods



Figure 2.2.1 A schematic diagram showing the time line of UCN injection at time zero.

Insult (LPS/6-OHDA) injection was followed with UCN and assessed after 14 days. All injections were unilateral.

2.2.1.3.2 UCN administration after seven days

In this group, the injection of UCN was made 7 days after initial treatment with insult. 2pmol of UCN in 2μ l saline were injected directly into the SNc. Rats were left for a further 7 days and assessed on day 14 (figure 2.2.2).



Figure 2.2.2 A schematic diagram showing the time line of UCN injection after 7 days.

Seven days after insult (LPS/6-OHDA) injection, animals were ttreated with UCN and then left for a further seven days before assessment on day 14. All injections were unilateral.

2.2.1.4 Injection of antagonists

Two antagonists were used in this work, α -helical CRF and NBI-27914. α -helical CRF is a non selective CRF receptor antagonist which does not cross the blood brain barrier. α -helical CRF is similar in structure to CRF peptides and would be expected to have the similar half life and diffusion properties as any of the UCNs and remain in the injected region for the same duration as the agonist (UCN) would. The second antagonist used was NBI-27914, a selective CRF-R1 antagonist which is very lipophilic and readily crosses the blood brain barrier, and due to its high lipophilicity and the highly lipophilic nature of the CNS, NBI-27914 remains for a long period in the brain once it is present there (Chen, 2006; McCarthy *et al.*, 1999).

2.2.1.4.1 Alpha-helical CRF

After being treated with 6-OHDA, and prior to UCN injection, rats were subject to α -helical CRF injection 1nmol in 2µl of saline directly into the SNc (Baram *et al.*, 1997; Baram *et al.*, 1996). After this non-selective antagonist was allowed to diffuse for 5 min, UCN was injected, also directly into the SNc. Rats were assessed after 14 days (figure 2.2.3).



Figure 2.2.3. A schematic diagram showing the time line of α -helical CRF and UCN injections after lesioning with 6-OHDA,

6-OHDA injection was followed with α -helical CRF treatment before administering UCN; animals were assessed after 14 days from initial injection. All injections were unilateral.
2.2.1.4.2 NBI-27914

NBI-27914 is a small highly lipophilic molecule, it possesses high plasma protein and tissue binding, which leads to long elimination half life and accumulation in tissues like the brain (Chen, 2006). These properties enable NBI-27914 to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) and remain there. NBI-27914 was injected i.p at a dose of 10mg/kg (Baram *et al.*, 1997), this injection was carried out 30 minutes before UCN injection (Baram *et al.*, 1997) and one week after treatment with 6-OHDA. These animals were assessed after seven days from NBI/UCN treatment and 14 days after initial 6-OHDA injection as shown in diagram below (figure 2.2.4).



Figure 2.2.4 A schematic diagram showing the time line of NBI-27914 and UCN injections after lesioning with 6-OHDA,

After seven days from the initial 6-OHDA injection, rats were treated with NBI-27914 followed 30 minutes later with the administration of UCN; animals were assessed after 14 days from initial injection. All injections were unilateral and NBI-27914 was injected systemically.

2.2.2 Post mortem handling

As there were different assessments used, it was necessary to have different handling conditions for brain tissue depending on the nature of the assessment intended.

2.2.2.1 Flash freezing

Flash freezing was carried out on brain tissue intended for measuring tissue DA in striata and SNc, TH enzyme assays and some immunohistochemistry. Here rats were lightly anesthetized with 5% isoflurane then quickly placed under guillotine and decapitated. Brains were then very quickly removed, flash frozen on dry ice and stored at -80 until use.

2.2.2.2 Perfuse fixing

Perfuse fixing of rats was carried out when the only assessment intended was immunohistochemistry. In this procedure animals were administered a lethal dose of pentobarbital (0.6ml of 100 mg/ml solution; Euthatal, Merial, UK), and once animals were under deep anaesthesia, the heart was surgically exposed and a butterfly cannula (Butterfly-21, Hospira Venisystems, Ireland) was inserted into the left ventricle while the right atrium was incised to bleed the animal. At first animals were perfused transcardially with 100 ml of heparin-PBS solution 10 units/mL (Multiparin, Wockhardt, UK) to prevent coagulation of blood, followed by another 100 ml of 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution in 0.1M PBS to fix the tissue, after 30 minutes rats were decapitated and the brains carefully removed and post fixed again in 4% PFA in 0.1% PBS for 24 hours at 4°C then flash frozen on dry ice and stored at -80°C until use.

2.3 Tissue handling (Brains)

Frozen brains were removed from -80°C storage and left at -20°C overnight, they were then placed on a ceramic tile over ice for a few minutes to defrost. Brains were then cut using a surgical blade into 2mm thick cross sections, these sections were made according to coordinates from the atlas of Paxinos and Watson (1982) for the striatum and confirmed by the marks left by needle injections or dialysis probes. From this cross section both right and left striata were punched out using a stainless steel punch. The dissected striata were then placed into a 1 ml microcentrifuge tube containing 1 ml ice cold PBS which was then immediately homogenized using a pestle and mortar 2 ml homogenizer (Kartell, Cambridge, UK) and frozen at -80 until further use.

As for the SNc, a cross section with a thickness of about 1mm was made according to coordinates from the atlas of Paxinos and Watson (1982) for the SNc. From this brain cross section SNc was punched out using a stainless steel punch, the dissected SNc was then placed into a 1 ml microcentrifuge tube containing 1 ml ice cold PBS, which was immediately homogenized and then frozen at -80 until further use.

2.4 HPLC

2.4.1 System components

The HPLC components start with a reservoir containing mobile phase which was pumped into the system by a piston pump (P580, Dionex, Germany). Flow then continued to pass through a Triathlon refrigerated autosampler (4°C; Spark-Holland, Netherlands), this led to a C18 reverse phase column maintained at 40°C (ODS 3 μ M, 4.6 mm I.D. x 100 mm; Rainin Dynamax Instruments Co. INC., U.S.A.) and protected by a Microsorb guard column (C18 5 μ M, 4.6 mm I.D. x 15 mm, Rainin Dynamax Instruments Co. INC., U.S.A.). This column with guard column was used when analyzing microdialysis samples and tissue homogenates. Another C18 reverse phase column also maintained at 40°C (ODS 3 μ M, 4.6 mm I.D. x 150 mm; Rainin Dynamax Instruments Co. INC., U.S.A.) was used for L-DOPA measurement from the TH enzyme assays. Columns then led to an Antec-Intro electrochemical detector (Antec Leyden BV, Holland) fitted with a VTO3 flow cell (V_{cell} + 625 mV filtered to 5 abu with range set on 0.5 nA/volt for a full scale deflection). Data capture was achieved and analysed by Dell Corporation PC system 310 (Dell Corporation, U.S.A.) equipped with Chromperfect for Windows software (Justice Innovations chromatography data systems, CA, U.S.A.). Chromatograms were printed out using an Epson LX-300 printer as illustrated in the diagram (figure 2.4.1).

The separation technique used was based on that of Hutson et al. (1989) with some modifications. All seperations were isocratic and the mobile phase was composed of: Sodium acetate (90mM), citric acid (35mM), EDTA (0.34mM), 1-octane-sulfonic acid (ion paring reagent; 0.06mM), 5.5% methanol and pH was adjusted to 4.2 using citric acid. The mobile phase was de-gassed using an in-line de-gassing unit (Jour Research) and pumped at a flow rate of 0.65ml/min.



Figure 2.4.1 Schematic diagram of an HPLC-ED system.

2.4.2 Chromatograms

The catecholamines were first identified through comparing their retention times with authentic monoamine standards. They were then quantified through measuring peak area values generated from the analysis software and then comparing these values to a calibration curve.

Catecholamine peaks were presented as chromatograms and were displayed on a PC and then printed out. Figure 2.4.2 shows an example of a typical chromatogram of catecholamines using HPLC-ED.



Figure 2.4.2 An example of a typical chromatogram of catecholamines using HPLC-ED.

The X axis indicates the retention times of analytes in minutes, and the Y axis gives an indication of amount or quantity shown as electrical in terms of current expressed in milliVolts. Chromatograms were generated using Chromperfect® software. NA: noradrenaline, DA: Dopamine, DOPAC: 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid , 5-HT: 5hudroxytryptamine, 5-HIAA: 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid , HVA: homovanillic acid.

2.4.3 Internal standard

An internal standard is added as a known quantity to the sample and has to resolve adequately from the analytes of interest to achieve accurate measurements. DA was used as the internal standard for measuring the amount of L-DOPA produced after the TH enzyme assay was performed; the calibration curve used here was peak area ratio vs. concentration as shown below in the diagram (figure 2.4.4). An example of a sample used to generate the calibration curve is shown in figure 2.4.3.



Figure 2.4.3 An example of one of the concentrations used to construct the calibration curve.

L-DOPA peak shown had a retention time of about 4 minutes and was generated from 30 pmol of L-DOPA; the amount of the internal standard (DA) was constant at 10 pmol.



Figure 2.4.4 Calibration curve of L-DOPA amount vs. Peak Area Ratio (PAR). This calibration curve was generated using internal standard method through fixing the internal standard amount (DA) and changing the amount of L-DOPA.

2.4.4 External standard

The external standard was used for for quantifying DA from microdialysis samples and from SNc and striatal homogenates, where a suitable internal standard that could be separated from the components of the mixture could not be selected. The external standard used was DA and different concentrations were run to achieve a calibration curve as shown in figure 2.4.6, this was run as a separate chromatogram under exactly the same conditions as samples, an example of one of the concentrations used for the calibration curve is provided in figure 2.4.5.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods



Figure 2.4.5 An example of one of the concentrations used to construct the calibration curve.

Peak shown had a retention time of approximately 8 minutes and was generated from 10 pmol of DA.



Figure 2.4.6 Calibration curve of DA amount vs. Peak Area. This calibration curve was generated using different concentrations of DA.

2.5 Assessment

In order to evaluate the effects that UCN had on the animal models of PD employed, different assessment methods were used. These assessment included *in vivo* and *in vitro* evaluations which, when taken together, would give a better more comprehensive reflection of the disease state than would each one individually.

2.5.1 Apomorphine challenge

The first line of assessment is the behavioural apomorphine challenge. Apomorphine is a non-selective DA agonist which penetrates into the CNS upon subcutaneous (s.c) administration and is used as a measure of neurotoxic lesion severity. After its administration, apomorphine activates DA receptors, this actvation is much more pronounced on the lesioned side due to receptor upregulation and therefore contralateral (i.e. away from the lesioned side) circling behaviour can be observed. Fourteen days after initial surgery, the animals were injected with apomorphine (0.5mg/kg s.c.), after 10-15 minutes the rats were placed in a circular test arena, where they were left for two minutes to acclimatise to their surroundings. The number of consecutive turns they performed was then counted over a period of two minutes. The number of turns is indicative of the severity of the neurotoxic lesion (Pinter *et al.*, 1999).

2.5.2 In vivo microdialysis

Microdialysis was used to measure striatal extracellular levels of DA *in vivo*; this was performed bilaterally in order to compare these DA levels in treated and untreated sides of the same rat as well as comparing with DA levels of sham treated rats.

Animals were anaesthetized with isoflurane (4% induction and 1.5% maintenance) and then secured on a stereotaxic frame. The surface of the skull was exposed as mentioned previously and two concentric microdialysis probes, constructed as described by Whitton et al. (1992), were stereotaxically implanted and inserted into the striata on both sides of the brain (in mm from bregma A 0.2, L/R 3.0, V 8.0). The probes were then fixed in to the skull with dental acrylic (DuraLay, Reliance, Illinois, U.S.A.). The animals were then placed in individual microdialysis cages and allowed to recover for 24 hours before the dialysis was started. After recovery, rats were perfused with artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF; 2.5mM KCl, 125mM NaCl, 1.18mM MgCl₂,.6H₂O, 1.26mM CaCl₂, pH:7.2) at a rate of 1µl/min, collecting samples every 30 minutes for 4 hours, samples were immediately frozen at -80°C after collection until analysed. The first four consecutive samples were collected and used to establish basal extracellular levels of DA. After collecting the fourth sample, the aCSF was switched to a higher (100mM) K⁺ CSF and Na⁺ was reduced to account for a change in molarity (100mM KCl, 27.5mM NaCl, 1.18mM MgCl₂,.6H₂O, 1.26mM CaCl₂, pH: 7.2), This was done for only 30 minutes after which the conditions were returned as before. The high potassium aCSF induces the release of DA from storage vesicles in nerve terminals and is a measure of the maximum nerve cell secretion capability. After collecting the last sample the animals were sacrificed using a guillotine and the brains were removed and frozen at -80°C until further use (Biggs et al., 1992).

2.5.2.1 Analysis of microdialysis samples

Frozen microdialysis samples were removed from the -80°C freezer and placed in the refrigerated auto sampler at 4°C to defrost, analysis was then carried out using HPLC-ED. Samples were then quantified using external standard method. A calibration curve between peak areas vs. concentrations for DA was constructed and used to translate peak areas into concentrations (figure 2.4.6). An example of typical microdialysis chromatograms showing basal (figure 2.5.1) and potassium induced

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods



Figure 2.5.1 An example of a typical chromatogram generated from a dialysis sample illustrating basal levels of catecholamines.

NA: noradrenaline, DA: Dopamine, DOPAC: 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid , 5-HT: 5-hudroxytryptamine, 5-HIAA: 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid , HVA: homovanillic acid.



Figure 2.5.2 An example of a typical chromatogram generated from a dialysis sample illustrating high potassium induced levels of catecholamines

NA: noradrenaline, DA: Dopamine, DOPAC: 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid , 5-HT: 5-hudroxytryptamine, 5-HIAA: 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid , HVA: homovanillic acid.

2.5.3 Tissue DA

To evaluate the neurochemistry of the lesion, tissue DA levels were estimated in the nigrostriatal pathway. After homogenising the brain tissue, 40 μ L of supernatant from either striatal or SNc homogenates (prepared as described before) of the treated animals were mixed with 10 μ L of 0.2M perchloric acid to precipitate proteins, these homogenates were then centrifuged at 10,000 x g (Biofuge, Heraeus Instruments, Germany) for 10 minutes, supernatants were placed in sample vials and whole tissue DA levels were estimated using HPLC-ED (Biggs *et al.*, 1992). An example of a typical tissue DA chromatogram is illustrated in figure 2.5.3, peak areas were converted to concentrations using external standard method (figure 2.4.6).



Figure 2.5.3 An example of a typical chromatogram generated from striatal homogenate illustrating tissue levels of catecholamines

NA: nore adrenaline, DA: Dopamine, DOPAC: 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid, 5-HT: 5-hudroxytryptamine, 5-HIAA: , HVA: homovanillic acid.

2.5.3.1 Protein estimation

Total protein content was determined using BCA reagent (Pierce Biotechnology, Inc. U.S.A.) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.5.4 Tyrosine Hydroxylase Assay

The TH enzyme assay was performed as one measure of the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal system, as L-DOPA synthetic capacity was measured. Brain homogenates from SNc and straiatum were incubated in duplicates with 200 μ M L-tyrosine in a 100 μ 1 total volume of the reaction mixture in 100 mM sodium acetate-acetic acid buffer (pH 6.0). The reaction mixture also contained 2 mM ferrous ammonium sulphate, 1 mM 6MPH₄ as co-factor, 10 μ g of catalase, 1 mM benzirezide (an inhibitor of AADC). The 6MPH₄ solution was made as 10 mM in 1 M mercaptoethanol. The incubation mixture, except for tyrosine and the pteridin cofactor, was preincubated at 37°C for 5 min, and the reaction was started by adding the L-tyrosine and the pteridin cofactor. After incubation at 37°C for 10 min, the reaction was terminated by addition of 100 μ 1 of 0.1 M perchloric acid, containing 0.4 mM sodium metabisulphite and 0.1 mM disodium EDTA.

The sample was then vortexed and left to stand on ice for 10 min and then centrifuged at 1000 x g for 10 min. The supernatant was diluted to 1 in 1000 in mobile phase to minimise the background, then analyzed using HPLC-ED to measure the amount of L-DOPA. As blank, a similar reaction mixture containing D-tyrosine instead of the L-isomer and 100 μ M 3-iodo-L-tyrosine was used (Naoi et. al., 1988).

An example of a typical chromatogram measuring L-DOPA with DA as an internal standard is illustrated in figure 2.5.6. The identity of L-DOPA was determined after running a standard (figure 2.5.5). PA values were converted into concentrations using the calibration curve through internal standard method (figure 2.4.4).

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods



Figure 2.5.4 Chromatogram of an L-DOPA standard used before enzyme assay to determine retention time.



Figure 2.5.5 Chromatogram generated from the product of the TH enzyme assay.

2.5.5 Western Blot

To establish whether the loss of functionally active TH was associated with loss of protein a western blot was carried out. Brain striatal homogenate suspension was prepared in phosphate buffer (10.9 g Na2HPO4; 3.2 g NaH2PO4 in 1000 ml d.H2O; pH 7.4) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (4-(2-aminoethyl)benzenesulfonyl fluoride (AEBSF), pepstatinA, E-64, bestatin, leupeptin, and aprotinin). Following centrifugation, supernatants were stored at -20 °C until analysis.

The supernatants were mixed with the same volume of SDS-PAGE sample buffer containing 100mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and the mixtures were heated to 95 °C for 4 minutes in order to denature proteins. Following this, samples and a molecular weight marker (Dual colour, Bio-rad, U.K.) were centrifuged at 13, 000 x g for 2 minutes, after which 25 μ l of each sample and 15 μ l of protein standard were separated according to molecular weight (Thermo EC570-90) in 12% tris-glycine gels (Invitrogen, U.K.), submerged in running buffer (3 g Trizma-base; Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., U.K; 14.4 g glycine; AnalaR, U.K; 1 g SDS in 1000 ml of d.H2O) for 45 minutes at 200 V.

The gels were then transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (Whattman, Kent, U.K.) for 1.5 h with a constant voltage of 15 V. Membranes were blocked for 30 minutes at room temperature with 5% powdered skimmed milk in PBS-Tween and then probed overnight at room temperature using primary antibodies for total TH (rabbit polyclonal, 1:500 dilution, PhosphoSolutions, Aurora, CO, U.S.A.). After probing with primary antibodies and washing with PBS-Tween buffer (3×5 min), membranes were incubated with horseradish peroxidase conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Cell Signaling, MA, U.S.A.). Proteins were visualized using a chemiluminescence ECL kit (Amersham). Bands were visualized using an imaging system for chemiluminescence (GeneGnome, Vacutec, JHB). Results were expressed by comparison to the normalized control, and sham operated animals.

2.5.6 Immunohistochemistry

Slide-mounted 12 µm cryostat sections (sections were cut using a -20° CM3050 cryostat, Leica, Germany) from flash-frozen rat brain were removed from the freezer and allowed to equilibrate to room temperature for 30 minutes prior to post fixation in 4% paraformaldehyde, containing 1% gluteraldehyde for 5 minutes at 0°C. Following rinsing in 0.1M PBS for 5 minutes, sections were dehydrated through graded alcohols and endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation in 0.3% H₂O₂ in methanol for 10 minutes. The sections were then rehydrated and non-specific immunoreactivity was blocked with 10% swine serum (Dako, Denmark) in PBS for 10 minutes. Sections were then incubated in primary antibody (rabbit anti-rat tyrosine hydroxylase antibody, Calbiochem, UK) at 1 / 700 in PBS for 16 hours at 4°C. After rinsing, the sections were incubated sequentially in biotinylated swine anti-rabbit antibody 1 / 250 in PBS (Dako, Denmark) for 30 minutes at room temperature and ABC complex (Vector Laboratories, UK) following the manufacturer's instructions. Immunoreactivity was visualized through incubation in 0.5 mg/ml 3diaminobenzidine (DAB) containing 0.0003% H₂O₂ for 2 minutes at room temperature. The sections were counterstained using Harris haematoxylin, dehydrated, cleared and mounted for microscopic examination (Pablo et al., 2006; Stephenson et al. 2006).

2.6 Data analysis

The data obtained from the apomorphine challenge, tissue DA assay and TH enzyme assay were all subjected to one way ANOVA, microdialysis data however was subject to a two way ANOVA. Data were then subject to a *post hoc* Bonferroni's test to establish significant differences between the groups and data were presented as mean \pm s. e. mean. GraphPad Prizm, version 4, software was used for all of the

statistical analysis. Post hoc analysis was only carried out when ANOVA F values indicated significant difference between variances in a 95% confidence interval.

Chapter 3: UCN reverses toxin induced PD-like deficits

Chapter 3

UCN reverses toxin induced PD-like deficits

3 UCN reverses toxin induced PD-like deficits.

3.1 Introduction

PD is largely the result of a selective degeneration of nigrostriatal neurons. Before the disease presents clinically, death of nigrostriatal neurons occurs in the SNc asymptomatically, probably as a result of concurrent apoptotic, excitotoxic, free-radical mediated and neuroinflammatory events (Gandhi et al., 2005; Vaux et al., 1999; Whitton, 2007). Progression of the disease continues for the remainder of the patient's lifetime causing a decrease in the quality of life. Unfortunately current drug therapies are mostly symptomatic and diminish in efficacy, often rapidly with many side effects that frequently become, in time, almost as debilitating as the disease itself. Although alternative treatment strategies such as neurosurgery or the use of stem cells hold potential long term promise, these approaches have significant problems, the most obvious being 'when' or even 'if' neurosurgery will become available on the scale required to address the problem of PD. Prevention of nigro striatal neuronal destruction once established, or preferably reversal of the lesion, thus represents a crucial future therapeutic goal.

The CRF like peptide UCN has recently been proposed as a cytoprotectant. Evidence for this exists in a diverse range of mammalian tissues (Brar et al., 2000; Facci et al., 2003; Intekhad-Alam N.Y. et al., 2004; Pedersen et al., 2002; Scarabelli et al., 2002), including cultured hippocampal neurons (Pedersen et al., 2002) and cerebellar granule cells (Facci et al., 2003). Furthermore, UCN can restore function to cardiac myocytes after hypoxic damage has occurred (Brar *et al.*, 2000). This makes it an ideal candidate to study in models of PD

3.1.1 PD models used

Although a specific cause of PD remains to be revealed, evidence indicates interplay between apoptotic, excitotoxic and free radical mediated events (Gandhi et al., 2005; Vaux et al., 1999). However, understanding of the pathogenic background of this disease has been confounded by the fact that epidemiological studies have provided little evidence for a single causative factor. This in turn makes it difficult to achieve one model that will comprehensively and completely mimic the disease. Nevertheless, 6-OHDA-induced neurotoxic damage presents a useful and well characterised model of nigral DA neurodegeneration and is commonly used as a paradigm of PD. 6-OHDA leads to the destruction of DA neurons through both ROS and quinones (Cohen, 1984) and many studies have shown that the neurotoxicity caused by 6-OHDA brings about molecular changes similar to those encountered in PD (Blum et al., 2001). Researchers have long considered that 6-OHDA provides a very good model of PD; indeed it was suggested that 6-OHDA might exist as an endogenous neurotoxin which can naturally occur in both rat (Axelrod et al., 1958a; Axelrod et al., 1958b) and human brain (Curtius et al., 1974), and that its excessive production due to an imbalance or trigger could be a causative factor for PD. 6-OHDA also provides a good model due to its relatively predictable outcome, which is almost complete destruction of the nigrostriatal pathway within 2 weeks of injection.

Recently, however, it has been found that in both PD patients and animal models of this disease, neuroinflammation appears to be a common factor; comprising phagocyte activation, increased synthesis and release of proinflammatory cytokines and complement activation. These findings indicate the usefulness of more recently characterised neuroinflammatory paradigms of PD. LPS is a bacterial endotoxin able to evoke a degeneration of nigral DA neurons whilst sparing other cell types such as ACh and GAD containing neurons (Herrera *et al.*, 2000). The manner in which LPS produces the lesion makes it even more comparable to PD, in terms of severity and selectivity, especially when compared to the harsher 6-OHDA paradigm (Castano *et al.*, 2002; De Pablos *et al.*, 2005). However, this distinction makes it an excellent candidate to use alongside the 6-OHDA model to generate a more comprehensive

overview of PD, as one model may mimic the nature of the disease in ways that the other fails to.

Moreover, when employing two distinct animal models of PD, any neuronal effects that the CRF-like peptide UCN offers are less likely to be toxin or model specific.

Experiments were performed to investigate whether UCN confers neuroprotection in rats treated either with 6-OHDA or LPS. The effects of UCN were established through the use of different assessments which included *in vivo* apomorphine challenge, *in vivo* microdialysis, *in vitro* TH activity assay and estimation of tissue DA level. Finally, the surviving TH positive neurons in the SNc were assessed using immunohistochemistry.

3.2 Experiment design

Rats were divided into 4 treatment groups; the first group of rats (sham surgical group) were given 4 μ l i.c. injections of vehicle (0.2% ascorbic acid) into the medial forebrain bundle, as described in chapter 2. The second group received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid, followed by an i.c. injection of 2 μ l saline directly into the SNc. The third group of rats received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid and then were treated with a further i.c. injection of 2 μ g UCN, delivered in 2 μ l saline, directly into the SNc. The fourth group of rats received 4 μ l i.c injections of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle followed by 2 μ g UCN, delivered in 2 μ l saline, directly into the SNc in order to assess the the effects of UCN in the absence of a nigrostriatal lesion. In the case of more than one i.c injection in the same rat, there was a 5 minute waiting period between these i.c injections. Another 4 groups of rats were treated as above but with LPS as the insult, whereby 2 μ g LPS in 2 μ l PBS was injected directly into the SNc in lieu of 6-OHDA. All rats were assessed 14 days after initial injections. All results in bar graphs are shown as mean \pm SEM.

A schematic time bar is provided to clarify times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group (diagram 1 for 6-OHDA and diagram 2 for LPS). In total 64 rats were used in this section.



Diagram 1 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is 6-OHDA only group, C is 6-OHDA + UCN group and D is UCN only group. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 33



Diagram 2 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is LPS only group, C is LPS + UCN group and D is UCN only group. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 31

3.3 The effect of UCN in 6-OHDA lesioned rats

3.3.1 Apomorphine challenge

Rats that were treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle displayed characteristics of unilateral nigrostriatal degeneration after being subjected to the apomorphine challenge where they demonstrated intense, tight contraversive circling, around 25 turns in 120 second, which was significantly different than in sham treated rats where no turning was observed (Figure 3.1.1). In contrast, rats treated with 6-OHDA and co-treated with UCN showed reduced sensitivity to the apomorphine challenge; this was indicated by the significant reduction of about 80% in the number of turns from the 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals, leaving a residual number of turns that was not significantly different to that seen in sham treated animals. Rats treated with UCN alone, with vehicle in place of 6-OHDA, did not exhibit any turns and were comparable to sham treated animals (Figure 3.2.1).



Figure 3.3.1 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced contraversive turns in response to apomorphine.

Apomorphine injection (0.5 mg/kg) was delivered through s.c injection. Turns were recorded in a 1.2 metre circular arena for all animals as mean counts / 120 s.

* Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001), ^ significantly different to 6-OHDA + vehicle (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham (p>0.05; n = 6-7 rats in each treatment group)

3.3.2 In vivo microdialysis

In vivo microdialysis of the striatum was performed to evaluate the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal pathway, through the measurement of extracellular DA levels; measurements were performed for both basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 3.3.2). Extracellular DA levels in rats treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle were significantly reduced when compared to sham operated animals, both basally and in response to high potassium concentration. However, levels measured in animals treated with 6-OHDA and UCN were comparable to sham equivalents, with no significant difference observed. All contra-lateral sides displayed extracellular DA levels very similar to those of sham treated animals both at basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 3.3.2).



Figure 3.3.2 The effect of UCN on loss of extracellular striatal DA levels as a result of 6-OHDA unilateral treatment where data was obtained from *in vivo* microdialysis.

Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals were infused with high potassium (ACSF) indicated by black rectangle. * Significantly different to sham (p<0.05) at basal levels and (p<0.001) at potassium induced levels. 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham. Bilateral micro dialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y axis to facilitate data expression. n= 4-6 rats in each treatment group.

3.3.3 Measurement of tissue DA

To estimate the intracellular functionality of the TH enzyme, tissue DA levels were assessed in the both nigra and striata of rats. In this case, animals treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle showed dramatic depletion in both nigral and striatal DA levels which was significantly lower than in sham operated animals (Figure 3.3.3 a and b). By contrast, rats co-treated with UCN in addition to 6-OHDA showed almost complete preservation of tissue DA levels to control (sham group) levels. Animals that received UCN and vehicle treatment did not produce any significant change in DA tissue levels in comparison to sham treated animals.



Figure 3.3.3 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced tissue DA loss. DA levels were measured in either SNc (a) or striata (b) through HPLC-ED

* Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham (p>0.05). n=4-6 in each treatment group.

3.3.4 TH enzyme assay

The functional integrity of the nigrostriatal DA system was also evaluated through the L-DOPA synthesising capacity of the TH enzyme. This was carried out using an *in vitro* enzyme assay, using nigral and striatal homogenates as the source of the TH, with L-tyrosine as the substrate and L-DOPA as the measured end product. TH activity was significantly reduced in nigra and striata obtained from 6-OHDA + vehicle treated rats when compared to sham treated controls. This loss of TH activity due to 6-OHDA treatment was prevented by co-treatment with UCN whereby levels were not significantly different to sham controls in both nigra and striata. UCN alone did not significantly influence TH activity (Figure 3.3.4 a and b).



Figure 3.3.4 The effect of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced TH activity loss.

TH activity was measured as moles L-DOPA produced per min per mg protein after a 10 min enzyme assay using homogenates from SNc (a) and from striatum (b). L-DOPA was quantified using HPLC-ED after the termination of the reaction and DA was used as the internal standard. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.01) in a and (p<0.001) in b. 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham. n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.

3.3.5 Western blotting

The approximate amount of TH protein expressed was measured using Western blotting; this was carried out to assess whether the loss or retention of TH activity was due to changes in protein content. It is apparent from the results obtained (Figure 3.3.5) that TH protein content was greatly reduced in striata from 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals and that this protein loss was greatly reduced when animals were co-treated with UCN.



Figure 3.3.5 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA induced TH protein loss

Representative western blot analysis of TH protein content in striatal homogenates. 6-OHDA + UCN T0 indicate rats that were administered 6-OHDA and UCN concomitantly.

3.3.6 Immunohistochemistry

Nigral sections were subject to TH staining in order to determine whether the changes in DA activity were due to the loss of DA neurons or alterations in nigral TH. It can clearly be seen from the results that there was a substantial difference between the TH positive neurons in the 6-OHDA lesioned SNc than in the non lesioned SNc, as illustrated in Figures 3.3.6 d and c respectively, and also in comparison to sham treated animals (Figure 3.3.6 b). The effects of UCN can clearly be seen, showing preservation of the normal (comparable to sham or untreated SNc) TH positive neurons in the SNc of lesioned animals (Figure 3.3.6 f) in comparison to animals that were 6-OHDA-lesioned in the absence of UCN treatment (Figure 3.3.6 d).



Figure 3.3.6 Representative photomicrographic images of rat brain cross sections at the SNc showing UCN effect on TH neuron survival after 6-OHDA unilateral lesion was induced.

For each section a comparison can be made between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 4), sides labelled treated were treated with either vehicle only (b), 6-OHDA+ vehicle (d) or 6-OHDA + UCN (f), sides labelled untreated are shown for comparison. DAB stain (orange brown colour) is indicative of TH positive neurons.

3.4 The effect of UCN on LPS lesioned rats

3.4.1 Apomorphine challenge

Rats that were treated with LPS and vehicle displayed characteristics of unilateral nigrostriatal degeneration, although not to the same extent as in 6-OHDA treated animals. When LPS-treated animals were subjected to apomorphine challenge they demonstrated intense, tight contraversive circling of around 13 turns per 120 s; whilst significant, apomorphine induced circling in LPS-lesioned animals was less than that observed in the 6-OHDA model (circa 13 turns per 120s LPS; circa 25 turns per 120s 6-OHDA). No turning was observed in sham treated animals (Figure 3.4.1). However, as seen in 6-OHDA treated animals, rats treated with LPS and co-treated with UCN showed reduced sensitivity to apomorphine challenge; this was indicated by a significant reduction of more than 50% in the number of turns compared to the LPS + vehicle treated animals, leaving a residual number of turns that did not differ significantly from sham controls. Rats treated with UCN and vehicle did not exhibit any turns in response to apomorphine (Figure 3.4.1).



Figure 3.4.1 Effects of UCN on LPS-induced contraversive turns in response to apomorphine.

Apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg) was delivered through s.c injection. Turns were recorded in a 1.2 metre circular arena from all animals as mean counts / 120 s. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001), $^{\circ}$ significantly different to LPS + vehicle (p<0.05). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham (p>0.05). n=5-6 rats per treatment group.

3.4.2 In vivo microdialysis

Microdialysis was performed bilaterally in the striata of freely moving animals to evaluate the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal pathway through the measurement of extracellular DA levels. These measurements were done both at basal levels and potassium induced levels (Figure 3.4.2). Extracellular DA levels in rats treated with LPS + vehicle were significantly lower than the levels in sham-operated animals both at basal and at potassium induced levels. DA levels estimated in animals treated with LPS and co-treated with UCN were comparable with sham equivalents and there was no observed significant difference at both basal and potassium induced levels. All right hand sides were untreated and displayed extracellular DA levels parallel to those of shams both at basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 3.4.2).



Figure 3.4.2 The effect of UCN on LPS induced loss of extracellular striatal DA levels obtained from *in vivo* microdialysis.

Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals were infused with high potassium (ACSF) indicated by black rectangle. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.01). LPS + UCN not significantly different to sham. Bilateral micro dialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y to facilitate data expression. n=3-5 rats in each treatment group.

3.4.3 Measurement of tissue DA

Tissue DA levels were assessed in both the nigra and striata of rats. Animals treated with LPS and vehicle showed dramatic depletion of both nigral and striatal DA levels which were significantly lower than sham in operated animals (Figure 3.4.3 a and b). In contrast, rats that were co-treated with UCN in addition to LPS showed an almost complete restoration of tissue DA levels to those measured in sham treated controls. Animals that recieved UCN and vehicle did not show any significant change in DA tissue levels in comparison to sham treated rats.



Figure 3.4.3 Effects of UCN on LPS-induced tissue DA loss. DA levels measured in either SNc (a) or striata (b) through HPLC-ED. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001). LPS + UCN not significantly different to sham (p>0.05). n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.

3.4.4 TH assay

The functional integrity of the nigrostriatal DA system after LPS treatment was also evaluated through the L-DOPA synthesising capacity of the TH enzyme. This was again performed using an *in vitro* enzyme assay, using nigral and striatal homogenates as the source of the TH with L-tyrosine as the substrate and L-DOPA as the measured end product. TH activity was significantly reduced in nigra and striata obtained from LPS + vehicle treated rats when compared to sham controls. This loss of TH activity was prevented by co-treatment with UCN, whereby levels were not significantly different to those measured in sham controls in both nigra and striata. UCN alone did not have any significant effect on TH activity (Figure 3.4.4 a and b).



Figure 3.4.4 The effect of UCN on LPS-induced TH activity loss.

TH activity was measured as moles L-DOPA produced per min per mg protein after a 10 min enzyme assay using homogenates from SNc (a) and from striatum (b). L-DOPA was quantified using HPLC-ED after the termination of the reaction and DA was used as the internal standard. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham. n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.

3.4.5 Western blotting

The amount of TH protein expressed was measured using western blotting; this was done to assess whether the loss or retention of TH activity was due to changes in protein content. It is obvious from the results obtained (Figure 3.4.5) that TH protein content was greatly reduced in striata from LPS + vehicle treated animalsand that this protein loss was reduced when animals were co-treated with UCN.



Figure 3.4.5 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA LPS induced TH protein loss. Representative western blot analysis of TH protein content in striatal homogenates. LPS + UCN T0 indicate rats that were administered LPS and UCN concomitantly.

3.4.6 Immunohistochemistry

Nigral sections were subject to TH staining to determine whether the changes in DA activity were due to the modification in the number of DA neurons or alterations in the amount of TH in individual cells. It is clear from the images that there was a substantial difference between TH positive neurons in the LPS lesioned SNc than in the non lesioned SNc, as illustrated in figures 3.4.6 d and c respectively, and also in comparison to sham treated animals (figure 3.4.6 b). The effects of UCN can clearly be seen, with preservation of the normal (comparable to sham or untreated SNc) TH positive staining in the SNc of lesioned animals (figure 3.4.6 d).



Figure 3.4.6 Representative photomicrographic images of rat brain cross sections showing both the right and the left SNc

In each section a comparison can be made between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 4), sides labelled treated were treated with either vehicle only (b), LPS + vehicle (d) or LPS + UCN (f), sides labelled untreated are shown for better comparison. The orange brown colour (DAB stain) is indicative of TH positive neurons.

3.5 Discussion

The current findings demonstrate that UCN greatly attenuates the development of PD-like pathology in a commonly employed 6-OHDA rodent model of PD and a more recently proposed paradigm of the disease, the LPS rat model. The validity of the latter model is being increasingly appreciated, especially when the role of neuroinflammation as a probable causative factor in the aetiology of PD is gaining substantial support from studies in patients and animal-models (Block *et al.*, 2007; Whitton, 2007; Wu *et al.*, 2005b).

When animals were subjected to the two neurotoxic insults and co-treated with UCN it was observed that this peptide attenuated a behavioural indicator of PD-like damage, namely apomorphine induced circling, which is regarded as a quantitative index of NS lesion severity (Abercrombie *et al.*, 1990), an attenuation thus being predictive of potential anti-parkinsonian activity. The neurochemistry of the toxin induced lesions was evaluated through estimation of whole tissue DA levels in the ipsilateral striata of animals, where UCN prevented any dramatic depletion in DA levels by either 6-OHDA or LPS treatment. This phenomenon was also observed when estimating the functional integrity of nigral neurons ipsilateral to injection sites, where L-DOPA synthetic capacity of both nigral and striatal homogenates was measured and a clear protective effect of UCN against the significant reductions in ex vivo TH activity caused by either insult was observed.

From the Western blot results it was established that TH activitiy in homogenates correlated closely with the visual intensity of immunostaining for the enzyme as Western blots revealed that UCN clearly prevented the loss of TH immunoreactivity in homogenates caused by 6-OHDA or LPS treatments.

Having established that intracerebral administration of UCN prevents the loss of nigrostriatal function post-toxin in both rodent models, it was crucial to ascertain whether this could be explained by preservation of discrete nigral cells or, alternatively, by an upregulation of TH protein in surviving cells. In order to test these possibilities, immunohistochemistry was carried out through staining cryopreserved brain sections for TH immunoreactivity and estimation of nigral cell numbers in the SNc. UCN almost completely protected against loss of cells and

dendrites in response to 6-OHDA administration, with a similar pattern of TH immunoreactivity seen in LPS lesioned rats. This discloses a clear neuroprotective effect of UCN, indicated by the surviving neurons, suggesting the ability of UCN to protect against neuronal degeneration caused by 6-OHDA and LPS.

A major question which required consideration was whether the behavioural, neurochemical and histological indicators of NS recovery could be supported by data indicating the release of striatal DA. In order to determine this we used in vivo microdialysis in freely moving rats. When UCN was administered 5 minutes after treatment with 6-OHDA or LPS, extracellular basal and evoked release of DA was significantly higher than in rats that were lesioned without UCN treatment. This clearly indicates that UCN mediated a functional preservation of DA transmission in the striata of these animals; most likely, this released DA would engage striatal DA receptors to underlie the observed preservation of motor behaviour. Also one very interesting observation was the proportionally significant amounts of potassiuminduced extracellular DA released in the striatum in 6-OHDA treated animals, where there was almost complete loss of the TH positive neurons in SNc. While in these animals basal extracellular DA levels (as obtained from microdialysis) were barely detectable, when subject to an impulse of high potassium aCSF, although DA levels lower than normal, these DA levels were proportionally were significantly considerably elevated. This phenomenon was also met during the microdialysis procedure, where these 6-OHDA treated animals exhibited significant contra lateral turning after the high potassium impulse, which indicates that the proportionally high levels of potassium-induced extracellular DA observed from microdialysis was still functional. This observation could be due to the release of DA stored in vesicles in dying neurons, whether this was the case or not, this observation could explain why PD symptoms start to arise only when significant damage has occurred.

These data reveal that UCN can act as an effective neuroprotective agent in two distinct rodent models of PD at a dose that was found to be effective in a variety of previous studies in other systems (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Brar *et al.*, 2002; Choi *et al.*,
2006; Facci *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, I have assessed multiple parameters of NS pathway activity and nigral neuronal integrity. This approach has important strengths over 'single parameter' studies, given that human PD pathology is complex and multi-component (Blum *et al.*, 2001; Gandhi *et al.*, 2005; Tatton *et al.*, 1998).

Chapter 4

UCN confers neuroprotection after the lesion develops

4 UCN confers neuroprotection after the lesion develops?

4.1 Introduction

Perhaps the most unfortunate aspect of PD is that it develops asymptomatically for years prior to a definitive diagnosis, based on specific motor signs. The result of this is that once symptoms become manifest some 60-70 % of nigrostriatal DA neurons have already been lost.

The well-characterised features of PD are largely the result of a selective degeneration of nigral neurons. Before the disease presents clinically, death of these neurons occurs in the SNc 'silently' as a result of multiple and convergent neurodegenerative processes (Gandhi et al., 2005). Prevention of further nigrostriatal pathway destruction once established and, ultimately, reversal of the severity of the lesion therefore represents a highly desirable therapeutic goal. However, as indicated by Meissner et al. (2004), rodent and primate studies utilizing 'anti-parkinsonian' agents have involved administration of these agents prior to or concurrent with the experimental lesion. A brief consideration of the progressive events that occur in PD genesis suggests such an approach to have little relevance to the clinical situation where, in the substantial majority of cases, the neuropathological lesion has become well established once symptoms appear. In an attempt to address this important issue, this work has tested the possibility that manipulation of the central UCN/CRF receptor axis may offer a novel therapeutic target in human PD. This possibility is supported by studies suggesting that the UCN peptide may function as a cytoprotectant in a diverse range of mammalian tissues and cerebellar granule cells (Brar et al., 2000; Pedersen et al., 2002; Scarabelli et al., 2002). This observation was also confirmed from my findings where UCN produced dramatic effects when it was administered at the time of lesioning in two distinct models of PD, assessed by quantification of the effects of intracerebral UCN injection on critical behavioural, neurochemical and histological indices routinely employed to assess the extent of nigrostriatal pathway destruction in models of PD. In order to establish whether UCN would have any potential future therapeutic use, it was important to examine the effects of UCN when given after the lesion had developed significantly, which represents a scenario analogous to diagnosed cases of PD.

Again, a dual model approach was employed to reduce the possibility that UCN might be uniquely active against a single neurotoxic agent and to better mimic complex nature of PD pathophysiology, which is likely to be multi-factorial (Blum *et al.*, 2001; Gandhi *et al.*, 2005; Tatton *et al.*, 1998)

4.2 Experiment design

Rats were divided into 5 groups. The first group was sham treated where rats recieved 4 μ l i.c injections of vehicle (0.2% ascorbic acid) into the medial forebrain bundle. The second group received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle, followed by i.c injection of 2 μ l UCN directly into the SNc. The third group received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle, and then seven days later rats were subject to another i.c injection of 2 μ l saline directly into the SNc. The fourth group of rats received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle, and then seven days later rats were subject to another i.c injection of 2 μ l saline directly into the SNc. The fourth group of rats received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle and then seven days later they were treated with another i.c injection of 2 μ g UCN delivered in 2 μ l saline directly into the SNc. Finally the fifth group of rats received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle and then seven days later they were treated with another i.c injection of 2 μ g UCN delivered in 2 μ l saline directly into the SNc. Finally the fifth group of rats received 8 μ g of 6-OHDA delivered in 4 μ l of 0.2% ascorbic acid into the medial forebrain bundle and after seven days rats were sacrificed.

All rats, apart from the fifth group, were assessed after 14 days from initial injection and seven days after second injection; assessments included Apomorphine challenge, *in vivo* Microdialysis, measurement of tissue DA, measurement of TH activity and Immunohistochemistry as described in chapter 2. Another 24 male Wistar rats were used as previously described, but this time using LPS instead of 6-OHDA. LPS was injected directly into the SNc, and the vehicle used here was saline. All rats were assessed 14 days after initial injections except for a group that received 6-OHDA only and was assessed after 7days. All results in bar graphs are shown as mean \pm SEM. A schematic time bar is provided to clarify times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group (diagram 3 for 6-OHDA and diagram 4 for LPS). In total 52 rats were used in this section.



Diagram 3 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is 6-OHDA + UCN at day 7 group, C is 6-OHDA only group, D is 6-OHDA + UCN where UCN was given 5 minutes after 6-OHDA and E is 6-OHDA only but animals here were terminated at day 7. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 25.



Diagram 4 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is LPS + UCN at day 7 group, C is 6-LPS only group, D is LPS + UCN where UCN was given 5 minutes after LPS and E is LPS only but animals here were terminated at day 7. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 27.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Apomorphine challenge

Rats that were treated with either 6-OHDA or LPS and vehicle displayed characteristics of unilateral nigrostriatal degeneration, this was clear after the animals were subjected to the apomorphine challenge where they demonstrated intense, tight contraversive circling (6-OHDA Figure 4.3.1 a and Figure 4.3.1 b). At the doses of toxins used the number of turns was consistently lower in LPS than 6-OHDA treated rats (Figure 4.3.1 a and b) but in both cases, circling was significantly greater than in sham controls where no circling was observed. As before, the rats that were treated with the insults (6-OHDA or LPS) and co-treated with UCN at the same time showed much reduced sensitivity to the apomorphine challenge, and more interestingly when the rats were lesioned and treated with UCN seven days *after the injection of toxin*, reduced sensitivity to the apomorphine challenge was also displayed (6-OHDA figure 4.3.1 a and LPS figure 4.3.1 b). Rats treated with 6-OHDA + vehicle and sacrificed seven days later turned significantly more than sham controls, but were not significantly different to UCN treated animals. No turns were recorded for shamoperated rats.



Figure 4.3.1 Effects of UCN on either 6-OHDA-induced (A) or LPS-induced (B) contraversive turns in response to apomorphine.

Apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg) was administered through s.c injection. Turns were recorded in a 1.2 metre circular arena from all animals as mean counts / 120 s.

* Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001), ^ significantly different than 6-OHDA + vehicle (6-OHDA + UCN T0 (p<0.001); 6-OHDA + UCN T7 (p<0.01)). + Significantly different to sham (p<0.01 in a, and p<0.05 in b). 6-OHDA + UCN T0 or UCN T7 not significantly different than sham (p>0.05). UCN T0 indicates rats that were given toxins and UCN concomitantly. UCN T7 indicates rats given UCN 7 days after injection of toxins. 7D indicates that rats were sacrificed 7 days after initial injections and 14D indicates sacrifice was after 14 days. n=5-6 rats for each treatment group.

4.3.2 In vivo microdialysis

Results from *in vivo* microdialysis were used to evaluate the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal pathway through measuring striatal extracellular DA at both basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 4.3.2). Striatal extracellular DA levels in rats treated with either 6-OHDA + vehicle (a) or LPS + vehicle (b) were significantly lower than the levels in sham-operated animals both at basal and at potassium induced levels. By contrast, when rats were lesioned and treated with UCN seven days *after the injection of toxin*, normal levels of extracellular DA were restored in both basal and potassium evoked samples (6-OHDA Figure 4.3.2 a and LPS Figure 4.3.2 b). DA levels measured in animals treated with either LPS or 6-OHDA followed by UCN seven days later were comparable with those seen in sham equivalents with respect to both basal and potassium elevated levels. All contralateral sides were untreated and displayed extracellular DA levels similar to those of sham controls (Figure 4.3.2)



Figure 4.3.2 The effect of UCN on extracellular striatal DA levels 7 days after 6-OHDA (a) or LPS (b) treatement. DA levels were obtained from *in vivo* microdialysis.

Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals were infused with high potassium (ACSF) for 30 min indicated by black rectangle (dialysis samples were collected every 30 minutes). * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.01). LPS + UCN T7 and 6-OHDA + UCN T7 not significantly different to sham. Bilateral micro dialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y axis to facilitate data expression. n= 4-5 rats in each treatment group.

4.3.3 Measurement of tissue DA

Tissue DA levels were assessed in the both nigra and striata of rats. Animals treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle exhibited dramatic depletion of both nigral and striatal DA levels, which was significantly lower than in sham operated animals (figure 4.3.3 a and b). Animals treated with LPS and vehicle also showed depletion in both nigral and striatal DA levels, not as severe as with 6-OHDA, but still significantly lower than sham operated animals (figure 4.3.4 a and b). Rats that were co-treated with UCN in addition to the insults showed almost complete preservation of tissue DA levels, which did not differ significantly from sham controls. Interestingly, in animals that recieved UCN seven days after treatment with toxins, when it can be clearly seen that DA levels have declined significantly compared to controls (6-OHDA + vehicle 7D in figure 4.3.3 and LPS + vehicle 7D in figure 4.3.4), a dramatic restoration in tissue DA levels was observed when compared to DA levels in rats treated with the toxins and vehicle.



Figure 4.3.3 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced tissue DA loss in SNc (a) and striatum (b)

DA levels were measured in SNc or striata through HPLC-ED.

* Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001). 6-OHDA treatment with UCN either at the same time (T0) or seven days after (T7) was not significantly different to sham. 7D indicates that rats were sacrificed 7 days after initial injections and 14D after 14 days. n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.



Figure 4.3.4 Effects of UCN on LPS-induced tissue DA loss in SNc (a) striatum (b)

DA levels measured in SNc or striata through HPLC-ED. *Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001). LPS treated with either UCN T0 or UCN T7 not significantly different to sham. 7D indicates that rats were sacrificed 7 days after initial injections and 14D after 14 days.n=4-5 rats in each treatment group.

4.3.4 TH assay

When the integrity of the DA system was studied on the basis of L-DOPA synthetic capacity, TH activity was greatly reduced in both the nigra and striata of 6-OHDA + vehicle and LPS + vehicle treated rats to less than 20% in comparison to sham treatment (nominally 100%; Figures 4.3.5 and 4.3.6). Co-administration of UCN with 6-OHDA or LPS however conserved the TH activity when UCN was administered at the same time as the toxins. When UCN was administered 7days after the toxins, when TH activity had significantly declined in both models, UCN appeared to reverse the loss of TH activity to levels not significantly lower than control (Figures 4.3.6 and 4.3.7).

Chapter 4: UCN confers neuroprotection after the lesion develops



Figure 4.3.5 The effect of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced TH activity loss 7 days after lesioning.

TH activity was measured as moles L-DOPA produced per min per gm protein after a 10 min enzyme assay using homogenates from SNc (a) and from Striatum (b). L-DOPA was quantified using HPLC-ED after reaction termination and DA was used as the internal standard. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001) for 6-OHDA + vehicle 14Dand (p<0.01) for 6-OHDA + vehicle 7D. 6-OHDA + UCN T0 or T7 not significantly different to sham. 6-OHDA + UCN T 7 indicate rats given UCN 7 days after 6-OHDA injection, and 6-OHDA + vehicle 14D and 6-OHDA + vehicle 7D indicate day of termination after injection of insult at 14 and 7 days respectively. n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.



Figure 4.3.6 The effect of UCN on LPS-induced TH activity loss 7 days after lesioning

TH activity was measured as described in Figure 4.3.5. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001) for LPS + vehicle 14Dand (p<0.01) for LPS + vehicle 7D. 6-OHDA + UCN T0 or T7 not significantly different to sham. LPS + UCN T 7 indicate rats given UCN 7 days after 6-OHDA injection, and LPS + vehicle 14D and LPS + vehicle 7D indicate day of termination after injection of insult at 14 and 7 days respectively. n=4-5 rats in each treatment group.

4.3.5 Western blotting

Relative TH protein expression in the different groups was measured using western blotting to assess whether the loss of activity of the TH enzyme was due to loss of protein. It is clear from the results obtained (Figure 4.3.7) that TH protein content was greatly reduced in the striata of 6-OHDA or LPS / vehicle treated rats in comparison to sham treatment. Co-administration of UCN with 6-OHDA or LPS, or injection of UCN seven days post-toxin both resulted in less reduction in TH protein (Figure 4.3.8).



Figure 4.3.7 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA and LPS-induced TH protein loss

Representative western blot analysis of TH protein content in striatal homogenates (in both 6-OHDA and LPS-lesioned rats). 6-OHDA + UCN T0 indicate rats that were administered 6-OHDA and UCN concomitantly. 6-OHDA + UCN T7 indicate rats administered UCN 7 days after 6-OHDA injection. LPS + UCN T0 indicate rats that were administered LPS and UCN concomitantly. LPS + UCN T7 indicate rats recieving UCN 7 days after LPS injection.

4.3.6 Immunohistochemistry

Nigral sections were subjected to TH staining to determine whether the changes in DA activity were due to modification in the number of DA neurons or alterations in the amount of TH in individual cells. It was clear from the images that there was a substantial loss in TH positive neurons after 7 days of insult injection, as illustrated in

image D in comparison to sham controls (Figure 4.3.8 for 6-OHDA and 4.3.9 for LPS), and when UCN was administered at this time point, i.e. after this significant cell loss, it can be observed that there was restoration of TH positive cells (image F; Figure 4.3.8 for 6-OHDA and 4.3.9 for LPS).



Figure 4.3.8 Representative photomicrographic images of rat brain SNc cross sections showing the effect of UCN on TH neuron loss after seven days from unilateral 6-OHDA lesioning

In each section a comparison can be made between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 4), sides labelled treated were treated with either vehicle only (a), 6-OHDA + vehicle (d) or 6-OHDA+ UCN T7 (f), sides labelled untreated are shown for better comparison. a: untreated SNc of rat that was treated with vehicle only on the other SNc b, c: untreated SNc of rat that was treated with 6-OHDA + vehicle on the other SNc D and terminated after 7 days. E: untreated SNc of rat that was treated with 6-OHDA + UCN T7 on the other SNc f. The orange brown colour (DAB stain) is indicative of TH positive neurons.



Figure 4.3.9 Representative photomicrographic images of rat brain SNc cross sections showing the effect of UCN on TH neuron cell loss seven days after LPS lesioning

In each section a comparison can be made between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 4), sides labelled treated were treated with either vehicle only (b), LPS + vehicle (d) or LPS + UCN T7 (f), sides labelled untreated are shown for better comparison. a: untreated SNc of rat that was treated with vehicle only on the other SNc b, c: untreated SNc of rat that was treated with LPS + vehicle on the other SNc d and terminated after 7 days. e: untreated SNc of rat that was treated with LPS + UCN T7 on the other SNc f. The orange brown colour (DAB stain) is indicative of TH positive neurons.

4.4 Discussion

It was previously observed that UCN, when given at the same time as 6-OHDA or LPS induced nigrostriatal lesions, was able to effect a dramatic reduction in key indicators of nigrostriatal neurodegeneration (chapter 3). Using these two models of PD the current data show that UCN is able to effect a significant reduction in apomorphine-induced circling behaviour, a restoration in striatal and nigral DA levels, TH activity and a retention of TH positive cells within the nigra. Crucially, in both paradigms, UCN is 'neuroprotective' both when given at the same time as the neurotoxic insult (chapter 3) and also when given seven days afterwards (where I have determined that the lesion is clearly established but still developing). Previous studies have revealed UCN to have cytoprotectant properties, for example Brar et al. (2002) found UCN to be protective against ischaemia/reperfusion injury in cardiac myocytes; an effect which was apparent after the cytotoxic insult had been delivered (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Brar *et al.*, 2002; Scarabelli *et al.*, 2002). UCN also confers protection in neuronal cell cultures, if given up to 8 h after the neurotoxic insult (Choi *et al.*, 2006; Facci *et al.*, 2003; Pedersen *et al.*, 2002)..

Of particular significance is the finding that UCN is able to arrest and possibly reverse nigrostriatal lesions, once the neurodegenerative process has commenced. This principle, if reproduced in the human brain, would have obvious clinical significance since patients generally present with symptoms only once nigral neuronal loss reaches 70-80% of the total nigral complement and striatal DA levels have fallen significantly (Abercrombie *et al.*, 1990). The ability to restore the indices of PD-like damage in DA nigrostriatal neurons seven days after administration of the neurotoxic insult is particularly significant, as it was determined that at this time point in the two models used the lesion had become established but was evidently still unstable since degeneration continued to proceed for at least a further seven days.

The key point from the present study is the ability of UCN to effect a preservation or restoration of nigrostriatal function once a lesion is established. Recent findings have shown that other drugs, particularly anti-inflammatory medicines, possess 'anti-parkinsonian' activity (Block *et al.*, 2007; Whitton, 2007). However, these drugs are

almost invariably given at the same time or prior to the neurotoxic insult (Hunter *et al.*, 2007). Since PD presents once the underlying lesion is well advanced, and very early diagnosis is quite difficult, the best these strategies can hope for would appear to be a deceleration in the rate of neuronal loss. Although of clear value this probable stabilization of hostile conditions (e.g. elevated proinflamatory cytokines, ROS) within the nigra is not a 'cure'. Realistically, the patients who are likely to benefit from these new findings are individuals taking drugs such as aspirin for cardiovascular disease in which the CNS is maintained in a tonic 'anti-inflammatory' state which may lessen the incidence or time of onset of PD. This does not, however, constitute a prophylactic treatment strategy for the population as a whole.

It is still unclear which molecular mechanisms are responsible for the effect of UCN. Because this peptide itself is unlikely to be of therapeutic use due to its physicochemical properties (MW: 4700), further understanding of the mechanism of action by which UCN elicits its neuroprotective effects would be of great value, and would hopefully uncover a target site that would be viable for future therapeutic applications.

Chapter 5: Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD

Chapter 5

Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD

5 Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD

5.1 Introduction

Most of the work that has been carried out to investigate the UCN peptide family as agents that ameliorate inflammatory responses has concluded that this group of peptides produce their effects through binding at CRF receptors and not through other mechanisms (Tao et al., 2005). These CRF receptors are G protein-coupled receptors which bind CRF and, as mentioned previously, CRF receptors have two main forms, type I and 2 or CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 (Hauger et al., 2003). CRF-R mediated antiinflammatory effects were indicated when UCN, which activates both CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 receptor types, and UCN III, which is highly selective for CRF2, brought about a reduction of the inflammatory response in the intestine and the lungs (Gonzalez-Rey et al., 2006; Moffatt et al., 2006; Reyes et al., 2001). UCN I, II and III have also been found to protect against ischaemia-reperfusion injury to cardiac myocytes, an effect seen when UCN was given either prior to ischemia or at the time of reperfusion after ischemia. This is believed to be due to binding of these peptides to the CRF-R2 β , which is expressed in the heart (Brar *et al.*, 2000). Since both receptors are present in the nigrostriatal pathway of the rat, with greater abundance of the CRF-R1 and only few CRF-R2 in the fundus of striatum (Potter et al., 1994; Van Pett et al., 2000), it was assumed that the effects UCN produced to reverse key parkinsonian features were achieved through binding to at least one of these receptors. The theory that UCN was conferring its effects through the CRF receptor family was tested through studying the effects of a non-selective CRF receptor antagonist, α -helical CRF, on UCN elicited effects.

While UCN itself is relatively non-selective for its target receptors (CRF-R1 and CRF-R2), UCN II and UCN III are far more selective for the CRF-R2 receptor (Reyes *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, establishing whether these two peptides possess any of the neuroprotective properties of UCN would further indicate the specific receptor UCN binds to elicit these effects.

Finally, the selective CRF-R1 antagonist, NBI-27914 was employed to determine the CRF-R1-dependency of the effects UCN had produced. The co-treatment of this antagonist with UCN seven days after injection of 6-OHDA, after the lesion significantly progresses, would also indicate if the CRF-R1 receptors survive the toxin lesioning at that time point.

5.2 Experiment design

It is reasonable to assume that there is no interaction between UCN and the toxins, 6-OHDA and LPS, as similar results were obtained with both of these animal models (chapter 3 and 4). Therefore I chose to use a single model of the disease in experiments investigating the target receptors through which UCN elicits its effects. The model chosen here was the 6-OHDA model; this was because this model was the harsher and the more established of the two.

In some experiments, UCNII or UCNIII were administered in place of UCN. In other experiments, the antagonists, α -helical CRF and NBI-27914, were administered prior to UCN, by i.c. and i.p. injection, respectively. Because α -helical CRF was administered i.c., its injection was only 5 minutes before UCN administration. As the highly lipophilic NBI-27914 was administered i.p., it was injected 30 minutes prior to UCN, as that would give it enough time to reach and bind CRF-R1 receptors in the SNc. While α -helical CRF was administered prior to UCN at the time of 6-OHDA lesioning, NBI-27914 was administered seven days after the initial injection of 6-OHDA, where treatment groups were assessed after another 7 days (section.2.1.4.2).

Animal treatments are described in more detail in section 2.1. All results in bar graphs are shown as mean \pm SEM. A schematic time bar is provided to clarify times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group (diagram 5 for α -helical-CRF, diagram 6 for UCNII & UCNIII and diagram 7 for NBI-27914). In total, 75 rats were used in this section

Chapter 5: Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD



Diagram 5 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is 6-OHDA only group, C is 6-OHDA + UCN group and D is 6-OHDA + α -helical-CRF + UCN only group. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 22



Diagram 6 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is 6-OHDA only group, C is 6-OHDA + UCN group, D is 6-OHDA + UCNII and E is 6-OHDA + UCNIII group. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 25



Diagram 7 Schematic time bar indicating times of injections and procedures carried out in each experimental group.

Where A is SHAM group, B is 6-OHDA + UCN at day 7 group, C is 6-OHDA + NBI group, D is 6-OHDA + (NBI + UCN) where NBI was given 30 minutes before UCN and 7 days after initial 6-OHDA treatment, and E is a sham group. Number of rats used in this expirement: n = 28

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Effects of non-selective CRF-R antagonism on UCNmediated neuroprotection.

5.3.1.1 Apomorphine challenge

When rats were treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle they displayed characteristics of unilateral nigrostriatal degeneration which was apparent after the animals were subjected to the apomorphine challenge where they demonstrated intense, tight contraversive circling which was significantly different to sham controls where no turning was observed (Figure 5.3.1). Again, as shown previously, rats treated with 6-OHDA and co-treated with UCN showed reduced sensitivity to the apomorphine challenge and exhibited a significantly lower number of turns when compared to 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals, leaving a residual number of turns that was not significantly different to control. When animals were treated with 6-OHDA and, before being treated with UCN, they were treated with the non-selective CRF-R antagonist, α - helical CRF, the effects of UCN were attenuated as indicated by a number of turns significantly higher than in sham controls (Figure 5.3.1).

Chapter 5: Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD



Figure 5.3.1 Effects of UCN in the presence of α -Helical CRF on 6-OHDAinduced contraversive turns in response to apomorphine.

Apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg) was administered through s.c injection. Turns were recorded in a 1.2 metre circular arena for all animals as mean counts / 120 s. * Significantly different to sham and UCN only treated groups (p<0.001),

^ significantly different than 6-OHDA + vehicle (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different than sham (p>0.05). n=6 rats in each treatment group

5.3.1.2 In vivo microdialysis

When rats were evaluated for functional integrity of the nigrostriatal pathway through *in vivo* microdialysis, extracellular DA levels in rats treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle disclosed significant reductions when compared to sham-operated animals both at basal levels and at potassium induced levels (Figure 5.3.2), whereas levels estimated in animals treated with 6-OHDA and UCN were comparable with sham equivalents. Animals treated with 6-OHDA followed by the non-selective CRF antagonist α - helical CRF, prior to treatment with UCN showed DA levels that were significantly lower than those in sham controls and similar to values of 6-OHDA +

vehicle treated rats, both at basal levels and at potassium induced levels (Figure 5.3.2). All right brain sides were untreated and displayed extracellular DA levels parallel to those of sham treated animals both at basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 5.3.2).





Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals were infused with high potassium (ACSF) for 30 min indicated by black rectangle. * Significantly different to sham and UCN only treated animals at both basal and potassium induced levels (p<0.01). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham. Bilateral microdialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y axis to facilitate data expression. n=4-5 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.1.3 Measurement of tissue DA

Tissue DA levels were assessed in both the nigra and striata of rats where animals treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle showed dramatic depletion of striatal DA levels which was significantly lower in sham operated animals (Figure 5.3.3). On the other

hand, rats that were co-treated with UCN in addition to 6-OHDA showed almost complete preservation of tissue DA levels. Animals treated with 6-OHDA followed by the non-selective CRF antagonist prior to UCN displayed tissue DA levels that were significantly lower than those in sham controls and comparable to values observed in 6-OHDA + vehicle treated rats (Figure 5.3.3).



Figure 5.3.3 Effects of UCN with and without α -helical CRF on 6-OHDA-induced tissue DA loss.

DA levels were measured in striata through HPLC-ED. * Significantly different to sham and UCN only treated rats (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different than sham (p>0.05). n=5 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.1.4 TH assay

When the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal DA system was evaluated through TH enzyme synthesising capacity, TH activity was significantly reduced in striata obtained from 6-OHDA + vehicle treated rats when compared to sham controls. This loss of TH activity due to 6-OHDA treatment was prevented by co-treatment with



UCN. Importantly, the effect of UCN was ablated when α -helical CRF was injected prior to UCN treatment and after injection of 6-OHDA (Figure 5.3.4).

Figure 5.3.4 The effect of UCN with and without α-helical CRF on 6-OHDAinduced TH activity loss.

TH activity was measured as moles L-DOPA produced per min per mg protein after a 10 min enzyme assay using homogenates from rat brain striata. L-DOPA was quantified using HPLC-ED after the termination of the reaction and DA was used as the internal standard. * Significantly different to sham and UCN only treated animals (p<0.001). n=5 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.1.5 Immunohistochemistry

When nigral sections were stained for TH positive neurons, it was clear that there was a marked difference between the TH positive neurons in the 6-OHDA lesioned SNc than in the non lesioned SNc, as illustrated in Figures 5.3.5 b. The effects of UCN can clearly be seen, with preservation of the TH positive cells (comparable to untreated SNc; Figure 5.3.5 d) in comparison to animals that were 6-OHDA-lesioned (Figure 5.3.5 b). Finally, when α -helical CRF was administered before UCN injection it reversed the effects of UCN in preserving TH positive cells (Figure 5.3.5 f). Untreated SNc were used as controls.



Figure 5.3.5 representative photomicrographic images of a rat brain SNc cross sections showing the effect of α -Helical CRF on reversing the preservative effects of UCN on TH neuron loss from 6-OHDA unilateral lesioning.

In each section a comparison can be made between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 6), sides labelled treated were treated 6-OHDA+ vehicle (b), 6-OHDA + UCN (d) or 6-OHDA + α -helical + UCN (f). SNc labelled untreated were used as controls. DAB stain (orange brown colour) is indicative of TH positive neurons.

5.3.2 Effects of UCNII and UCNIII in 6-OHDA lesioned

In this section either UCNII or UCNIII was used in place of UCN to examine any neuroprotective effect these peptides may possess in 6-OHDA lesioned animals.

5.3.2.1 Apomorphine challenge

As expected, rats treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle displayed characteristic turning behaviour of unilateral nigrostriatal degeneration (Figure 5.3.6). By contrast, rats treated with 6-OHDA and co-treated with UCN showed reduced sensitivity to the apomorphine challenge with significant reduction in the number of turns in comparison to 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals. When UCN II or UCN III were used in place of UCN, after 6-OHDA treatment, there was no significant reduction in circling behaviour, when compared to 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals, and rats exhibited a significantly greater number of turns compared to sham controls and 6-OHDA + UCN treated animals (Figure 5.3.6).



Figure 5.3.6 Effects of UCN on 6-OHDA-induced contraversive turns in response to apomorphine.

Apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg) was administered through s.c injection. Turns were recorded in a 1.2 metre circular arena for all animals as mean counts / 120 s. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated groups (p<0.001), $^{\circ}$ significantly different to 6-OHDA + vehicle (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham (p>0.05). n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.2.2 In vivo microdialysis

Rats were subject to *in vivo* microdialysis to evaluate the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal pathway through the measurement of extracellular DA levels. These measurements were performed both at basal levels and potassium induced levels (Figures 5.3.7 & 5.3.8). Extracellular DA levels in rats treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle were significantly reduced when compared to sham-operated animals, both at basal levels and at potassium induced levels. Again, levels in animals treated with 6-OHDA and UCN were comparable to sham equivalents. When UCN III (Figure 5.3.7) or UCN II (Figure 5.3.8) were used in the place of UCN after 6-OHDA treatment, there was no significant reduction in lesion severity, as indicated by extracellular DA levels significantly lower than sham controls and 6-OHDA + UCN treated animals at both basal and potassium induced DA levels (Figure 5.3.7 for UCN III and Figure 5.3.8 for UCN II). All right brain sides were untreated and displayed extracellular DA levels.



Figure 5.3.7 The effect of UCN III on loss of extracellular striatal DA levels after 6-OHDA unilateral lesionning. DA levels obtained from *in vivo* microdialysis Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals were infused with high potassium (ACSF) indicated by black rectangle. * Significantly different to sham at both basal and potassium induced levels (p<0.01). Bilateral microdialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y axis to facilitate data expression. n=4-5 rats in each treatment group.

Chapter 5: Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD



Figure 5.3.8 The effect of UCN II on loss of extracellular striatal DA levels after 6-OHDA unilateral lesionning. DA levels obtained from *in vivo* microdialysis Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals infused with high potassium (ACSF) indicated by black rectangle. * Significantly different to sham at both basal and potassium induced levels (p<0.01). Bilateral microdialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y axis to facilitate data expression. n=4-5 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.2.3 Measurement of tissue DA

When estimating the functionality of the TH enzyme through assessment of striatal tissue DA levels, animals treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle showed dramatic depletion of DA levels in comparison to sham operated animals (Figure 5.3.9). Again, rats that were co-treated with UCN in addition to 6-OHDA showed almost complete preservation of tissue DA levels. However, when UCN II or UCN III were used in place of UCN, after 6-OHDA treatment, there was no significant reduction in lesion severity when compared to 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals (Figure 5.3.9).

Chapter 5: Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD



Figure 5.3.9 Effects of UCN, UCN II and UCN III on 6-OHDA-induced tissue DA loss

DA levels were measured for striata through HPLC-ED. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated rats (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham (p>0.05) T0 indicates the UCN injections were made on the first day and about 5 minutes after 6-OHDA. n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.2.4 TH assay

When the TH enzyme assay was performed to estimate the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal DA system through the measure of L-DOPA synthesising capacity, TH activity was significantly reduced in striata obtained from 6-OHDA + vehicle treated rats when compared to sham controls. This loss of TH activity due to 6-OHDA treatment was prevented by co-treatment with UCN. When UCN II or UCN III were used in place of UCN, after 6-OHDA treatment, there was no significant reduction in lesion severity when compared to 6-OHDA + vehicle treated animals. 6-OHDA + UCN III or UCN II treated animals also displayed significantly lower TH activity when compared to either sham controls or 6-OHDA + UCN treated animals (figure 5.3.10).



Figure 5.3.10 The effect of UCN, UCN II and UCN III on 6-OHDA-induced TH activity loss

TH activity was measured as moles L-DOPA produced per min per g protein after a 10 min enzyme assay using homogenates from Striata. L-DOPA was quantified using HPLC-ED after the termination of the reaction and DA was used as the internal standard. * Significantly different to sham and UCN treated animals (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN not significantly different to sham. n=4-6 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.2.5 Immunohistochemistry

Nigral sections were subjected to TH staining in order to determine whether the changes in TH activity were mirrored by alterations in the amount of TH in the SNc. It can be clearly seen from the results that there was a marked reduction in TH positive staining in the 6-OHDA lesioned SNc in comparison to non lesioned SNc of the same rat, as illustrated in Figures 5.3.11 a and b, respectively. The effects of UCN treatment led to preservation of normal (comparable to untreated SNc) TH positive staining in the SNc of 6-OHDA treated animals (Figure 5.3.11 d). However, when UCN III or UCN II were co-administered with 6-OHDA, they did not have any preservative effects on TH positive cells (Figure 5.3.11 f and h respectively)



Figure 5.3.11 Representative photomicrographic images of a rat brain SNc cross sections showing the effect of UCN, UCNII and UCNIII on the neuron loss due to unilateral 6-OHDA lesionning.

In each section a comparison can be done between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 4), sides labelled treated were treated with 6-OHDA + vehicle (b), 6-OHDA + UCN (d), 6-OHDA + UCN II (f) or 6-OHDA + UCN III (h). SNc labelled untreated were treated as controls. DAB stain (orange-brown colour) is indicative of TH positive neurons.

5.3.3 Effect of the selective CRF-R1 receptor antagonist NBI – 27914 on UCN-mediated neuroprotection

In this section UCN was used in conjunction with the selective CRF-R1 antagonist NBI-27914 in the 6-OHDA PD model to determine the effects of this antagonist on the neuroprotective effects of UCN. This antagonist was administered after the lesion had progressed to assess if the CRF-R1 receptors would survive the damage caused by 6-OHDA after seven days; when UCN is administered.

5.3.3.1 Apomorphine challenge

Rats that were treated with 6-OHDA and vehicle displayed characteristics of unilateral nigrostriatal degeneration, in response to apomorphine challenge, as previously. NBI-27914 alone was without effect. By contrast, when the rats were treated with 6-OHDA and co-treated with UCN seven days *after the injection of insult*, reduced sensitivity to the apomorphine challenge was displayed. Animals that were treated with 6-OHDA and seven days later were exposed to the selective CRF antagonist NBI-27914, prior to UCN, turned significantly more than controls (NBI-27914+vehicle) and sham treated (Figure 5.3.12).

Chapter 5: Receptor targets for UCN in rat models of PD



Figure 5.3.12 Effects of NBI-27914 on UCN's attenuation of 6-OHDA-induced contraversive turns in response to apomorphine.

Apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg) was administered through s.c injection. Turns were recorded in a 1.2 metre circular arena from all animals as mean counts / 120 s.

* Significantly different to NBI-27914 + vehicle and sham (p<0.001), ^ significantly different to 6-OHDA + NBI-27914 (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN T7 not significantly different than NBI-27914 + vehicle (p>0.05) but significantly different than 6-OHDA + (NBI + UCN) T7 (p<0.01). 6-OHDA + (NBI + UCN) T7 indicates that rats were given both NBI and UCN seven days after injection of 6-OHDA. n=6 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.3.2 In vivo microdialysis

In vivo microdialysis was used to evaluate the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal pathway through measuring extracellular DA levels at both basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 5.3.13). Extracellular DA levels in rats treated with 6-OHDA + UCN were significantly lower than the levels in untreated sides of all animals (control) both at basal and at potassium induced levels. In contrast, when the rats were treated with the insults and co-treated with UCN seven days after the injection of insult, extracellular DA levels were restored to control at both basal and potassium induced levels (Figure 5.3.13). Animals that were treated with 6-OHDA and after seven days were administered the selective CRF antagonist NBI-27914 i.p. injection,

30 minutes prior to UCN, showed significant reduction in extracellular DA levels (Figure 5.3.13). Rats treated with 6-OHDA followed by UCN 7 days later showed DA levels that were not significantly different to untreated sides. All right hand sides were untreated and displayed extracellular DA levels equivalent to those of shams both at basal and potassium induced levels (as shown previously) and were thus considered as controls.



Figure 5.3.13 The effect of UCN with and without NBI-27914 on loss of extracellular striatal DA levels due to unilateral 6-OHDA lesionning. DA levels obtained from *in vivo* microdialysis.

Microdialysis was performed over a period of 4 hours both at basal levels, and potassium induced levels where animals were infused with high potassium (ACSF) for 30 min indicated by black rectangle. * Significantly different than sham at both basal and potassium induced levels (p<0.001). 6-OHDA + UCN T7 not significantly different to untreated sides. Bilateral micro dialysis was performed with L indicating left or treated side and R indicating right or untreated side. Break in Y axis to facilitate data expression. n=4-5 rats in each treatment group.
5.3.3.3 Measurement of tissue DA

Tissue DA levels were assessed in rat striata where animals treated with 6-OHDA and NBI-27914 exhibited dramatic reductions in striatal DA levels which were significantly lower than those in sham operated and control (NBI + vehicle) treated animals (Figure 5.3.14). Again, rats that were treated with UCN seven days post-6-OHDA showed almost complete restoration of tissue DA levels. These effects were prevented by treatment with NBI-27914 30 mins prior to UCN. Animals receiving only NBI and vehicle did not show any significant change in DA tissue levels in comparison to untreated sides (not shown) and were considered as controls.



Figure 5.3.14 Effects of UCN with and without NBI-27914 on 6-OHDA-induced tissue DA loss from 6-OHDA lesionning

DA levels were estimated for striata through HPLC-ED. * Significantly different to vehicle + NBI and sham (p<0.05). 6-OHDA + UCN T7 not significantly different to NBI-27914 + vehicle (p>0.05). n=5-6 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.3.4 TH enzyme assay

When the functional integrity of the nigrostriatal DA system was evaluated through the L-DOPA synthesising capacity of the TH enzyme, TH activity was significantly reduced in striata obtained from 6-OHDA + vehicle treated rats when compared to NBI-27914 + vehicle treated animals. This loss of TH activity due to 6-OHDA treatment was prevented by co-treatment of UCN even when administered seven days after the lesion had progressed and TH activity had significantly dropped. This effect of UCN was reversed when NBI- 27914 was injected prior to UCN treatment and seven days after injection of the insult. NBI-27914 + vehicle alone did not have any significant effect on TH activity and was considered as a control (Figure 5.3.15).



Figure 5.3.15 The effect of UCN with and without NBI-27914 on 6-OHDAinduced TH activity loss due to 6-OHDA unilateral lesionning.

TH activity was measured as moles L-DOPA produced per min per gm protein after a 10 min enzyme assay using striatal homogenates. L-DOPA was quantified using HPLC-ED and DA was used as the internal standard. * Significantly different to (NBI + vehicle) and sham (p<0.001). 6-OHDA and UCN T7 not significantly different to NBI-27914 + vehicle. NBI-27914 + vehicle not significantly different to untreated sides. n=5-6 rats in each treatment group.

5.3.3.5 Immunohistochemistry

When nigral sections were stained for TH positive neurons, it was clear that there was a substantial difference between TH positive staining in the 6-OHDA lesioned SNc than in the non lesioned SNc, where as NBI-27914 did not have any effect on 6-OHDA mediated cell loss, as illustrated in Figure 5.3.5 d when compared to either the non treated side of the same animal (Figure 5.3.16 c) or to NBI-27914 + vehicle treated SNc (Figure 5.3.16 b). When UCN was administered 7 days after 6-OHDA injection its neuroprotective effects can be clearly seen, with preservation of the normal (comparable to controls (NBI-27914+vehicle treated or untreated SNc) TH positive cells in the SNc of lesioned animals (Figure 5.3.16 f). Finally, when NBI-27914 was used prior to UCN injection and seven days after initial 6-OHDA injection, this selective CRF-R1 antagonist reversed the effects of UCN preserving TH positive neurons (Figure 5.3.16 h). NBI-27914 + vehicle alone was without effect and was treated as control (Figure 5.3.16 b).



a: Saline + NBI untreated side



b: saline + NBI treated side



c: 6-OHDA + NBI untreated side





g: 6-OHDA+NBI+UCN untreated



d: 6-OHDA + NBI treated side



f: 6-OHDA+UCN T7 treated



Figure 5.3.16 Representative photomicrographic images of a rat brain SNc cross sections showing the effect of NBI-27914 on reversing the UCN preservative effect on TH neurons after 6-OHDA unilateral lesioning.

In each section a comparison can be made between treated and untreated SNc in an individual rat (image shown is one example from a group of 6), in first example, A was untreated and (b) was treated with vehicle + NBI, and image d shows 6-OHDA+ vehicle treated SNc, image f shows 6-OHDA + UCN T7 treated SNc and finally Image h shows 6-OHDA + (NBI-27914 + UCN) T7. SNc labelled untreated were untreated were used as controls. DAB stain (orange brown colour) is indicative of TH positive neurons.

5.4 Discussion

In order to establish the receptor target through which UCN was mediating its neuroprotective effects, known ligands for CRF-R1 and CRF-R2 sites were utilized. As shown in the results, UCN failed to attenuate either apomorphine-induced circling, DA depletion or loss of TH activity and staining when administered after the injection of the mixed CRF-R1/R2 antagonist, α -helical-CRF9-41 (section 5.3.1). This finding confirms that the UCN elicited effects were CRF receptor mediated and not a result of possible neuroprotection resulting from other non-receptor mediated events, such as the reduction of intracellular Ca⁺² due to calcium channel blockade (Stefani et al., 1998; Tao et al., 2006). Furthermore, UCN II and UCN III, two selective ligands for CRF-R2 (Reyes et al., 2001) sites had no effect on either apomorphine-induced circling, reduction in tissue DA content or TH activity (section 5.3.2). Similar data were found for preservation of TH positive nigral cells and dialysate DA levels. From these data the logical conclusion is that the observed effects of UCN in this work are being mediated by CRF-R1 receptors, and not through ion mediated target sites indicated in some studies (Tao et al., 2005). Recent findings have shown that UCN promotes the survival of cultured cerebellar GABAergic neurons through the CRF-R1 receptor (Choi et al., 2006). Also, the involvement of the CRF-R1 becomes more probable due to its significant presence in the SNc (Van Pett et al., 2000).

All of these findings were supported by the work using NBI-27914 (section 5.3.3), where this selective CRF-R1 antagonist reversed the preservative effects of UCN on reducing the overall severity of the lesion seven days after insult treatment. This process, which occurs after the lesion has progressed, not only validates that the UCN effects are CRF-R1 mediated, but also indicates that the cells where the receptors are located have also survived the lesion, even after it has significantly progressed. If this situation occurs also in the PD brain, these data would indicate that UCN could the of established PD. possess potential utility in treatment

Chapter 6: General Discussion

Chapter 6

General Discussion

6 General Discussion

This project started out with the aim to explore the potential usefulness of a CRF related peptide in the treatment of PD. This peptide, UCN, which has been shown to possess anti-inflammatory properties (Brar et al., 2000), would be examined for any positive effects it has on a well established in vivo model of PD (the 6-OHDA model). This paradigm which has been used for over four decades would serve as an initial indicator for any value that UCN may hold in the treatment of PD. The manner in which the peptide was evaluated for efficacy was through one direct injection into the SNc, the area containing the neuronal cell bodies of the DA neurons, five minutes after the injection of the 6-OHDA insult. The aim here was to determine if UCN injection would have any preservative effects on the integrity of the 6-OHDA affected nigrostriatal pathway. When this was achieved, it was essential to exclude UCN from being toxin specific and having interacted with 6-OHDA itself, thus preventing it from giving its full toxic effects. To achieve this, another rodent model of PD was used, the LPS model. The advantage of this model was that the means by which it initiates the lesion is through neuroinflammation, which is a different mode of action than that of 6-OHDA. Again UCN achieved similar effect in the LPS model to those using the 6-OHDA one. The findings where UCN gave similar neuro-preservative effects in both models of the disease made it reasonable to assume that the UCN protection was not model specific.

After establishing the effectiveness of UCN in preventing key indices of PD like effects in two distinct models of PD, it was quite evident that this protective effect would be of limited use in the treatment of PD, as in the majority of PD patients the disease would be only diagnosed subsequent to significant neuronal loss in the nigrostriatal pathway. If UCN is to be of any therapeutic value, it would have to prove its effectiveness after significant damage to the nigrostriatal pathway had already occurred. For this to be achieved, a time point at which considerable damage to the nigrostriatal pathway would occur had to be chosen, and at this time point UCN would be administered in the two rodent models of the disease used. When UCN was proven to be effective in preserving and even reversing neuronal cell loss in two distinct models of PD, even when the lesion had significantly progressed, the therapeutic potential of this molecule was indicated. One major problem however would be the unfavourable physicochemical properties of UCN, which would limit its therapeutic use due to its limited access to the brain.

In order to overcome this obstacle, another molecule that possesses the same neuroprotective effects as UCN but with favourable physicochemical properties would have to be used. To do so, the target sites and the mechanism of action by which UCN provides its neuronal protection would have to be first uncovered.

The first targets expected to be implicated were the CRF receptors, CRF-R1 and CRF-R2. To confirm this theory; a non selective CRF-R antagonist was used prior to the administration of UCN in the 6-OHDA rodent model of the disease. As this antagonist blocked the preservative effects of UCN, it was evident that the UCN effects are receptor mediated, and as previous findings found the CRF-R2 to be responsible for anti inflammatory effects, two specific CRF-R2 agonists were evaluated for their neuroprotective efficacy, these were UCNII and UCNIII (Reyes *et al.*, 2001). When these two peptides did not show any of the observed UCN effects on nigrostriatal damage, it was determined by a simple case of elimination that UCN exerted its neuro protective effects through the CRF-R1; an outcome confirmed when the selective CRF-R1 antagonist NBI-27914 reversed the UCN induced neuroprotection in the 6-OHDA PD model.

Taken as a whole, the presented data reveal that UCN can act as a potent neuroprotective agent in two distinct rodent models of PD at a dose that was found to be effective in a variety of other studies (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Brar *et al.*, 2002; Choi *et al.*, 2006; Facci *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, multiple parameters of nigrostriatal pathway activity and nigral neuronal integrity were assessed. This approach has important strengths over 'single parameter' studies, given that human PD pathology is complex and multi-component (Blum *et al.*, 2001; Gandhi *et al.*, 2005; Tatton *et al.*, 1998). Of particular significance was the finding that UCN was able to arrest and possibly reverse nigrostriatal lesions once the neurodegenerative process has commenced. This

principle, if reproduced in the human brain, would have obvious clinical significance, since patients generally present with symptoms only once nigral neuronal loss reaches 70-80% of the total nigral complement and striatal DA levels have fallen significantly (Abercrombie et al., 1990). Aside from an apparent facility for preservation of cells, it is possible that UCN may act to stimulate DA neurons via several distinct mechanisms. Recent studies have shown that UCN potentiates release of DA from electrically stimulated rat striatal slices (Bagosi et al., 2006) and increases TH mRNA levels expressed by PC-12 cells (Nanmoku et al., 2005), a cell type phenotypically related to midbrain DA neurons. In the present study, UCN appears to 'reverse' loss of TH positive cell bodies and dendrites, since TH staining in rats terminated seven days post-toxin was noticeably lower than for those where UCN was also administered at this time point, but termination occurred at day fourteen. The underlying cellular mechanism responsible for this highly significant finding is as yet, unclear, although it is possible that UCN increases expression of TH protein in remaining cells (Nanmoku et al., 2005), whilst also effecting a re-growth and remodelling of surviving dendrites, as observed by Swinny et al. (2004) using cerebellar Purkinje cells in vitro, where UCN was able to induce a dramatic increase in dendritic growth in these cultured cells (Swinny et al., 2004). Interestingly, Scarabelli et al. (2002) also report an apparent restorative action of UCN in damaged cardiac myocytes (Scarabelli et al., 2002). In addition, it is also probable that UCN achieves a neuroprotective effect partly via prevention of apoptotic cell death (Intekhad-Alam et al., 2004; Scarabelli et al., 2002). Furthermore, studies have shown that this CRF like peptide significantly reduces the number of end-stage apoptotic nuclei observed in random nigral fields, following intracerebral 6-OHDA injection (Biggs et al., 2006), a significant finding, since apoptosis is an important mechanism in neurotoxicity (Cutillas et al., 1999) and human PD (Tatton et al., 1998). In the present work, the use of the single-dose LPS PD model (Gao et al., 2003; Herrera et al., 2000) increases the significance of my data, given that recent evidence supports a neuroinflammatory component in the aetiology of human PD (Block et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2003; Whitton, 2007) and that UCN itself possesses anti-inflammatory properties (Gonzalez-Rey et al., 2006). This agrees with the

finding where UCN was observed to protect DA neurons from LPS-induced neurotoxicity in mesencephalic neuron-glia cultures through inhibiting microglial activation (Wang *et al.*, 2007).

The observations that UCN restores both basal and potassium-evoked release of striatal DA, after either 6-OHDA or LPS, suggests that it is able to elicit a functional recovery in nigrostriatal neurotransmission. This recovery in extracellular DA will most probably permit the return of normal motor activity through restoring the D1 and D2 receptor balance in the striatum, a very significant event since the ability of UCN to effect this preservation or restoration of nigrostriatal function takes place once a lesion is established. In contrast, other agents explored for their anti parkinsonian ability were almost always used either at the same time or prior to the neurotoxic insult (Block *et al.*, 2007; Hunter *et al.*, 2007; Whitton, 2007). Unfortunately for PD patients however, the disease only presents after considerable degeneration to the nigrostriatal system has already occurred, so unless there was an early diagnosis of the disease, which is unlikely, most of these agents would be of limited therapeutic benefit.

Overall, the results greatly add to a growing knowledge base, whereby UCN mediates cytoprotection in cardiac tissues (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Brar *et al.*, 2002; Scarabelli *et al.*, 2002) and cultured neurons (Choi *et al.*, 2006; Facci *et al.*, 2003; Pedersen *et al.*, 2002), with the crucial refinement that we have demonstrated efficacy in an *in vivo* model of a currently incurable neuropathology. The apparent ability of UCN to arrest nigrostriatal damage, and possibly stimulate remaining cells, suggests a novel mechanism, which if translated therapeutically would offer a significant advance in PD treatment. This principle has recently been proposed as an essential prerequisite for the basis of a meaningful advance in PD therapy (Meissner *et al.*, 2004).

The precise neuroanatomical site through which UCN exerts its neuroprotective effects is yet unclear, although a local action at the level of nigral cell bodies and dendrites seems likely, given the presence of CRF-R1 immunoreactivity here

(Sauvage *et al.*, 2001) and widespread distribution of UCN in the brain (Vasconcelos *et al.*, 2003; Yamamoto *et al.*, 1998). Studies utilizing cerebellar granule cells and hippocampal neurons (Pedersen *et al.*, 2002) also suggest that engagement of CRF-R1 is necessary for neuroprotection.

The rapidly expanding interest in UCN itself and central CRF receptor pharmacology is supporting the development of novel small molecule agonists, with selectivity for CRF-R1 and R2 receptor subtypes, some of which will likely be suitable for evaluation in pre-clinical and clinical paradigms. It is believed that the presented work is an important first step towards validating UCN and central CRF-R1 receptors as potential future targets in the treatment of human PD.

The pharmacology of these receptors has thus far not been fully investigated (Reul *et al.*, 2002) and as such establishing clearly the identity of CRF receptors expressed by nigral cells is of considerable importance. There is, however, evidence that UCN is able to mediate protection of some neurons via activation of the CRF1 subtype (Choi *et al.*, 2006; Facci *et al.*, 2003; Pedersen *et al.*, 2002), whilst other groups have cited activation of CRF2 splice variants as a key event (Brar *et al.* 2002; Interkhad-Alam *et al*, 2004). The possibility that UCN may have the ability to 'rescue' damaged cells has been postulated in some studies, most notably in isolated cardiac myocytes (Brar *et al.*, 2002) and the heart ex vivo (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Scarabelli *et al.*, 2002). Other authors have demonstrated an anti-apoptotic effect mediated by UCN, in response to challenge with well-characterised pro-apoptotic stimuli (Intekhad-Alam *et al.*, 2004). UCN is known to interact with a number of intracellular signaling pathways (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Lawrence *et al.*, 2002; Scarabelli *et al.*, 2002), and modulation of one or more of these may mediate sparing of nigrostriatal cells.

The precise mechanism behind UCN's effects were further clarified when the neuroprotective action of UCN was blocked by the non-selective CRF receptor antagonist α -helical CRF, indicating that this was a receptor mediated event and not ion channel mediated (Tao *et al.*, 2005; Verkhratsky *et al.*, 2003), where researchers have indicated that the inhibition of calcium channels and the reduction of

154

intracellular Ca^{+2} could be responsible for neuroprotection (Stefani *et al.*, 1998; Tao *et al.*, 2006). This finding is of particular importance since researchers have observed that some neurodegenerative disorders like PD were associated with calcium overload (Verkhratsky *et al.*, 2003).

On the other hand, neither UCN II nor UCN III, which are essentially selective for CFR-R2 sites (Reyes *et al.*, 2001), were not effective in reducing the lesion severity after toxin treatment. This left, by a process of elimination, the CRF-R1 site as the target receptor in protecting and/or restoring nigrostriatal function, a finding verified by studies utilizing cerebellar granule cells and hippocampal neurons (Pederson *et al.*, 2002), which also suggest that the engagement of CRF-R1 is necessary for neuroprotection. Facci *et al.* (2003) also confirmed these findings when they observed that potent neuroprtectantion conferred by CRF peptides was entirely mediated by CRF-R1 (Facci *et al.*, 2003). All of these outcomes, including the findings in the present work, were supported by CRF-R1 immunoreactivity at the level of nigral cell bodies and dendrites (Sauvage *et al.*, 2001).

The role of the CRF-R1 was finally validated when the selective CRF-R1 antagonist NBI-27914 was used in conjunction with UCN treatment after toxin injection, where it was evident that the preservative effects of UCN on improving the overall severity of the lesion were reversed by this antagonist. This process, which occurs after the lesion progresses, not only confirms the CRF-R1 as the target for the UCN mediated effects, but also verifies that the speculated means through which UCN was working would also survive after the lesion had significantly progressed, indicating that these possible neuroprotective mechanisms would still be valuable when treating PD patients, which when diagnosed, will most certainly have suffered significant degradation of the nigrostriatal pathway.

However, the specific cellular events beyond this level are as yet unclear, at least in the SNc. It is known that in general both CRF1 and CRF2 receptors are coupled to the generation of cAMP and this appears to be common to both the cardioprotective (Brar *et al.*, 2000; Brar *et al.*, 2002) and the neuroprotective effects of the UCNs (Facci *et al.*, 2003), as elevating intracellular cAMP levels promotes survival of neurons

including DA neurons (Facci *et al.*, 2003; Mena *et al.*, 1995). The mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway has been suggested to be central to the protective actions of UCN in cardiac cells, although via the CRF2 receptor (Herrera *et al.*, 2000), but it has been indicated that the involvement of CRF-R1 versus CRF-R2 in mediating the different actions of UCN may be determined by the relative abundance of the receptors at the site of action (Pedersen *et al.*, 2002).

Activation of CRF-R1 receptors has also been suggested to lead eventually to expression of brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), a protein present in the brain which helps in supporting the survival of existing neurons and also encourages the growth and differentiation of new neurons (Russo-Neustadt *et al.*, 2000). Mohapel et al. (2005) also observed that BDNF was able to generate and recruit new neurons into the striatum of 6-OHDA lesioned rats (Mohapel *et al.*, 2005). Endogenous BDNF is produced as a result of cAMP elevation due to adenylate cyclase (AC) activation. The cAMP elevation then activates protein kinase A (PKA), which is known to phosphorylate Ca²⁺ channels, causing an increased Ca²⁺ influx and consequently activating BDNF expression. The activated PKA also phosphorylates cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) which initiates the expression of BDNF (Bayatti *et al.*, 2005). Whether UCN's neuroprotection is due to the activation of all the cAMP mediated intracellular signalling pathways or a specific one is still not clear, but for the time being my data show that these effects are CRF-R1 mediated.

Some studies have suggested the possibility that UCN is instigating de-novo neurogenesis, presumably from recruited stem cells (Borta *et al.*, 2007). Although it has still not been proven, it is possible that UCN is able to rescue DA neurons that would otherwise have been damaged beyond repair, as well as possibly stabilizing the nigral environment due to its anti-inflammatory properties, as UCN might reduce the massive astrogliosis which arises in the SNc as a result of LPS toxicity (Hirsch *et al.*, 2005), which possibly happens in PD.

In summary, the presented data constitute the first report of a restoration of nigrostriatal damage in two distinct models of PD once the lesion has become established. It is quite understandable that UCN itself is unlikely to be of therapeutic use due to its physicochemical properties, where UCN is a relatively large molecule with very poor blood brain barrier penetration, so in order to achieve substantial therapeutic relevance, a means by which central CRF-R1 sites can be activated is clearly essential. It is also clear that the global activation of CRF-R1 receptors with an accompanied stimulation of the HPA axis will have potentially unpleasant side effects. Such an action could lead to acute increase in anxiety and, in the long term, depression. Moreover, as UCN itself may be unlikely to be of therapeutic use due to its physicochemical properties, it could be administered in the same manner as GDNF which would probably avert any possible effect on the HPA axis, which would need to be weighed against the severity of PD itself. However, recently, small, lipophillic, CRF-R1 selective antagonists have become available and CRF receptor pharmacology is an expanding field. If CNS permeable CRF-R1 agonists become available they may, therefore, offer new potential therapeutic possibilities in PD treatment. However, HPA axis stimulation would again become a potential issue, which may have to be weighed against the physical severity of PD and the resulting long-term emotional determent caused by the disease itself. To the advantage of UCN however, the observed neuroprotective effects elicited by this peptide in this work were a result of a single reasonably high dose administration rather than repeated smaller doses, this has also been observed with UCN's effect on dendritic growth of cerebellar Perkinje in situ, where it was the single high dose of the peptide and not the repeated small doses that resulted in this significant dendritic growth (Swinny et al., 2004).

Comparatively recently it has become apparent that the CNS has some facility for self repair, though not on a scale sufficient to compensate for a disorder as severe as PD. However, stimulation of the CNS to increase its ability for neurogenesis or cytoprotection may offer a significant advance and already neuropeptides such as glial-cell derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) are being studied as potential treatments in PD (Yasuhara *et al.*, 2007). This self repair process could also in part underlie a possible mechanism for UCN's effects.

Whether UCN possesses the ability to stimulate neurogenesis and self repair is still not known. This possibility, however, warrants further investigation to determine if this is possible and, if so, to what extent.

In this work, UCN was demonstrated to possess neuroprotective and neurorestorative properties which can possibly be employed in the treatment of PD. Whether, ultimately, UCN itself, or a CRF-R1 selective agonist is used for future pre-clinical trials in primate models of PD is still to be determined. Until that becomes possible, one important aspect that merits investigation is the long term effect of UCN; that is, to determine if the observed restorative and protective effects observed in the present work are sustainable.

6.1 Future work

One important aspect that needs to be clarified is whether neurogenesis plays a role in the restorative effects UCN elicits on the nigrostriatal pathway. For this to be achieved, similar experiments as in chapter 4 should be carried out, and initially it would be sufficient to use a single model of PD (e.g. 6-OHDA). In this set of experiments neurogenesis would be investigated via the use of a neurogenesis detector (e.g. Bromodeoxyuridine). The verification of this and its extent would serve as another advantage for UCN in the treatment of PD, and would support further investigation of UCN's potential in primate models of the disease. Also if UCN did prove to be instigating significant neurogenesis, human trials would be possible in end stage PD patients where the destruction of the nigrostriatal pathway is complete.

One other aspect worth investigating is whether the effects observed by UCN are maintained. This would be a very important aspect to evaluate as the value of UCN as a PD treatment would only be attained if the peptide's effect on restoring the nigrostriatal pathway were long lasting. To evaluate this long term experiments would have to be carried out, these would include assessing animals: days, weeks and months after the point of restoration has been reached. If after significant periods of

time UCN's effects were still maintained, this would provide more evidence that not only is this peptide restoring the nigrostriatal pathway, but it also allows for the longlasting survival of neurons in this pathway.

To confirm the findings in chapter 5, where UCN was found to be exerting its neuroprotective effects through the CRF-R1 receptor, a different approach would be useful, where it would be very interesting to see if UCN still conferred its neuroprotective effects in CRF-R1 Knock out animals that are lesioned with 6-OHDA. When UCN would still confer its neuroprotection this would again reinforce the implication and importance of the CRF-R1 as a possible target for PD treatment.

References

References

References

Aarsland, D, Hutchinson, M, Larsen, JP (2003) Cognitive, psychiatric and motor response to galantamine in Parkinson's disease with dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 18(10): 937-941.

Aarsland, D, Larsen, JP, Lim, NG, Janvin, C, Karlsen, K, Tandberg, E, Cummings, JL (1999) Range of neuropsychiatric disturbances in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 67(4): 492-496.

Aarsland, D, Litvan, I, Larsen, JP (2001) Neuropsychiatric symptoms of patients with progressive supranuclear palsy and Parkinson's disease. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 13(1): 42-49.

Abercrombie, ED, Bonatz, AE, Zigmond, MJ (1990) Effects of L-dopa on extracellular dopamine in striatum of normal and 6-hydroxydopamine-treated rats. Brain Res 525(1): 36-44.

Abuirmeileh, A, Hakavyi, A, Lever, R, Biggs, CS, Whitton, PS (2007) Urocortin, a CRF-like peptide, restores key indicators of damage in the substantia nigra in a neuroinflammatory model of Parkinson's disease. J Neuroinflammation 4(1): 19.

Abuirmeileh, A, Harkavyi, A, Lever, R, Biggs, CS, Whitton, PS (2007) Urocortin, a CRFlike peptide, restores key indicators of damage in the substantia nigra in a neuroinflammatory model of Parkinson's disease. J Neuroinflammation 4: 19.

Abuirmeileh, A, Lever, R, Kingsbury, AE, Lees, AJ, Locke, IC, Knight, RA, Chowdrey, HS, Biggs, CS, Whitton, PS (2007) The corticotrophin-releasing factor-like peptide urocortin reverses key deficits in two rodent models of Parkinson's disease. Eur J Neurosci 26(2): 417-423.

Albin, RL, Young, AB, Penney, JB (1989) The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. Trends Neurosci 12(10): 366-375.

Alm, PA (2004) Stuttering and the basal ganglia circuits: a critical review of possible relations. J Commun Disord 37(4): 325-369.

Aminoff, MJ (1994) Treatment of Parkinson's disease. West J Med 161(3): 303-308.

Anagnoste, B, Shirron, C, Friedman, E, Goldstein, M (1974) Effect of dibutyryl cyclic adenosine monophosphate on 14C-dopamine biosynthesis in rat brain striatal slices. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 191(3): 370-376.

Andersen, JK (2004) Oxidative stress in neurodegeneration: cause or consequence? Nat Med 10 Suppl: S18-25.

Arborelius, L, Owens, MJ, Plotsky, PM, Nemeroff, CB (1999) The role of corticotropinreleasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. J Endocrinol 160(1): 1-12. Axelrod, J, Inscoe, JK, Senoh, S, Witkop, B (1958) O-methylation, the principal pathway for the metabolism of epinephrine and norepinephrine in the rat. Biochim Biophys Acta 27(1): 210-211.

Axelrod, J, Senoh, S, Witkop, B (1958) O-Methylation of catechol amines in vivo. J Biol Chem 233(3): 697-701.

Bagosi, Z, Jaszberenyi, M, Bujdoso, E, Telegdy, G (2006) The effects of corticoptropinreleasing factor and the urocortins on striatal dopamine release induced by electrical stimulation-an in vitro superfusion study. Neurochem Res 31(2): 209-213.

Baram, TZ, Chalmers, DT, Chen, C, Koutsoukos, Y, De Souza, EB (1997) The CRF1 receptor mediates the excitatory actions of corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) in the developing rat brain: in vivo evidence using a novel, selective, non-peptide CRF receptor antagonist. Brain Res 770(1-2): 89-95.

Baram, TZ, Koutsoukos, Y, Schultz, L, Rivier, J (1996) The effect of 'Astressin', a novel antagonist of corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH), on CRH-induced seizures in the infant rat: comparison with two other antagonists. Mol Psychiatry 1(3): 223-226.

Bayatti, N, Hermann, H, Lutz, B, Behl, C (2005) Corticotropin-releasing hormone-mediated induction of intracellular signaling pathways and brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression is inhibited by the activation of the endocannabinoid system. Endocrinology 146(3): 1205-1213.

Bayatti, N, Zschocke, J, Behl, C (2003) Brain region-specific neuroprotective action and signaling of corticotropin-releasing hormone in primary neurons. Endocrinology 144(9): 4051-4060.

Beal, MF (2001) Experimental models of Parkinson's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 2(5): 325-334.

Betarbet, R, Sherer, TB, Greenamyre, JT (2002) Animal models of Parkinson's disease. *Bioessays* 24(4): 308-318.

Betarbet, R, Sherer, TB, MacKenzie, G, Garcia-Osuna, M, Panov, AV, Greenamyre, JT (2000) Chronic systemic pesticide exposure reproduces features of Parkinson's disease. Nat Neurosci 3(12): 1301-1306.

Betemps, EJ, Buncher, CR (1993) Birthplace as a risk factor in motor neurone disease and Parkinson's disease. Int J Epidemiol 22(5): 898-904.

Bhatia, KP, Marsden, CD (1994) The behavioural and motor consequences of focal lesions of the basal ganglia in man. Brain 117 (Pt 4): 859-876.

Biggs, CS, Pearce, BR, Fowler, LJ, Whitton, PS (1992) Regional effects of sodium valproate on extracellular concentrations of 5-hydroxytryptamine, dopamine, and their metabolites in the rat brain: an in vivo microdialysis study. J Neurochem 59(5): 1702-1708.

Biswas, SC, Ryu, E, Park, C, Malagelada, C, Greene, LA (2005) Puma and p53 play required roles in death evoked in a cellular model of Parkinson disease. Neurochem Res 30(6-7): 839-845.

Bjorklund, LM, Sanchez-Pernaute, R, Chung, S, Andersson, T, Chen, IY, McNaught, KS, Brownell, AL, Jenkins, BG, Wahlestedt, C, Kim, KS, Isacson, O (2002) Embryonic stem cells develop into functional dopaminergic neurons after transplantation in a Parkinson rat model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(4): 2344-2349.

Block, ML, Zecca, L, Hong, JS (2007) Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. Nat Rev Neurosci 8(1): 57-69.

Blum, D, Torch, S, Lambeng, N, Nissou, M, Benabid, AL, Sadoul, R, Verna, JM (2001) Molecular pathways involved in the neurotoxicity of 6-OHDA, dopamine and MPTP: contribution to the apoptotic theory in Parkinson's disease. Prog Neurobiol 65(2): 135-172.

Bohlen, V, Halbach (2005) Modeling neurodegenerative diseases in vivo review. Neurodegener Dis 2(6): 313-320.

Bonifati, DM, Kishore, U (2007) Role of complement in neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation. Mol Immunol 44(5): 999-1010.

Bonifati, V, Rizzu, P, van Baren, MJ, Schaap, O, Breedveld, GJ, Krieger, E, Dekker, MC, Squitieri, F, Ibanez, P, Joosse, M, van Dongen, JW, Vanacore, N, van Swieten, JC, Brice, A, Meco, G, van Duijn, CM, Oostra, BA, Heutink, P (2003) Mutations in the DJ-1 gene associated with autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism. Science 299(5604): 256-259.

Borta, A, Hoglinger, GU (2007) Dopamine and adult neurogenesis. J Neurochem 100(3): 587-595.

Brar, BK, Jonassen, AK, Stephanou, A, Santilli, G, Railson, J, Knight, RA, Yellon, DM, Latchman, DS (2000) Urocortin protects against ischemic and reperfusion injury via a MAPK-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 275(12): 8508-8514.

Brar, BK, Railson, J, Stephanou, A, Knight, RA, Latchman, DS (2002) Urocortin increases the expression of heat shock protein 90 in rat cardiac myocytes in a MEK1/2-dependent manner. J Endocrinol 172(2): 283-293.

Brar, BK, Stephanou, A, Okosi, A, Lawrence, KM, Knight, RA, Marber, MS, Latchman, DS (1999) CRH-like peptides protect cardiac myocytes from lethal ischaemic injury. Mol Cell Endocrinol 158(1-2): 55-63.

Brustle, O, Jones, KN, Learish, RD, Karram, K, Choudhary, K, Wiestler, OD, Duncan, ID, McKay, RD (1999) Embryonic stem cell-derived glial precursors: a source of myelinating transplants. Science 285(5428): 754-756.

Burke, RE, Antonelli, M, Sulzer, D (1998) Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic growth factor inhibits apoptotic death of postnatal substantia nigra dopamine neurons in primary culture. J Neurochem 71(2): 517-525.

Campbell, DG, Hardie, DG, Vulliet, PR (1986) Identification of four phosphorylation sites in the N-terminal region of tyrosine hydroxylase. J Biol Chem 261(23): 10489-10492.

Carlsson, A, Lindqvist, M, Magnusson, T (1957) 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine and 5hydroxytryptophan as reserpine antagonists. Nature 180(4596): 1200.

Castano, A, Herrera, AJ, Cano, J, Machado, A (2002) The degenerative effect of a single intranigral injection of LPS on the dopaminergic system is prevented by dexamethasone, and not mimicked by rh-TNF-alpha, IL-1beta and IFN-gamma. J Neurochem 81(1): 150-157.

Chan, DT, Mok, VC, Poon, WS, Hung, KN, Zhu, XL (2001) Surgical management of Parkinson's disease: a critical review. Hong Kong Med J 7(1): 34-39.

Charles, CJ, Rademaker, MT, Richards, AM, Yandle, TG (2006) Plasma urocortin 1 in sheep: regional sampling and effects of experimental heart failure. Peptides 27(7): 1801-1805.

Chatzaki, E, Charalampopoulos, I, Leontidis, C, Mouzas, IA, Tzardi, M, Tsatsanis, C, Margioris, AN, Gravanis, A (2003) Urocortin in human gastric mucosa: relationship to inflammatory activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88(1): 478-483.

Chaudhuri, KR, Healy, DG, Schapira, AH (2006) Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: diagnosis and management. Lancet Neurol 5(3): 235-245.

Chen, C (2006) Recent advances in small molecule antagonists of the corticotropin-releasing factor type-1 receptor-focus on pharmacology and pharmacokinetics. Curr Med Chem 13(11): 1261-1282.

Chen, S, Le, WD, Xie, WJ, Alexianu, ME, Engelhardt, JI, Siklos, L, Appel, SH (1998) Experimental destruction of substantia nigra initiated by Parkinson disease immunoglobulins. Arch Neurol 55(8): 1075-1080.

Chen, YE, Drucker, DJ (1997) Tissue-specific expression of unique mRNAs that encode proglucagon-derived peptides or exendin 4 in the lizard. J Biol Chem 272(7): 4108-4115.

Chesselet, M-F, Pierre-Olivier Fernagut, P-O, Sheila Fleming, S (2005) Parkinson's disease models: From

toxins to genes. Central nervous system disorders 2 (4).

Choi, JS, Pham, TT, Jang, YJ, Bui, BC, Lee, BH, Joo, KM, Cha, CI, Lee, KH (2006) Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and urocortin promote the survival of cultured cerebellar GABAergic neurons through the type 1 CRF receptor. J Korean Med Sci 21(3): 518-526.

Cohen, G (1984) Oxy-radical toxicity in catecholamine neurons. Neurotoxicology 5(1): 77-82.

Colpaert, FC (1987) Pharmacological characteristics of tremor, rigidity and hypokinesia induced by reserpine in rat. Neuropharmacology 26(9): 1431-1440.

Cotzias, GC (1968) L-Dopa for Parkinsonism. N Engl J Med 278(11): 630.

Cotzias, GC, Van Woert, MH, Schiffer, LM (1967) Aromatic amino acids and modification of parkinsonism. N Engl J Med 276(7): 374-379.

Crocker, A (1994) Dopamine- mechanisms of action. Australian prescriber 17((1)): 17-71.

Cubells, JF, Rayport, S, Rajendran, G, Sulzer, D (1994) Methamphetamine neurotoxicity involves vacuolation of endocytic organelles and dopamine-dependent intracellular oxidative stress. J Neurosci 14(4): 2260-2271.

Curtius, HC, Wolfensberger, M, Steinmann, B, Redweik, U, Siegfried, J (1974) Mass fragmentography of dopamine and 6-hydroxydopamine. Application to the determination of dopamine in human brain biopsies from the caudate nucleus. J Chromatogr 99(0): 529-540.

Cutillas, B, Espejo, M, Gil, J, Ferrer, I, Ambrosio, S (1999) Caspase inhibition protects nigral neurons against 6-OHDA-induced retrograde degeneration. Neuroreport 10(12): 2605-2608.

Czlonkowska, A, Kurkowska-Jastrzebska, I (2002) [The role of inflammatory reaction in Alzheimer's disease and neurodegenerative processes]. Neurol Neurochir Pol 36(1): 15-23.

Dahlstrom, A, Fuxe, K (1964) Localization of monoamines in the lower brain stem. Experientia 20(7): 398-399.

Davidson, C, Gow, AJ, Lee, TH, Ellinwood, EH (2001) Methamphetamine neurotoxicity: necrotic and apoptotic mechanisms and relevance to human abuse and treatment. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 36(1): 1-22.

Dawson, TM, Dawson, VL (2003) Rare genetic mutations shed light on the pathogenesis of Parkinson disease. J Clin Invest 111(2): 145-151.

Day, M, Wang, Z, Ding, J, An, X, Ingham, CA, Shering, AF, Wokosin, D, Ilijic, E, Sun, Z, Sampson, AR, Mugnaini, E, Deutch, AY, Sesack, SR, Arbuthnott, GW, Surmeier, DJ (2006)

Selective elimination of glutamatergic synapses on striatopallidal neurons in Parkinson disease models. Nat Neurosci 9(2): 251-259.

De Fanti, BA, Martinez, JA (2002) Central urocortin activation of sympathetic-regulated energy metabolism in Wistar rats. Brain Res 930(1-2): 37-41.

de Lau, LM, Breteler, MM (2006) Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol 5(6): 525-535.

de Lau, LM, Giesbergen, PC, de Rijk, MC, Hofman, A, Koudstaal, PJ, Breteler, MM (2004) Incidence of parkinsonism and Parkinson disease in a general population: the Rotterdam Study. Neurology 63(7): 1240-1244.

De Pablos, RM, Herrera, AJ, Villaran, RF, Cano, J, Machado, A (2005) Dopaminedependent neurotoxicity of lipopolysaccharide in substantia nigra. FASEB J 19(3): 407-409.

de Rijk, MC, Rocca, WA, Anderson, DW, Melcon, MO, Breteler, MM, Maraganore, DM (1997) A population perspective on diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. Neurology 48(5): 1277-1281.

De Souza, EB (1990). Vol. Seamon, K. B. (Academic, San Diego),

De Souza, EB (1995) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors: physiology, pharmacology, biochemistry and role in central nervous system and immune disorders. Psychoneuroendocrinology 20(8): 789-819.

Deane, KH, Spieker, S, Clarke, CE (2004) Catechol-O-methyltransferase inhibitors for levodopa-induced complications in Parkinson's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(4): CD004554.

DeLong, M (2000) Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis 7(5): 559-560.

DeLong, MR (2000) Functional and pathophysiological models of the basal ganglia: therapeutic implications. Rinsho Shinkeigaku 40(12): 1184.

Delplanque, J, Vasseur, F, Durand, E, Abderrahmani, A, Dina, C, Waeber, G, Guy-Grand, B, Clement, K, Weill, J, Boutin, P, Froguel, P (2002) Mutation screening of the urocortin gene: identification of new single nucleotide polymorphisms and association studies with obesity in French Caucasians. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87(2): 867-869.

Deng, H, Jankovic, J, Guo, Y, Xie, W, Le, W (2005) Small interfering RNA targeting the PINK1 induces apoptosis in dopaminergic cells SH-SY5Y. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 337(4): 1133-1138.

Dermitzaki, E, Tsatsanis, C, Minas, V, Chatzaki, E, Charalampopoulos, I, Venihaki, M, Androulidaki, A, Lambropoulou, M, Spiess, J, Michalodimitrakis, E, Gravanis, A, Margioris, AN (2007) Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and the urocortins differentially regulate catecholamine secretion in human and rat adrenals, in a CRF receptor type-specific manner. Endocrinology 148(4): 1524-1538.

Deumens, R, Blokland, A, Prickaerts, J (2002) Modeling Parkinson's disease in rats: an evaluation of 6-OHDA lesions of the nigrostriatal pathway. Exp Neurol 175(2): 303-317.

Dexter, DT, Carayon, A, Javoy-Agid, F, Agid, Y, Wells, FR, Daniel, SE, Lees, AJ, Jenner, P, Marsden, CD (1991) Alterations in the levels of iron, ferritin and other trace metals in Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases affecting the basal ganglia. Brain 114 (Pt 4): 1953-1975.

Dexter, DT, Holley, AE, Flitter, WD, Slater, TF, Wells, FR, Daniel, SE, Lees, AJ, Jenner, P, Marsden, CD (1994) Increased levels of lipid hydroperoxides in the parkinsonian substantia nigra: an HPLC and ESR study. Mov Disord 9(1): 92-97.

Di Monte, DA (2003) The environment and Parkinson's disease: is the nigrostriatal system preferentially targeted by neurotoxins? Lancet Neurol 2(9): 531-538.

Domenico Marco Bonifati, Kishore, U (2007) Molecular Immunology. 44 (Issue 5): Pages 999-1010

Donaldson, CJ, Sutton, SW, Perrin, MH, Corrigan, AZ, Lewis, KA, Rivier, JE, Vaughan, JM, Vale, WW (1996) Cloning and characterization of human urocortin. Endocrinology 137(9): 3896.

During, MJ, Cao, L, Zuzga, DS, Francis, JS, Fitzsimons, HL, Jiao, X, Bland, RJ, Klugmann, M, Banks, WA, Drucker, DJ, Haile, CN (2003) Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor is involved in learning and neuroprotection. Nat Med 9(9): 1173-1179.

Dzierba, CD, Tebben, AJ, Wilde, RG, Takvorian, AG, Rafalski, M, Kasireddy-Polam, P, Klaczkiewicz, JD, Pechulis, AD, Davis, AL, Sweet, MP, Woo, AM, Yang, Z, Ebeltoft, SM, Molski, TF, Zhang, G, Zaczek, RC, Trainor, GL, Combs, AP, Gilligan, PJ (2007) Dihydropyridopyrazinones and dihydropteridinones as corticotropin-releasing factor-1 receptor antagonists: structure-activity relationships and computational modeling. J Med Chem 50(9): 2269-2272.

Eng, J, Kleinman, WA, Singh, L, Singh, G, Raufman, JP (1992) Isolation and characterization of exendin-4, an exendin-3 analogue, from Heloderma suspectum venom. Further evidence for an exendin receptor on dispersed acini from guinea pig pancreas. J Biol Chem 267(11): 7402-7405.

Engelmann, M, Landgraf, R, Wotjak, CT (2004) The hypothalamic-neurohypophysial system regulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis under stress: an old concept revisited. Front Neuroendocrinol 25(3-4): 132-149.

Facci, L, Stevens, DA, Pangallo, M, Franceschini, D, Skaper, SD, Strijbos, PJ (2003) Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and related peptides confer neuroprotection via type 1 CRF receptors. Neuropharmacology 45(5): 623-636.

Fahn, S, Sulzer, D (2004) Neurodegeneration and neuroprotection in Parkinson disease. NeuroRx 1(1): 139-154.

Feany, MB, Bender, WW (2000) A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. Nature 404(6776): 394-398.

Fearnley, JM, Lees, AJ (1991) Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. Brain 114 (Pt 5): 2283-2301.

Ferreri, F, Agbokou, C, Gauthier, S (2006) Recognition and management of neuropsychiatric complications in Parkinson's disease. Cmaj 175(12): 1545-1552.

Fibiger, HC, Mogeer, EG (1971) Effect of acute and chronic methamphetamine treatment on tyrosine hydroxylase activity in brain and adrenal medulla. Eur J Pharmacol 16(2): 176-180.

Fleming, SM, Fernagut, PO, Chesselet, MF (2005) Genetic mouse models of parkinsonism: strengths and limitations. NeuroRx 2(3): 495-503.

Forno, LS, Langston, JW, DeLanney, LE, Irwin, I, Ricaurte, GA (1986) Locus ceruleus lesions and eosinophilic inclusions in MPTP-treated monkeys. Ann Neurol 20(4): 449-455.

Foye, WO, T.L. Lemke and D.A. Williams (1995) Principles of Medicinal Chemistry. . Vol. Fourth Edition, 1995. , Fourth Edition edn. Williams & Wilkins. .

Gandhi, S, Wood, NW (2005) Molecular pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Hum Mol Genet 14(18): 2749-2755.

Gao, HM, Liu, B, Zhang, W, Hong, JS (2003) Novel anti-inflammatory therapy for Parkinson's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 24(8): 395-401.

Gash, DM, Zhang, Z, Gerhardt, G (1998) Neuroprotective and neurorestorative properties of GDNF. Ann Neurol 44(3 Suppl 1): S121-125.

Gash, DM, Zhang, Z, Ovadia, A, Cass, WA, Yi, A, Simmerman, L, Russell, D, Martin, D, Lapchak, PA, Collins, F, Hoffer, BJ, Gerhardt, GA (1996) Functional recovery in parkinsonian monkeys treated with GDNF. Nature 380(6571): 252-255.

Gelb, DJ, Oliver, E, Gilman, S (1999) Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol 56(1): 33-39.

Ghaemi, M, Rudolf, J, Schmulling, S, Bamborschke, S, Heiss, WD (2000) FDG- and Dopa-PET in postencephalitic parkinsonism. J Neural Transm 107(11): 1289-1295.

Giasson, BI, Murray, IV, Trojanowski, JQ, Lee, VM (2001) A hydrophobic stretch of 12 amino acid residues in the middle of alpha-synuclein is essential for filament assembly. J Biol Chem 276(4): 2380-2386.

Gibb, WR, Lees, AJ (1988) A comparison of clinical and pathological features of young- and old-onset Parkinson's disease. Neurology 38(9): 1402-1406.

Gibb, WR, Scott, T, Lees, AJ (1991) Neuronal inclusions of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 6(1): 2-11.

Gill, S, Patel NK, O'Sullivan K, Brooks DJ, Hotton GR, Svendsen, al., Ce (2002) Intraparenchymal putaminal administration of glialderived neurotrophic factor in the treatment of advanced Parkinson's. Neurology 58(Suppl 3): A241.

Goedert, M (2001) The significance of tau and alpha-synuclein inclusions in neurodegenerative diseases. Curr Opin Genet Dev 11(3): 343-351.

Goetz, CG, Poewe, W, Rascol, O, Sampaio, C (2005) Evidence-based medical review update: pharmacological and surgical treatments of Parkinson's disease: 2001 to 2004. Mov Disord 20(5): 523-539.

Goke, R, Fehmann, HC, Linn, T, Schmidt, H, Krause, M, Eng, J, Goke, B (1993) Exendin-4 is a high potency agonist and truncated exendin-(9-39)-amide an antagonist at the glucagonlike peptide 1-(7-36)-amide receptor of insulin-secreting beta-cells. J Biol Chem 268(26): 19650-19655.

Goldstein, M, Battista, AF, Anagnoste, B, Ceasar, PM, Fuxe, K, Hokfelt, T (1974) The effect of ventromedial tegmental lesions on the disposition and biosynthesis of dopamine and serotonin. Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol 10: 45-53.

Gonzalez-Rey, E, Fernandez-Martin, A, Chorny, A, Delgado, M (2006) Therapeutic effect of urocortin and adrenomedullin in a murine model of Crohn's disease. Gut 55(6): 824-832.

Gotthardt, M, Lalyko, G, van Eerd-Vismale, J, Keil, B, Schurrat, T, Hower, M, Laverman, P, Behr, TM, Boerman, OC, Goke, B, Behe, M (2006) A new technique for in vivo imaging of specific GLP-1 binding sites: first results in small rodents. Regul Pept 137(3): 162-167.

Gowers, WR (1902) Taste and the fifth nerve. J Physiol 28(4): 300-303.

Greene, JG, Dingledine, R, Greenamyre, JT (2005) Gene expression profiling of rat midbrain dopamine neurons: implications for selective vulnerability in parkinsonism. Neurobiol Dis 18(1): 19-31.

Griffon, N, Sokoloff, P, Diaz, J, Levesque, D, Sautel, F, Schwartz, JC, Simon, P, Costentin, J, Garrido, F, Mann, A, et al. (1995) The dopamine D3 receptor and schizophrenia: pharmacological, anatomical and genetic approaches. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 5 Suppl: 3-9.

Grondin, R, Zhang, Z, Yi, A, Cass, WA, Maswood, N, Andersen, AH, Elsberry, DD, Klein, MC, Gerhardt, GA, Gash, DM (2002) Chronic, controlled GDNF infusion promotes structural and functional recovery in advanced parkinsonian monkeys. Brain 125(Pt 10): 2191-2201.

Gwinn-Hardy, K (2002) Genetics of parkinsonism. Mov Disord 17(4): 645-656.

Haeger, P, Andres, ME, Forray, MI, Daza, C, Araneda, S, Gysling, K (2006) Estrogen receptors alpha and beta differentially regulate the transcriptional activity of the Urocortin gene. J Neurosci 26(18): 4908-4916.

Hashimoto, K, Nishiyama, M, Tanaka, Y, Noguchi, T, Asaba, K, Hossein, PN, Nishioka, T, Makino, S (2004) Urocortins and corticotropin releasing factor type 2 receptors in the hypothalamus and the cardiovascular system. Peptides 25(10): 1711-1721.

Hashimoto, K, Nishiyama, M, Tanaka, Y, Noguchi, T, Asaba, K, Hossein, PN, Nishioka, T, Makino, S (2004) Urocortins and corticotropin releasing factor type 2 receptors in the hypothalamus and the cardiovascular system. Peptides 25(10): 1711-1721.

Hauger, RL, Grigoriadis, DE, Dallman, MF, Plotsky, PM, Vale, WW, Dautzenberg, FM (2003) International Union of Pharmacology. XXXVI. Current status of the nomenclature for receptors for corticotropin-releasing factor and their ligands. Pharmacol Rev 55(1): 21-26.

Hauger, RL, Risbrough, V, Brauns, O, Dautzenberg, FM (2006) Corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) receptor signaling in the central nervous system: new molecular targets. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 5(4): 453-479.

He, Y, Appel, S, Le, W (2001) Minocycline inhibits microglial activation and protects nigral cells after 6-hydroxydopamine injection into mouse striatum. Brain Res 909(1-2): 187-193.

Hernan, MA, Takkouche, B, Caamano-Isorna, F, Gestal-Otero, JJ (2002) A meta-analysis of coffee drinking, cigarette smoking, and the risk of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 52(3): 276-284.

Herrera, AJ, Castano, A, Venero, JL, Cano, J, Machado, A (2000) The single intranigral injection of LPS as a new model for studying the selective effects of inflammatory reactions on dopaminergic system. Neurobiol Dis 7(4): 429-447.

Herrero, MT, Barcia, C, Navarro, JM (2002) Functional anatomy of thalamus and basal ganglia. Childs Nerv Syst 18(8): 386-404.

Heuser, IJ, Chase, TN, Mouradian, MM (1991) The limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in Huntington's disease. Biol Psychiatry 30(9): 943-952.

Hirsch, EC, Hunot, S, Hartmann, A (2005) Neuroinflammatory processes in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 11 Suppl 1: S9-S15.

Hornykiewicz, O (2002) L-DOPA: from a biologically inactive amino acid to a successful therapeutic agent. Amino Acids 23(1-3): 65-70.

Hornykiewicz, O (1963) [The tropical localization and content of noradrenalin and dopamine (3-hydroxytyramine) in the substantia nigra of normal persons and patients with Parkinson's disease.]. Wien Klin Wochenschr 75: 309-312.

Hunter, RL, Dragicevic, N, Seifert, K, Choi, DY, Liu, M, Kim, HC, Cass, WA, Sullivan, PG, Bing, G (2007) Inflammation induces mitochondrial dysfunction and dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the nigrostriatal system. J Neurochem 100(5): 1375-1386.

Iino, K, Sasano, H, Oki, Y, Andoh, N, Shin, RW, Kitamoto, T, Totsune, K, Takahashi, K, Suzuki, H, Nagura, H, Yoshimi, T (1997) Urocortin expression in human pituitary gland and pituitary adenoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82(11): 3842-3850.

Intekhad-Alam N.Y., Chowdrey H.S., R.A., K, I.C., L (2004) A CRF family peptide protects a human chondrocyte cell line against apoptosis.

. Osteoarthr. Cartilage

12 (Suppl. B) (107.): 107.

Isacson, O (2002) Models of repair mechanisms for future treatment modalities of Parkinson's disease. Brain Res Bull 57(6): 839-846.

Ishihara, L, Brayne, C (2006) A systematic review of depression and mental illness preceding Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol Scand 113(4): 211-220.

Iwasa, M, Maeno, Y, Inoue, H, Koyama, H, Matoba, R (1996) Induction of apoptotic cell death in rat thymus and spleen after a bolus injection of methamphetamine. Int J Legal Med 109(1): 23-28.

Jankovic, J (2006) Parkinson's Disease and Movement Disorders (5): 308.

Jenner, P (1989) MPTP-induced parkinsonism: the relevance to idiopathic Parkinson's disease In: Quinn NP, Jenner PG, eds. Disorders of movement. Clinical, pharmacological and physiological aspects. London: Academic Press 1: 157-175

Jenner, P, Schapira, AH, Marsden, CD (1992) New insights into the cause of Parkinson's disease. Neurology 42(12): 2241-2250.

Johnels, B (1983) Reserpine-induced rigidity in rats: drug effects on muscle tone from corpus striatum and nucleus accumbens. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 19(3): 463-470.

Kaelin-Lang, A, Stibal, A (2007) [Surgery for Parkinson's disease]. Ther Umsch 64(1): 21-27.

Kalyani, AJ, Piper, D, Mujtaba, T, Lucero, MT, Rao, MS (1998) Spinal cord neuronal precursors generate multiple neuronal phenotypes in culture. J Neurosci 18(19): 7856-7868.

Katzenschlager, R, Sampaio, C, Costa, J, Lees, A (2003) Anticholinergics for symptomatic management of Parkinson's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(2): CD003735.

Kebabian, JW, Calne, DB (1979) Multiple receptors for dopamine. Nature 277(5692): 93-96.

Kim, DW, Chung, S, Hwang, M, Ferree, A, Tsai, HC, Park, JJ, Chung, S, Nam, TS, Kang, UJ, Isacson, O, Kim, KS (2006) Stromal cell-derived inducing activity, Nurr1, and signaling molecules synergistically induce dopaminergic neurons from mouse embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 24(3): 557-567.

Kim, JH, Auerbach, JM, Rodriguez-Gomez, JA, Velasco, I, Gavin, D, Lumelsky, N, Lee, SH, Nguyen, J, Sanchez-Pernaute, R, Bankiewicz, K, McKay, R (2002) Dopamine neurons derived from embryonic stem cells function in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. Nature 418(6893): 50-56.

Kim, WG, Mohney, RP, Wilson, B, Jeohn, GH, Liu, B, Hong, JS (2000) Regional difference in susceptibility to lipopolysaccharide-induced neurotoxicity in the rat brain: role of microglia. J Neurosci 20(16): 6309-6316.

Kishimoto, T, Radulovic, J, Radulovic, M, Lin, CR, Schrick, C, Hooshmand, F, Hermanson, O, Rosenfeld, MG, Spiess, J (2000) Deletion of crhr2 reveals an anxiolytic role for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2. Nat Genet 24(4): 415-419.

Kitada, T, Asakawa, S, Hattori, N, Matsumine, H, Yamamura, Y, Minoshima, S, Yokochi, M, Mizuno, Y, Shimizu, N (1998) Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. Nature 392(6676): 605-608.

Kitamura, Y, Kosaka, T, Kakimura, JI, Matsuoka, Y, Kohno, Y, Nomura, Y, Taniguchi, T (1998) Protective effects of the antiparkinsonian drugs talipexole and pramipexole against 1methyl-4-phenylpyridinium-induced apoptotic death in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. Mol Pharmacol 54(6): 1046-1054. Koller, WC, Pahwa, R, Lyons, KE, Albanese, A (1999) Surgical treatment of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci 167(1): 1-10.

Kolterman, OG, Buse, JB, Fineman, MS, Gaines, E, Heintz, S, Bicsak, TA, Taylor, K, Kim, D, Aisporna, M, Wang, Y, Baron, AD (2003) Synthetic exendin-4 (exenatide) significantly reduces postprandial and fasting plasma glucose in subjects with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88(7): 3082-3089.

Kostich, WA, Chen, A, Sperle, K, Largent, BL (1998) Molecular identification and analysis of a novel human corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) receptor: the CRF2gamma receptor. Mol Endocrinol 12(8): 1077-1085.

Kozicz, T, Yanaihara, H, Arimura, A (1998) Distribution of urocortin-like immunoreactivity in the central nervous system of the rat. J Comp Neurol 391(1): 1-10.

Kumer, SC, Vrana, KE (1996) Intricate regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase activity and gene expression. J Neurochem 67(2): 443-462.

Lai, BC, Marion, SA, Teschke, K, Tsui, JK (2002) Occupational and environmental risk factors for Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 8(5): 297-309.

Lane, E, Dunnett, S (2007) Animal models of Parkinson's disease and L-dopa induced dyskinesia: How close are we to the clinic? Psychopharmacology (Berl).

Lang, AE, Gill, S, Patel, NK, Lozano, A, Nutt, JG, Penn, R, Brooks, DJ, Hotton, G, Moro, E, Heywood, P, Brodsky, MA, Burchiel, K, Kelly, P, Dalvi, A, Scott, B, Stacy, M, Turner, D, Wooten, VG, Elias, WJ, Laws, ER, Dhawan, V, Stoessl, AJ, Matcham, J, Coffey, RJ, Traub, M (2006) Randomized controlled trial of intraputamenal glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor infusion in Parkinson disease. Ann Neurol 59(3): 459-466.

Langston, JW (1988) Neuromelanin-containing neurons are selectively vulnerable in parkinsonism. Trends Pharmacol Sci 9(10): 347-348.

Langston, JW, Ballard, P, Tetrud, JW, Irwin, I (1983) Chronic Parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis. Science 219(4587): 979-980.

Langston, JW, Forno, LS, Tetrud, J, Reeves, AG, Kaplan, JA, Karluk, D (1999) Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine exposure. Ann Neurol 46(4): 598-605.

Laplane, D, Levasseur, M, Pillon, B, Dubois, B, Baulac, M, Mazoyer, B, Tran Dinh, S, Sette, G, Danze, F, Baron, JC (1989) Obsessive-compulsive and other behavioural changes with bilateral basal ganglia lesions. A neuropsychological, magnetic resonance imaging and positron tomography study. Brain 112 (Pt 3): 699-725.

Latchman, DS (2002) Urocortin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 34(8): 907-910.

Lawrence, KM, Chanalaris, A, Scarabelli, T, Hubank, M, Pasini, E, Townsend, PA, Comini, L, Ferrari, R, Tinker, A, Stephanou, A, Knight, RA, Latchman, DS (2002) K(ATP) channel gene expression is induced by urocortin and mediates its cardioprotective effect. Circulation 106(12): 1556-1562.

Lawrence, KM, Chanalaris, A, Scarabelli, T, Hubank, M, Pasini, E, Townsend, PA, Comini, L, Ferrari, R, Tinker, A, Stephanou, A, Knight, RA, Latchman, DS (2002) K(ATP) channel gene expression is induced by urocortin and mediates its cardioprotective effect. Circulation 106(12): 1556-1562.

Lawrence, KM, Scarabelli, TM, Turtle, L, Chanalaris, A, Townsend, PA, Carroll, CJ, Hubank, M, Stephanou, A, Knight, RA, Latchman, DS (2003) Urocortin protects cardiac myocytes from ischemia/reperfusion injury by attenuating calcium-insensitive phospholipase A2 gene expression. FASEB J 17(15): 2313-2315.

Le, W, Rowe, D, Xie, W, Ortiz, I, He, Y, Appel, SH (2001) Microglial activation and dopaminergic cell injury: an in vitro model relevant to Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci 21(21): 8447-8455.

Lefkowitz, RJ, Shenoy, SK (2005) Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science 308(5721): 512-517.

Leung, H, Mok, V (2005) Parkinson's disease: aetiology, diagnosis, and management. Hong Kong Med J 11(6): 476-489.

Lewis, K, Li, C, Perrin, MH, Blount, A, Kunitake, K, Donaldson, C, Vaughan, J, Reyes, TM, Gulyas, J, Fischer, W, Bilezikjian, L, Rivier, J, Sawchenko, PE, Vale, WW (2001) Identification of urocortin III, an additional member of the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) family with high affinity for the CRF2 receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(13): 7570-7575.

Lezoualc'h, F, Engert, S, Berning, B, Behl, C (2000) Corticotropin-releasing hormonemediated neuroprotection against oxidative stress is associated with the increased release of non-amyloidogenic amyloid beta precursor protein and with the suppression of nuclear factor-kappaB. Mol Endocrinol 14(1): 147-159.

Liebsch, G, Landgraf, R, Engelmann, M, Lorscher, P, Holsboer, F (1999) Differential behavioural effects of chronic infusion of CRH 1 and CRH 2 receptor antisense oligonucleotides into the rat brain. J Psychiatr Res 33(2): 153-163.

Linazasoro, G (2004) Recent failures of new potential symptomatic treatments for Parkinson's disease: causes and solutions. Mov Disord 19(7): 743-754.

Lindvall, O (1989) Transplantation into the human brain: present status and future possibilities. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry Suppl: 39-54.

Lindvall, O (1991) Transplants in Parkinson's disease. Eur Neurol 31 Suppl 1: 17-27.

Litvan, I, Bhatia, KP, Burn, DJ, Goetz, CG, Lang, AE, McKeith, I, Quinn, N, Sethi, KD, Shults, C, Wenning, GK (2003) Movement Disorders Society Scientific Issues Committee report: SIC Task Force appraisal of clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinsonian disorders. Mov Disord 18(5): 467-486.

Liu, B (2001) Environmental Health Perspectives • VOLUME 111 | NUMBER 8 | June 2003.

Liu, B, Du, L, Hong, JS (2000) Naloxone protects rat dopaminergic neurons against inflammatory damage through inhibition of microglia activation and superoxide generation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 293(2): 607-617.

Liu, B, Gao, HM, Hong, JS (2003) Parkinson's disease and exposure to infectious agents and pesticides and the occurrence of brain injuries: role of neuroinflammation. Environ Health Perspect 111(8): 1065-1073.

Liu, J, Zheng, X, Yin, F, Hu, Y, Guo, L, Deng, X, Chen, G, Jiajia, J, Zhang, H (2006) Neurotrophic property of geniposide for inducing the neuronal differentiation of PC12 cells. Int J Dev Neurosci 24(7): 419-424.

Logroscino, G (2005) The role of early life environmental risk factors in Parkinson disease: what is the evidence? Environ Health Perspect 113(9): 1234-1238.

Lotharius, J, Falsig, J, van Beek, J, Payne, S, Dringen, R, Brundin, P, Leist, M (2005) Progressive degeneration of human mesencephalic neuron-derived cells triggered by dopamine-dependent oxidative stress is dependent on the mixed-lineage kinase pathway. J Neurosci 25(27): 6329-6342.

Love, R (2002) Stem-cell transplantation hope for Parkinson's disease treatment? Lancet 359(9301): 138.

Lovenberg, TW, Chalmers, DT, Liu, C, De Souza, EB (1995) CRF2 alpha and CRF2 beta receptor mRNAs are differentially distributed between the rat central nervous system and peripheral tissues. Endocrinology 136(9): 4139-4142.

Lovenberg, TW, Liaw, CW, Grigoriadis, DE, Clevenger, W, Chalmers, DT, De Souza, EB, Oltersdorf, T (1995) Cloning and characterization of a functionally distinct corticotropin-releasing factor receptor subtype from rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(3): 836-840.

Lowry, OH, Rosebrough, NJ, Farr, AL, Randall, RJ (1951) Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193(1): 265-275.

MacKeigan, JP, Murphy, LO, Blenis, J (2005) Sensitized RNAi screen of human kinases and phosphatases identifies new regulators of apoptosis and chemoresistance. Nat Cell Biol 7(6): 591-600.

Maharjan, S, Serova, L, Sabban, EL (2005) Transcriptional regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase by estrogen: opposite effects with estrogen receptors alpha and beta and interactions with cyclic AMP. J Neurochem 93(6): 1502-1514.

Manyam, BV, Sanchez-Ramos, JR (1999) Traditional and complementary therapies in Parkinson's disease. Adv Neurol 80: 565-574.

Marion, SA (2001) The epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Current issues. Adv Neurol 86: 163-172.

Mata, IF, Lockhart, PJ, Farrer, MJ (2004) Parkin genetics: one model for Parkinson's disease. Hum Mol Genet 13 Spec No 1: R127-133.

MayoClinic Parkinson's disease atreatment.

McAllister, G, Knowles, MR, Ward-Booth, SM, Sinclair, HA, Patel, S, Marwood, R, Emms, F, Patel, S, Smith, A, Seabrook, GR, et al. (1995) Functional coupling of human D2, D3, and D4 dopamine receptors in HEK293 cells. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 15(1-4): 267-281.

McCarthy, JR, Heinrichs, SC, Grigoriadis, DE (1999) Recent advances with the CRF1 receptor: design of small molecule inhibitors, receptor subtypes and clinical indications. Curr Pharm Des 5(5): 289-315.

McGeer, PL, Itagaki, S, Akiyama, H, McGeer, EG (1988) Rate of cell death in parkinsonism indicates active neuropathological process. Ann Neurol 24(4): 574-576.

McGeer, PL, Itagaki, S, Boyes, BE, McGeer, EG (1988) Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. Neurology 38(8): 1285-1291.

McGeer, PL, McGeer, EG (2004) Inflammation and neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 10 Suppl 1: S3-7.

McGeer, PL, Yasojima, K, McGeer, EG (2001) Inflammation in Parkinson's disease. Adv Neurol 86: 83-89.

McInerney-Leo, A (2005) Genetic testing in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 20(7): 908-909.

McRae-Degueurce, A, Rosengren, L, Haglid, K, Booj, S, Gottfries, CG, Granerus, AC, Dahlstrom, A (1988) Immunocytochemical investigations on the presence of neuron-specific antibodies in the CSF of Parkinson's disease cases. Neurochem Res 13(7): 679-684.

Meissner, W, Hill, MP, Tison, F, Gross, CE, Bezard, E (2004) Neuroprotective strategies for Parkinson's disease: conceptual limits of animal models and clinical trials. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25(5): 249-253.

Mena, MA, Casarejos, MJ, Bonin, A, Ramos, JA, Garcia Yebenes, J (1995) Effects of dibutyryl cyclic AMP and retinoic acid on the differentiation of dopamine neurons: prevention of cell death by dibutyryl cyclic AMP. J Neurochem 65(6): 2612-2620.

Menei, P, Montero-Menei, C, Venier, MC, Benoit, JP (2005) Drug delivery into the brain using poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2(2): 363-376.

Menzaghi, F, Whelan, KT, Risbrough, VB, Rao, TS, Lloyd, GK (1997) Interactions between a novel cholinergic ion channel agonist, SIB-1765F and L-DOPA in the reserpine model of Parkinson's disease in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 280(1): 393-401.

Missale, C, Nash, SR, Robinson, SW, Jaber, M, Caron, MG (1998) Dopamine receptors: from structure to function. Physiol Rev 78(1): 189-225.

Moffatt, JD, Lever, R, Page, CP (2006) Activation of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor-2 causes bronchorelaxation and inhibits pulmonary inflammation in mice. Faseb J 20(11): 1877-1879.

Mogi, M, Harada, M, Kondo, T, Riederer, P, Inagaki, H, Minami, M, Nagatsu, T (1994) Interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-6, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factoralpha are elevated in the brain from parkinsonian patients. Neurosci Lett 180(2): 147-150.

Mohapel, P, Frielingsdorf, H, Haggblad, J, Zachrisson, O, Brundin, P (2005) Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-BB) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) induce striatal neurogenesis in adult rats with 6-hydroxydopamine lesions. Neuroscience 132(3): 767-776.

Montrose-Rafizadeh, C, Avdonin, P, Garant, MJ, Rodgers, BD, Kole, S, Yang, H, Levine, MA, Schwindinger, W, Bernier, M (1999) Pancreatic glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor couples to multiple G proteins and activates mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Endocrinology 140(3): 1132-1140.

Moore, RY, Bloom, FE (1978) Central catecholamine neuron systems: anatomy and physiology of the dopamine systems. Annu Rev Neurosci 1: 129-169.

Morin, SM, Ling, N, Liu, XJ, Kahl, SD, Gehlert, DR (1999) Differential distribution of urocortin- and corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunoreactivities in the rat brain. Neuroscience 92(1): 281-291.

Mouradian, MM (2002) Recent advances in the genetics and pathogenesis of Parkinson disease. Neurology 58(2): 179-185.

Muller, T, Blum-Degen, D, Przuntek, H, Kuhn, W (1998) Interleukin-6 levels in cerebrospinal fluid inversely correlate to severity of Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol Scand 98(2): 142-144.

Nagatsu, T, Ichinose, H (1991) Comparative studies on the structure of human tyrosine hydroxylase with those of the enzyme of various mammals. Comp Biochem Physiol C 98(1): 203-210.

Nagatsu, T, Levitt, M, Udenfriend, S (1964) A Rapid and Simple Radioassay for Tyrosine Hydroxylase Activity. Anal Biochem 9: 122-126.

Nagatsu, T, Levitt, M, Udenfriend, S (1964) Tyrosine Hydroxylase. the Initial Step in Norepinephrine Biosynthesis. J Biol Chem 239: 2910-2917.

Nanmoku, T, Takekoshi, K, Fukuda, T, Isobe, K, Shibuya, S, Kawakami, Y (2005) Urocortin stimulates tyrosine hydroxylase activity via the cAMP/protein kinase a pathway in rat Pheochromocytoma PC12 cells. Neurosci Lett 382(1-2): 124-127.

Naoi, M, Takahashi, T, Nagatsu, T (1988) Simple assay procedure for tyrosine hydroxylase activity by high-performance liquid chromatography employing coulometric detection with minimal sample preparation. J Chromatogr 427(2): 229-238.

Nemeroff, CB, Owens, MJ, Bissette, G, Andorn, AC, Stanley, M (1988) Reduced corticotropin releasing factor binding sites in the frontal cortex of suicide victims. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45(6): 577-579.

Nemoto, T, Mano-Otagiri, A, Shibasaki, T (2005) Urocortin 2 induces tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation in PC12 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 330(3): 821-831.

Nicklas, WJ, Vyas, I, Heikkila, RE (1985) Inhibition of NADH-linked oxidation in brain mitochondria by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-pyridine, a metabolite of the neurotoxin, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine. Life Sci 36(26): 2503-2508.

Nishikimi, T, Miyata, A, Horio, T, Yoshihara, F, Nagaya, N, Takishita, S, Yutani, C, Matsuo, H, Matsuoka, H, Kangawa, K (2000) Urocortin, a member of the corticotropin-releasing factor family, in normal and diseased heart. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 279(6): H3031-3039.

Novikova, L, Garris, BL, Garris, DR, Lau, YS (2006) Early signs of neuronal apoptosis in the substantia nigra pars compacta of the progressive neurodegenerative mouse 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine/probenecid model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 140(1): 67-76.

Nussbaum, RL, Ellis, CE (2003) Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med 348(14): 1356-1364.
Nutt, JG, Burchiel, KJ, Comella, CL, Jankovic, J, Lang, AE, Laws, ER, Jr., Lozano, AM, Penn, RD, Simpson, RK, Jr., Stacy, M, Wooten, GF (2003) Randomized, double-blind trial of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) in PD. Neurology 60(1): 69-73.

Obeso, JA, Rodriguez-Oroz, MC, Chana, P, Lera, G, Rodriguez, M, Olanow, CW (2000) The evolution and origin of motor complications in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 55(11 Suppl 4): S13-20; discussion S21-13.

Okamoto, S, Ishikawa, I, Kimura, K, Saito, M (1998) Potent suppressive effects of urocortin on splenic lymphocyte activity in rats. Neuroreport 9(18): 4035-4039.

Onyango, IG, Tuttle, JB, Bennett, JP, Jr. (2005) Brain-derived growth factor and glial cell line-derived growth factor use distinct intracellular signaling pathways to protect PD cybrids from H2O2-induced neuronal death. Neurobiol Dis 20(1): 141-154.

Orr, CF, Rowe, DB, Halliday, GM (2002) An inflammatory review of Parkinson's disease. Prog Neurobiol 68(5): 325-340.

Orskov, C, Poulsen, SS, Moller, M, Holst, JJ (1996) Glucagon-like peptide I receptors in the subfornical organ and the area postrema are accessible to circulating glucagon-like peptide I. Diabetes 45(6): 832-835.

Pan, W, Kastin, AJ (2008) Urocortin and the brain. Prog Neurobiol 84(2): 148-156.

Pankratz, N, Foroud, T (2004) Genetics of Parkinson disease. NeuroRx 1(2): 235-242.

Pankratz, N, Nichols, WC, Uniacke, SK, Halter, C, Murrell, J, Rudolph, A, Shults, CW, Conneally, PM, Foroud, T (2003) Genome-wide linkage analysis and evidence of gene-by-gene interactions in a sample of 362 multiplex Parkinson disease families. Hum Mol Genet 12(20): 2599-2608.

Pankratz, N, Nichols, WC, Uniacke, SK, Halter, C, Rudolph, A, Shults, C, Conneally, PM, Foroud, T (2003) Significant linkage of Parkinson disease to chromosome 2q36-37. Am J Hum Genet 72(4): 1053-1057.

Pardridge, WM (2003) Blood-brain barrier drug targeting: the future of brain drug development. Mol Interv 3(2): 90-105, 151.

Parkes, DG, May, CN (2000) Urocortin: A Novel Player in Cardiac Control. News Physiol Sci 15: 264-268.

Parkes, DG, Weisinger, RS, May, CN (2001) Cardiovascular actions of CRH and urocortin: an update. Peptides 22(5): 821-827.

Parkinson, J (2002) An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 14(2): 223-236; discussion 222.

Patel, NK, Gill, SS (2007) GDNF delivery for Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurochir Suppl 97(Pt 2): 135-154.

Paulson, GW, Dadmehr, N (1991) Is there a premorbid personality typical for Parkinson's disease? Neurology 41(5 Suppl 2): 73-76.

Paxinos, G, Watson, C (1982) The Rat Brain in Steriotaxic Coordinates. ACADEMIC PRESS.

PD, Mo (2002) Management of Parkinson's disease: an evidence-based review. Mov Disord 17 Suppl 4: S1-166.

Pedersen, WA, Wan, R, Zhang, P, Mattson, MP (2002) Urocortin, but not urocortin II, protects cultured hippocampal neurons from oxidative and excitotoxic cell death via corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type I. J Neurosci 22(2): 404-412.

Pell, MD (1996) On the receptive prosodic loss in Parkinson's disease. Cortex 32(4): 693-704.

Peng, X, Tehranian, R, Dietrich, P, Stefanis, L, Perez, RG (2005) Alpha-synuclein activation of protein phosphatase 2A reduces tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation in dopaminergic cells. J Cell Sci 118(Pt 15): 3523-3530.

Perese, DA, Ulman, J, Viola, J, Ewing, SE, Bankiewicz, KS (1989) A 6-hydroxydopamineinduced selective parkinsonian rat model. Brain Res 494(2): 285-293.

Perry, T, Haughey, NJ, Mattson, MP, Egan, JM, Greig, NH (2002) Protection and reversal of excitotoxic neuronal damage by glucagon-like peptide-1 and exendin-4. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 302(3): 881-888.

Perry, TA, Greig, NH (2004) A new Alzheimer's disease interventive strategy: GLP-1. Curr Drug Targets 5(6): 565-571.

Perry, TL, Yong, VW (1986) Idiopathic Parkinson's disease, progressive supranuclear palsy and glutathione metabolism in the substantia nigra of patients. Neurosci Lett 67(3): 269-274.

Pinter, MM, Alesch, F, Murg, M, Helscher, RJ, Binder, H (1999) Apomorphine test: a predictor for motor responsiveness to deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus. J Neurol 246(10): 907-913.

Plassman, BL, Havlik, RJ, Steffens, DC, Helms, MJ, Newman, TN, Drosdick, D, Phillips, C, Gau, BA, Welsh-Bohmer, KA, Burke, JR, Guralnik, JM, Breitner, JC (2000) Documented head injury in early adulthood and risk of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. Neurology 55(8): 1158-1166.

Pluck, GC, Brown, RG (2002) Apathy in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 73(6): 636-642.

Poewe, W (2006) The natural history of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol 253 Suppl 7: VII2-6.

Poewe, WH (1994) Clinical aspects of motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 44(7 Suppl 6): S6-9.

Poewe, WH, Lees, AJ, Stern, GM (1986) Low-dose L-dopa therapy in Parkinson's disease: a 6-year follow-up study. Neurology 36(11): 1528-1530.

Popovic, N, Brundin, P (2006) Therapeutic potential of controlled drug delivery systems in neurodegenerative diseases. Int J Pharm 314(2): 120-126.

Pothos, EN, Davila, V, Sulzer, D (1998) Presynaptic recording of quanta from midbrain dopamine neurons and modulation of the quantal size. J Neurosci 18(11): 4106-4118.

Potter, E, Sutton, S, Donaldson, C, Chen, R, Perrin, M, Lewis, K, Sawchenko, PE, Vale, W (1994) Distribution of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor mRNA expression in the rat brain and pituitary. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91(19): 8777-8781.

Punn, A, Levine, MA, Grammatopoulos, DK (2006) Identification of signaling molecules mediating corticotropin-releasing hormone-R1alpha-mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) interactions: the critical role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in regulating ERK1/2 but not p38 MAPK activation. Mol Endocrinol 20(12): 3179-3195.

Quinn, NP (1997) Parkinson's disease: clinical features. Baillieres Clin Neurol 6(1): 1-13.

Raddino, R, Pedrinazzi, C, Zanini, G, Robba, D, Bonadei, I, Scarabelli, TM, Cas, LD (2007) [Urocortin: molecular biology and cardiovascular effects]. G Ital Cardiol (Rome) 8(4): 236-245.

Rademaker, MT, Charles, CJ, Espiner, EA, Frampton, CM, Lainchbury, JG, Richards, AM (2005) Endogenous urocortins reduce vascular tone and renin-aldosterone/endothelin activity in experimental heart failure. Eur Heart J 26(19): 2046-2054.

Ramaker, C, van Hilten, JJ (2000) Bromocriptine versus levodopa in early Parkinson's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(3): CD002258.

Rao, SS, Hofmann, LA, Shakil, A (2006) Parkinson's disease: diagnosis and treatment. Am Fam Physician 74(12): 2046-2054.

Remy, P, Doder, M, Lees, A, Turjanski, N, Brooks, D (2005) Depression in Parkinson's disease: loss of dopamine and noradrenaline innervation in the limbic system. Brain 128(Pt 6): 1314-1322.

Reul, JM, Holsboer, F (2002) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors 1 and 2 in anxiety and depression. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2(1): 23-33.

Reyes, TM, Lewis, K, Perrin, MH, Kunitake, KS, Vaughan, J, Arias, CA, Hogenesch, JB, Gulyas, J, Rivier, J, Vale, WW, Sawchenko, PE (2001) Urocortin II: a member of the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) neuropeptide family that is selectively bound by type 2 CRF receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(5): 2843-2848.

Riess, O, Kruger, R (1999) Parkinson's disease--a multifactorial neurodegenerative disorder. J Neural Transm Suppl 56: 113-125.

Rodriquez de Fonseca, F, Navarro, M, Alvarez, E, Roncero, I, Chowen, JA, Maestre, O, Gomez, R, Munoz, RM, Eng, J, Blazquez, E (2000) Peripheral versus central effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on satiety and body weight loss in Zucker obese rats. Metabolism 49(6): 709-717.

Rominger, DH, Rominger, CM, Fitzgerald, LW, Grzanna, R, Largent, BL, Zaczek, R (1998) Characterization of [1251]sauvagine binding to CRH2 receptors: membrane homogenate and autoradiographic studies. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 286(1): 459-468.

Rossant, CJ, Pinnock, RD, Hughes, J, Hall, MD, McNulty, S (1999) Corticotropin-releasing factor type 1 and type 2alpha receptors regulate phosphorylation of calcium/cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate response element-binding protein and activation of p42/p44 mitogenactivated protein kinase. Endocrinology 140(4): 1525-1536.

Rothblat, DS, Schroeder, JA, Schneider, JS (2001) Tyrosine hydroxylase and dopamine transporter expression in residual dopaminergic neurons: potential contributors to spontaneous recovery from experimental Parkinsonism. J Neurosci Res 65(3): 254-266.

Russo-Neustadt, AA, Beard, RC, Huang, YM, Cotman, CW (2000) Physical activity and antidepressant treatment potentiate the expression of specific brain-derived neurotrophic factor transcripts in the rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 101(2): 305-312.

Rydel, RE, Greene, LA (1988) cAMP analogs promote survival and neurite outgrowth in cultures of rat sympathetic and sensory neurons independently of nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85(4): 1257-1261.

Sabatini, U, Boulanouar, K, Fabre, N, Martin, F, Carel, C, Colonnese, C, Bozzao, L, Berry, I, Montastruc, JL, Chollet, F, Rascol, O (2000) Cortical motor reorganization in akinetic patients with Parkinson's disease: a functional MRI study. Brain 123 (Pt 2): 394-403.

Sachs, C, Jonsson, G (1975) Mechanisms of action of 6-hydroxydopamine. Biochem Pharmacol 24(1): 1-8.

Saruta, M, Takahashi, K, Suzuki, T, Torii, A, Kawakami, M, Sasano, H (2004) Urocortin 1 in colonic mucosa in patients with ulcerative colitis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89(11): 5352-5361.

Sauvage, M, Steckler, T (2001) Detection of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 immunoreactivity in cholinergic, dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons of the murine basal forebrain and brainstem nuclei--potential implication for arousal and attention. Neuroscience 104(3): 643-652.

Savitt, JM, Dawson, VL, Dawson, TM (2006) Diagnosis and treatment of Parkinson disease: molecules to medicine. J Clin Invest 116(7): 1744-1754.

Sawada, H, Kawamura, T, Shimohama, S, Akaike, A, Kimura, J (1996) Different mechanisms of glutamate-induced neuronal death between dopaminergic and non-dopaminergic neurons in rat mesencephalic culture. J Neurosci Res 43(4): 503-510.

Scarabelli, TM, Pasini, E, Stephanou, A, Comini, L, Curello, S, Raddino, R, Ferrari, R, Knight, R, Latchman, DS (2002) Urocortin promotes hemodynamic and bioenergetic recovery and improves cell survival in the isolated rat heart exposed to ischemia/reperfusion. J Am Coll Cardiol 40(1): 155-161.

Scarabelli, TM, Pasini, E, Stephanou, A, Comini, L, Curello, S, Raddino, R, Ferrari, R, Knight, R, Latchman, DS (2002) Urocortin promotes hemodynamic and bioenergetic recovery and improves cell survival in the isolated rat heart exposed to ischemia/reperfusion. J Am Coll Cardiol 40(1): 155-161.

Schapira, AH (2005) Present and future drug treatment for Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76(11): 1472-1478.

Schapira, AH, Cooper, JM, Dexter, D, Clark, JB, Jenner, P, Marsden, CD (1990) Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 54(3): 823-827.

Schapira, AH, Gu, M, Taanman, JW, Tabrizi, SJ, Seaton, T, Cleeter, M, Cooper, JM (1998) Mitochondria in the etiology and pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 44(3 Suppl 1): S89-98.

Schrag, A (2004) Psychiatric aspects of Parkinson's disease--an update. J Neurol 251(7): 795-804.

Schrag, A, Ben-Shlomo, Y, Quinn, NP (2000) Cross sectional prevalence survey of idiopathic Parkinson's disease and Parkinsonism in London. Bmj 321(7252): 21-22.

Schrag, A, Quinn, N (2000) Dyskinesias and motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease. A community-based study. Brain 123 (Pt 11): 2297-2305.

Schwartz, JC (1992) Multiple dopamine receptors: functional implications. Clin Neuropharmacol 15 Suppl 1 Pt A: 1A-2A.

Schwartz, JT, Brotman, AW (1992) A clinical guide to antipsychotic drugs. Drugs 44(6): 981-992.

Seeman, P (2002) Atypical antipsychotics: mechanism of action. *Can J Psychiatry* 47(1): 27-38.

Seniuk, NA, Tatton, WG, Greenwood, CE (1990) Dose-dependent destruction of the coeruleus-cortical and nigral-striatal projections by MPTP. Brain Res 527(1): 7-20.

Seutin, V (2005) Dopaminergic neurones: much more than dopamine? Br J Pharmacol 146(2): 167-169.

Shen, H, Kannari, K, Yamato, H, Arai, A, Matsunaga, M (2003) Effects of benserazide on L-DOPA-derived extracellular dopamine levels and aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase activity in the striatum of 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats. Tohoku J Exp Med 199(3): 149-159.

Sherer, TB, Kim, JH, Betarbet, R, Greenamyre, JT (2003) Subcutaneous rotenone exposure causes highly selective dopaminergic degeneration and alpha-synuclein aggregation. Exp Neurol 179(1): 9-16.

Sherry, NA, Chen, W, Kushner, JA, Glandt, M, Tang, Q, Tsai, S, Santamaria, P, Bluestone, JA, Brillantes, AM, Herold, KC (2007) Exendin-4 improves reversal of diabetes in NOD mice treated with anti-CD3 mAb by enhancing recovery of {beta} cells. Endocrinology.

Shih, J (1979) Monoamine oxidase in aging human brain. New York: Academic Press, .

Shimohama, S, Sawada, H, Kitamura, Y, Taniguchi, T (2003) Disease model: Parkinson's disease. Trends Mol Med 9(8): 360-365.

Simola, N, Morelli, M, Carta, AR (2007) The 6-hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease. Neurotox Res 11(3-4): 151-167.

Singleton, AB, Farrer, M, Johnson, J, Singleton, A, Hague, S, Kachergus, J, Hulihan, M, Peuralinna, T, Dutra, A, Nussbaum, R, Lincoln, S, Crawley, A, Hanson, M, Maraganore, D, Adler, C, Cookson, MR, Muenter, M, Baptista, M, Miller, D, Blancato, J, Hardy, J, Gwinn-Hardy, K (2003) alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. Science 302(5646): 841.

Skalisz, LL, Beijamini, V, Joca, SL, Vital, MA, Da Cunha, C, Andreatini, R (2002) Evaluation of the face validity of reserpine administration as an animal model of depression---

Parkinson's disease association. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 26(5): 879-883.

Skelton, KH, Owens, MJ, Nemeroff, CB (2000) The neurobiology of urocortin. Regul Pept 93(1-3): 85-92.

Slevin, JT, Gash, DM, Smith, CD, Gerhardt, GA, Kryscio, R, Chebrolu, H, Walton, A, Wagner, R, Young, AB (2007) Unilateral intraputamenal glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with Parkinson disease: response to 1 year of treatment and 1 year of withdrawal. J Neurosurg 106(4): 614-620.

Sofic, E, Lange, KW, Jellinger, K, Riederer, P (1992) Reduced and oxidized glutathione in the substantia nigra of patients with Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett 142(2): 128-130.

Sokoloff, P, Diaz, J, Levesque, D, Pilon, C, Dimitriadou, V, Griffon, N, Lammers, CH, Martres, MP, Schwartz, JC (1995) Novel dopamine receptor subtypes as targets for antipsychotic drugs. Ann N Y Acad Sci 757: 278-292.

Sokoloff, P, Schwartz, JC (1995) Novel dopamine receptors half a decade later. Trends Pharmacol Sci 16(8): 270-275.

Sonntag, KC, Pruszak, J, Yoshizaki, T, van Arensbergen, J, Sanchez-Pernaute, R, Isacson, O (2007) Enhanced yield of neuroepithelial precursors and midbrain-like dopaminergic neurons from human embryonic stem cells using the bone morphogenic protein antagonist noggin. Stem Cells 25(2): 411-418.

Spano, PF, Govoni, S, Trabucchi, M (1978) Studies on the pharmacological properties of dopamine receptors in various areas of the central nervous system. Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol 19: 155-165.

Stefani, A, Spadoni, F, Bernardi, G (1998) Gabapentin inhibits calcium currents in isolated rat brain neurons. Neuropharmacology 37(1): 83-91.

Swaans, RJ, Rondot, P, Renier, WO, Van Den Heuvel, LP, Steenbergen-Spanjers, GC, Wevers, RA (2000) Four novel mutations in the tyrosine hydroxylase gene in patients with infantile parkinsonism. Ann Hum Genet 64(Pt 1): 25-31.

Sweatt, JD (2004) Mitogen-activated protein kinases in synaptic plasticity and memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol 14(3): 311-317.

Swiergiel, AH, Dunn, AJ (1999) CRF-deficient mice respond like wild-type mice to hypophagic stimuli. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 64(1): 59-64.

Swinny, JD, Metzger, F, J, IJ-P, Gounko, NV, Gramsbergen, A, van der Want, JJ (2004) Corticotropin-releasing factor and urocortin differentially modulate rat Purkinje cell dendritic outgrowth and differentiation in vitro. Eur J Neurosci 19(7): 1749-1758. Takahashi, K, Totsune, K, Murakami, O, Shibahara, S (2004) Urocortins as cardiovascular peptides. Peptides 25(10): 1723-1731.

Takahashi, LK (2001) Role of CRF(1) and CRF(2) receptors in fear and anxiety. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 25(7-8): 627-636.

Tanner, CM (2003) Is the cause of Parkinson's disease environmental or hereditary? Evidence from twin studies. Adv Neurol 91: 133-142.

Tanner, CM, Ben-Shlomo, Y (1999) Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Adv Neurol 80: 153-159.

Tao, J, Li, S (2005) Effects of urocortin via ion mechanisms or CRF receptors? Biochem Biophys Res Commun 336(3): 731-736.

Tao, J, Zhang, Y, Soong, TW, Li, S (2006) Expression of urocortin 2 and its inhibitory effects on intracellular ca2+ via L-type voltage-gated calcium channels in rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells. Neuropsychopharmacology 31(12): 2600-2609.

Tatton, NA, Maclean-Fraser, A, Tatton, WG, Perl, DP, Olanow, CW (1998) A fluorescent double-labeling method to detect and confirm apoptotic nuclei in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 44(3 Suppl 1): S142-148.

Testa, CM, Sherer, TB, Greenamyre, JT (2005) Rotenone induces oxidative stress and dopaminergic neuron damage in organotypic substantia nigra cultures. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 134(1): 109-118.

Thomas, A, Iacono, D, Luciano, AL, Armellino, K, Di Iorio, A, Onofrj, M (2004) Duration of amantadine benefit on dyskinesia of severe Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 75(1): 141-143.

Thomas, B, Beal, MF (2007) Parkinson's disease. Hum Mol Genet 16 Spec No. 2: R183-194.

Tourrel, C, Bailbe, D, Lacorne, M, Meile, MJ, Kergoat, M, Portha, B (2002) Persistent improvement of type 2 diabetes in the Goto-Kakizaki rat model by expansion of the beta-cell mass during the prediabetic period with glucagon-like peptide-1 or exendin-4. Diabetes 51(5): 1443-1452.

Townsend, PA, Davidson, SM, Clarke, SJ, Khaliulin, I, Carroll, CJ, Scarabelli, TM, Knight, RA, Stephanou, A, Latchman, DS, Halestrap, AP (2007) Urocortin prevents mitochondrial permeability transition in response to reperfusion injury indirectly by reducing oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293(2): H928-938.

Turnbull, AV, Vaughan, J, Rivier, JE, Vale, WW, Rivier, C (1999) Urocortin is not a significant regulator of intermittent electrofootshock-induced adrenocorticotropin secretion in the intact male rat. Endocrinology 140(1): 71-78.

Uitti, RJ, Rajput, AH, Ahlskog, JE, Offord, KP, Schroeder, DR, Ho, MM, Prasad, M, Rajput, A, Basran, P (1996) Amantadine treatment is an independent predictor of improved survival in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 46(6): 1551-1556.

Ungerstedt, U (1971) Postsynaptic supersensitivity after 6-hydroxy-dopamine induced degeneration of the nigro-striatal dopamine system. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 367: 69-93.

Unoki, M, Nakamura, Y (2001) Growth-suppressive effects of BPOZ and EGR2, two genes involved in the PTEN signaling pathway. Oncogene 20(33): 4457-4465.

Valentim, L, Laurence, KM, Townsend, PA, Carroll, CJ, Soond, S, Scarabelli, TM, Knight, RA, Latchman, DS, Stephanou, A (2006) Urocortin inhibits Beclin1-mediated autophagic cell death in cardiac myocytes exposed to ischaemia/reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol 40(6): 846-852.

Van Den Eeden, SK, Tanner, CM, Bernstein, AL, Fross, RD, Leimpeter, A, Bloch, DA, Nelson, LM (2003) Incidence of Parkinson's disease: variation by age, gender, and race/ethnicity. Am J Epidemiol 157(11): 1015-1022.

Van Der Borne, J (2004) Dopamine neurotransmitter.

Van Pett, K, Viau, V, Bittencourt, JC, Chan, RK, Li, HY, Arias, C, Prins, GS, Perrin, M, Vale, W, Sawchenko, PE (2000) Distribution of mRNAs encoding CRF receptors in brain and pituitary of rat and mouse. J Comp Neurol 428(2): 191-212.

van Zwieten, PA, Bernheimer, H, Hornykiewicz, O (1966) [Central effect of reserpine on the circulatory reflexes of the carotid sinus]. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol 253(2): 310-326.

Vasconcelos, LA, Donaldson, C, Sita, LV, Casatti, CA, Lotfi, CF, Wang, L, Cadinouche, MZ, Frigo, L, Elias, CF, Lovejoy, DA, Bittencourt, JC (2003) Urocortin in the central nervous system of a primate (Cebus apella): sequencing, immunohistochemical, and hybridization histochemical characterization. J Comp Neurol 463(2): 157-175.

Vaughan, J, Donaldson, C, Bittencourt, J, Perrin, MH, Lewis, K, Sutton, S, Chan, R, Turnbull, AV, Lovejoy, D, Rivier, C, et al. (1995) Urocortin, a mammalian neuropeptide related to fish urotensin I and to corticotropin-releasing factor. Nature 378(6554): 287-292.

Vaux, DL, Korsmeyer, SJ (1999) Cell death in development. Cell 96(2): 245-254.

Veldman, BA, Wijn, AM, Knoers, N, Praamstra, P, Horstink, MW (1998) Genetic and environmental risk factors in Parkinson's disease. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 100(1): 15-26.

Verhagen Metman, L, Del Dotto, P, van den Munckhof, P, Fang, J, Mouradian, MM, Chase, TN (1998) Amantadine as treatment for dyskinesias and motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 50(5): 1323-1326.

Verkhratsky, A, Toescu, EC (2003) Endoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+) homeostasis and neuronal death. J Cell Mol Med 7(4): 351-361.

von Bohlen Und Halbach, O (2005) Modeling neurodegenerative diseases in vivo review. Neurodegener Dis 2(6): 313-320.

Wagner, GC, Ricaurte, GA, Seiden, LS, Schuster, CR, Miller, RJ, Westley, J (1980) Longlasting depletions of striatal dopamine and loss of dopamine uptake sites following repeated administration of methamphetamine. Brain Res 181(1): 151-160.

Wang, MJ, Lin, SZ, Kuo, JS, Huang, HY, Tzeng, SF, Liao, CH, Chen, DC, Chen, WF (2007) Urocortin modulates inflammatory response and neurotoxicity induced by microglial activation. J Immunol 179(9): 6204-6214.

Watabe, M, Nakaki, T (2007) Mitochondrial Complex I Inhibitor Rotenone-elicited Dopamine Redistribution from Vesicles to Cytosol in Human Dopaminergic SH-SY5Y Cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther.

Weintraub, D, Comella, CL, Horn, S (2008) Parkinson's disease--Part 1: Pathophysiology, symptoms, burden, diagnosis, and assessment. Am J Manag Care 14(2 Suppl): S40-48.

Whitehouse, PJ, Vale, WW, Zweig, RM, Singer, HS, Mayeux, R, Kuhar, MJ, Price, DL, De Souza, EB (1987) Reductions in corticotropin releasing factor-like immunoreactivity in cerebral cortex in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and progressive supranuclear palsy. Neurology 37(6): 905-909.

Whitton, PS (2007) Inflammation as a causative factor in the aetiology of Parkinson's disease. Br J Pharmacol 150(8): 963-976.

Whitton, PS, Biggs, CS, Pearce, BR, Fowler, LJ (1992) MK-801 increases extracellular 5hydroxytryptamine in rat hippocampus and striatum in vivo. J Neurochem 58(4): 1573-1575.

Whitton, PS, Fowler, LJ (1991) The effect of valproic acid on 5-hydroxytryptamine and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid concentration in hippocampal dialysates in vivo. Eur J Pharmacol 200(1): 167-169.

Whone, AL, Watts, RL, Stoessl, AJ, Davis, M, Reske, S, Nahmias, C, Lang, AE, Rascol, O, Ribeiro, MJ, Remy, P, Poewe, WH, Hauser, RA, Brooks, DJ (2003) Slower progression of Parkinson's disease with ropinirole versus levodopa: The REAL-PET study. Ann Neurol 54(1): 93-101.

Wichmann, T, DeLong, MR (2003) Functional neuroanatomy of the basal ganglia in Parkinson's disease. Adv Neurol 91: 9-18.

Williams, A (1991) Predictive testing and Parkinson's disease. Br J Hosp Med 45(4): 193.

Winn, SR, Wahlberg, L, Tresco, PA, Aebischer, P (1989) An encapsulated dopaminereleasing polymer alleviates experimental parkinsonism in rats. Exp Neurol 105(3): 244-250.

Wong, ML, al-Shekhlee, A, Bongiorno, PB, Esposito, A, Khatri, P, Sternberg, EM, Gold, PW, Licinio, J (1996) Localization of urocortin messenger RNA in rat brain and pituitary. Mol Psychiatry 1(4): 307-312.

Wong, ML, Licinio, J, Pasternak, KI, Gold, PW (1994) Localization of corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH) receptor mRNA in adult rat brain by in situ hybridization histochemistry. Endocrinology 135(5): 2275-2278.

Wu, SS, Frucht, SJ (2005) Treatment of Parkinson's disease : what's on the horizon? CNS Drugs 19(9): 723-743.

Wu, XF, Block, ML, Zhang, W, Qin, L, Wilson, B, Zhang, WQ, Veronesi, B, Hong, JS (2005) The role of microglia in paraquat-induced dopaminergic neurotoxicity. Antioxid Redox Signal 7(5-6): 654-661.

Xue, Y, Gao, J, Xi, Z, Wang, Z, Li, X, Cui, X, Luo, Y, Li, C, Wang, L, Zhou, D, Sun, R, Sun, AM (2001) Microencapsulated bovine chromaffin cell xenografts into hemiparkinsonian rats: a drug-induced rotational behavior and histological changes analysis. Artif Organs 25(2): 131-135.

Yamamoto, H, Maeda, T, Fujimura, M, Fujimiya, M (1998) Urocortin-like immunoreactivity in the substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area and Edinger-Westphal nucleus of rat. Neurosci Lett 243(1-3): 21-24.

Yasuhara, T, Date, I (2007) Intracerebral transplantation of genetically engineered cells for Parkinson's disease: toward clinical application. Cell Transplant 16(2): 125-132.

Zhang, ZX, Roman, GC (1993) Worldwide occurrence of Parkinson's disease: an updated review. Neuroepidemiology 12(4): 195-208.

Zigmond, M (2002) Pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychopharmacology: The Fifth Generation of Progess 123: 1781-1793.

Appendix

The corticotrophin-releasing factor-like peptide urocortin reverses key deficits in two rodent models of Parkinson's disease

Amjad Abuirmeileh,¹ Rebecca Lever,¹ Ann E. Kingsbury,⁴ Andrew J. Lees,⁴ Ian C. Locke,² Richard A. Knight,³ Hardial S. Chowdrey,² Christopher S. Biggs,² and Peter S. Whitton,¹

¹Department of Pharmacology, The School of Pharmacy, 29–39 Brunswick Square, London WC1N 1AX, UK

²School of Biosciences, University of Westminster, London, UK

³Medical Molecular Biology Unit, Institute of Child Health, University College London, London, UK

⁴Rita Lila Weston Institute of Neurological Studies, London, UK

Keywords: dopamine, 6-hydroxydopamine, lipopolysaccharide, rat, tyrosine hydroxylase, urocortin

Abstract

The potential neuroprotective action of the corticotrophin-releasing factor-related peptide urocortin (UCN) was investigated in the rat 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) paradigms of Parkinson's disease. UCN (20 fmol) was either given at the same time as (T = 0) or 7 days after (T = +7) intracerebral 6-OHDA or LPS injection. At 14 days after 6-OHDA or LPS injection, circling behaviour was measured following apomorphine challenge. Circling was significantly lower in rats given UCN at either T = 0 or T = +7 compared with animals given 6-OHDA or LPS and vehicle. Sham-treated rats showed no circling. Consistent with these observations, striatal dopamine concentrations were markedly higher in 6-OHDA/LPS + UCN rats vs. 6-OHDA/LPS + vehicle groups. Additionally, L-dihydroxyphenylalanine production by tyrosine hydroxylase was greatly reduced in the striata of 6-OHDA/LPS + vehicle rats, whereas this was not the case in rats coadministered UCN. Finally, the numbers of tyrosine hydroxylase-positive cells recorded in the substantia nigra of 6-OHDA/LPS + vehicle-treated animals were markedly lower than those of sham-operated or 6-OHDA/LPS + UCN rats. Critically, UCN was effective in reversing lesion-induced deficits when given either at the same time as or 7 days after the neurotoxic insult. To our knowledge, this is the first time that such an effect has been demonstrated *in vivo*. The apparent ability of UCN to arrest the progression of or even reverse nigral lesions once established suggests that pharmacological manipulation of this system could have substantial therapeutic utility.

Introduction

The well-characterized features of Parkinson's disease (PD) are largely the result of a selective degeneration of nigrostriatal neurones, greatly reduced synthetic capacity for dopamine (DA) and a consequent failure to engage striatal DA receptors (Clark & White, 1987). Before the disease presents clinically, death of nigrostriatal neurones occurs 'silently' in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc), probably as a result of concurrent apoptotic, excitotoxic and free-radical-mediated events (Vaux & Korsmeyer, 1999). Environmental and toxicological factors, in addition to the expression of candidate 'Parkinsonian' genes, have been proposed in the actiology of the disease (Vaux & Korsmeyer, 1999; Gandhi & Wood, 2005). Despite four decades of research effort, a therapeutic strategy offering a cure for, or a means of arresting the pathology of, PD remains elusive. Established drug-based therapies are essentially palliative and not effective in all patients. Moreover, the side-effect profiles of most drugs used in PD account for significant morbidity, especially with chronic use, whereas the efficacy of these treatments inevitably diminishes with time as cell loss proceeds (Hurtig, 1997). A need exists therefore for a novel therapeutic approach, which is both affordable and, more importantly,

Correspondence: Dr P. S. Whitton, as above. E-mail: peter.whitton(a pharmacy.ac.uk

provides the potential for arresting disease progression as well as ameliorating symptoms. As apoptotic cell death is almost certainly one of the central components in selective nigrostriatal neuronal death (Ochu et al., 1998; Tatton et al., 1998; Schapira, 2001), future therapeutic strategies could involve the targeted use of bio-molecules with 'anti-apoptotic' properties. One such potential group is the urocortin (UCN) family, a relatively recently discovered group of peptides, closely related to corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF). Thus far, three members have been described (UCN, UCN II and UCN III) (Lewis et al., 2001; Reyes et al., 2001), all with overlapping distribution within the brain and in a number of peripheral tissues (Takahashi et al., 1998; Lewis et al., 2001; Reyes et al., 2001). Although CRF is a key activator of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal stress response, it has been postulated that the UCNs may participate in so-called 'stress coping' mechanisms (Reul & Holsboer, 2002) and cytoprotection. Markers of apoptotic cell death, assays of functional and bio-energetic recovery, and therefore cell survival and tissue integrity are all significantly improved in tissues exposed to specific insults in conjunction with UCN (Brar et al., 2000; Intekhad-Alam et al., 2004). Moreover, UCN exerts a protective effect in tissues that are required to withstand intense physiological stress, even if addition of the peptide is delayed until after cessation of a hypoxic insult (Brar et al., 2000, 2002; Scarabelli et al., 2002). With respect to neuronal cells, UCN appears to protect cultured hippocampal neurones

Received 9 March 2007, revised 25 April 2007, accepted 21 May 2007

[©] The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and Blackwell Publishing Ltd

418 A. Abuirmeileh et al.

(Pederson et al., 2002), cerebellar granule cells (Facci et al., 2003) and GABAergic neurones (Choi et al., 2006). We have extended these studies, using two animal paradigms of Parkinsonism, and have assessed the potential protective action of UCN in the 6-hydroxydopamine- (6-OHDA) (Ungerstedt, 1971) and lipopolysaccharide- (LPS) (Herrera et al. 2000; Gao et al., 2003a) treated rat. The latter paradigm for PD is of considerable current interest as neuroinflammation is becoming widely accepted as playing a likely role in the aetiology of PD (Block & Hong, 2005; Block et al., 2007; Whitton, 2007) and UCN has been shown to be anti-inflammatory (Gonzalez-Rey et al., 2006). The investigation involved the measurement of behavioural. neurochemical and histological parameters in sham-operated animals and those receiving 6-OHDA or LPS singly, or in conjunction with UCN. Two distinct animal models were used in order to circumvent the possibility of UCN being uniquely active against a component of one of the paradigms.

Materials and methods

Surgical procedures

Experiments were carried out in accordance with the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act UK 1986. Male Wistar rats (210-240 g) were group housed and access to food and water was ad libitum. Care was taken to minimize animal usage and typically, tissue was used in several different assay paradigms. Prior to surgery, animals to be lesioned with 6-OHDA received pargyline (50 mg/kg, i.p.) and desmethylimipramine (25 mg/kg, i.p.) in order to maximize the selectivity of the toxin for dopaminergic neurones. Animals were anaesthetized with isofluorane (4% for induction, 1.5% for maintenance), secured in a stereotaxic frame (David Kopf, USA) and given injections of 6-OHDA (8 μ g/4 μ L of saline with 1% ascorbic acid), LPS (2 μ g in 2 μ L saline) or vehicle (sham injected). The dose of LPS was selected based upon observations that this is sufficient to initiate damage to nigral tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive cells, whilst sparing acetylcholine (ACh) and glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) -containing cells (Herrera et al., 2000). 6-OHDA was injected into the right medial forebrain bundle (from bregma in mm; A, -4.3; L, 1.4 and V, 8.2) and LPS was injected into the SNc (from bregma in mm: A, -5.2; L, 2.2 and V, 8.3). Animals cotreated with UCN received injections (20 fmol/2 µL) into the ipsilateral SNc, whereas those not receiving UCN were given vehicle into the ipsilateral SNc. In other groups of rats, UCN was administered into the SNc 7 days after 6-OHDA or LPS treatment, during a second round of surgery. The possible effects of UCN alone in the intact animal were tested by injecting the peptide into the nigra and killing animals 1, 7 or

TABLE 1. Summary	of experimental	groups and	schedule of	procedures
------------------	-----------------	------------	-------------	------------

14 days later by decapitation under isofluorane anaesthesia. Table 1 provides a summary of the different experimental groups and times at which particular procedures were undertaken.

Assessment of nigrostriatal lesion severity following apomorphine challenge

All animals received an apomorphine challenge (0.5 mg/kg s.c.) in order to assess lesion severity as indicated in Table 1. Animals were placed in a circular test arena and, following a short period of acclimatization, injected with the dopaminergic agonist. Contraversive turns were noted 20 min post-injection and recorded over a 120 s observation period. Only complete 'tight' turns were recorded.

Tissue dopamine assay

Animals received pargyline (50 mg/kg) 30 min prior to killing by decapitation under isofluorance anaesthesia. Brains were removed, striata dissected and homogenized in ice-cold phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). All homogenates were split into two equal portions, with one half of each treated with 0.2 M perchloric acid (1 : 10, w/v) containing ascorbic acid (0.2 μ M) and EDTA (0.2 μ M) to precipitate cell debris. These were then centrifuged at 9000 g for 15 min at 4 °C, supernatant fluids passed through a syringe filter (10 μ m pore size) and whole tissue DA levels estimated using high performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection (Biggs *et al.*, 1992). Brain blocs containing nigra were rapidly frozen and retained for immunohistochemistry.

Ex-vivo tyrosine hydroxylase assay

Tyrosine hydroxylase activity was measured in the remaining homogenates, using a modification of the method of Naoi *et al.* (1988). Aliquots were incubated with 200 μ M L-tyrosine in a total reaction mixture volume of 100 μ L. This consisted of the following components: 100 mM sodium acetate/acetic acid buffer (pH 6.0), 2 mM ferrous ammonium sulphate, 1 mM 6MPH4, 10 μ g catalase and 1 mM benserazide, an inhibitor of aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. 6MPH4 solution was firstly made as 10 mM in 1 M mercaptoethanol. The incubation mixture, except for tyrosine and the pteridin cofactor 6MPH4, was pre-incubated with homogenates at 37 °C for 5 min and the reaction was initiated by addition of the L-tyrosine and 6MPH4. After incubation at 37 °C for 10 min, the reaction was terminated by addition of 100 μ L perchloric acid (0.1 M, containing 0.4 mM sodium metabisulphite and 0.1 mM disodium EDTA). The

Procedure	Experimental groups								
	Sham $(T = 0 \text{ days})$	Sham $(T = +7 \text{ days})$	Toxin only	UCN only*	Toxin only (killed at +7 days)	Toxin + UCN $(T = 0 \text{ days})$	Toxin + UCN ($T = +7$ days)		
Surgery no. 1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Surgery no. 2		-			<i>→</i>	-	+		
Apomorphine, day 1, 7 or 14	14	14	14	1.7,14	7	14	14		
Killed, day 1, 7 or 14	14	14	14	1, 7, 14	7	14	14		
Tissue DA/TH assay	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
IHC	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		

Toxin, 6-hydroxydopamine or lipopolysaccharide; DA, dopamine; IHC, immunohistochemistry; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase. *T*, time in days after intracerebral 6-OHDA or LPS injection. *Three groups of urocortin (UCN) only-treated animals.

© The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and Blackwell Publishing Ltd European Journal of Neuroscience, 26, 417-423 sample was vortexed and left to stand on ice for 10 min, and then centrifuged at 1000 g for 10 min. The supernatant fluid was diluted to 1 in 1000 with mobile phase (Biggs *et al.*, 1992) and then analysed using high performance liquid chromatography-ED (electrochemical detection) to measure the amount of L-dihydroxyphenylalanine. As blank, a similar reaction mixture containing D-tyrosine instead of the L-isomer and 100 μ M 3-iodo-L-tyrosine was used (Naoi *et al.*, 1988).

Western blot analysis

Tissue samples (striatum) were homogenized in 1 mL of phosphate buffer containing 10 µL protease inhibitor cocktail. The samples were then centrifuged (1000 g for 10 min) and the supernatant fluids were mixed with their same volume of $2 \times$ sodium dodecyl sulphatepolyacrylamide gel electrophoresis sample buffer containing 100 mM dithiothreitol and then the whole mixture was boiled for 5 min. Once cooled and recentrifuged, samples were then loaded (15 $\mu L/lane)$ and separated on pre-cast polyacrylamide gels (12%; Invitrogen). Precision Plus® protein standard molecular weight markers (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and a TH standard were also loaded to assure complete electrophoretic transfer and to estimate the molecular weight of the bands of interest. The gels were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (Whatman) for 1.5 h with a constant voltage of 15 V. Membranes were blocked for 30 min at room temperature (21°C) with 5% powdered skimmed milk in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)-Tween and then probed overnight at room temperature using primary antibodies for total TH (1:500 dilution). Membranes were washed with PBS-Tween buffer $(3 \times 5 \text{ min})$ and then incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG (1: 5000; Santa Cruz). Proteins were visualized using a chemiluminescence ECL kit (Amersham). Representative bands are shown in Figs 1d and 2d.

Immunohistochemistry

Slide-mounted 10 µm cryostat sections from flash-frozen rat brain blocs were removed from the freezer and allowed to equilibrate to room temperature for 30 min, prior to post-fixation in 4% paraformaldehyde containing 1% glutaraldehyde for 5 min at 0 °C. Following rinsing in 0.1 M PBS for 5 min, sections were dehydrated through graded alcohols and endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation in 0.3% H₂O₂ in methanol for 10 min. The sections were then rehydrated and non-specific immunoreactivity was blocked with 10% swine serum in PBS for 10 min. Sections were then incubated in primary antibody (rabbit anti-rat TH IgG) at 1: 700 in PBS for 16 h at 4 °C. After rinsing, the sections were incubated sequentially in biotinylated swine anti-rabbit antibody (1:250 in PBS) (Dako, Denmark) for 30 min at room temperature and ABC complex following the manufacturer's instructions. Immunoreactivity was visualized through incubation in 0.5 mg/mL 3-diaminobenzidine containing 0.009% H2O2 for 2 min at room temperature. The sections were counterstained in Harris haematoxylin, dehydrated, cleared and mounted for microscopic examination. Sections were viewed under light microscopy (× 40 magnification). Digital images were captured using a Leica DC500 system and the manufacturer's software. Representative sections are shown in Figs 3 and 4. For each animal, four successive nigral sections were selected from both the treated and contralateral side, taken from a starting point of -5.5 mm relative to bregma, using a total of six rats per group.

Data handling and analysis

Data obtained from apomorphine challenge, whole tissue DA and TH assay studies were expressed as mean values \pm SEM. Data were subjected to one-way ANOVA to identify overall trends, with a post-hoc Bonferroni's multiple comparison test used to establish significant differences between the groups. Statistical analysis was performed

FIG. 1. Effects of uncortin (UCN) administration on various indicators of nigrostriatal pathway function in 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)-treated rats. (a-c) Key indicates experimental groups in histograms. UCN (20 fmol/2 µL) was administered concomitantly with toxin (T = 0) or 7 days post-toxin (T = +7). (a) Contraversive turns in response to apomorphine (APO) (0.5 mg/kg). Results of one-way ANOVA: F = 13.64. (b) Striatal whole tissue dopamine (DA) levels, estimated using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) followed by electrochemical detection. Results of one-way ANOVA: F = 12.79(c) Striatal homogenate tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) activity, assayed by L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA) formation, estimated using HPLC followed by electrochemical detection. Results of one-way ANOVA: F = 20.90. (a-c) *P < 0.01 with respect to toxin + vehicle. Data are mean ± SEM of six rats per group in all cases. (d) Western blot analysis of TH protein content in striatal homogenates. Representative blots are shown. Lanes: 1. TH standard; 2, sham; 3, toxin + vehicle; 4, toxin + UCN (T = 0); 5, toxin + UCN (T = +7).



© The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and Blackwell Publishing Ltd European Journal of Neuroscience, 26, 417–423

420 A. Abuirmeileh et al.



using a proprietary software package (GraphPad PRISMTM). The numbers of animals used in experiments are detailed in the figure legends. In all cases, comparisons were made with respect to toxin/vehicle values. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

Materials

Desmethylimipramine, rat UCN, LPS, pargyline, catalase, t-tyrosine, ferrous ammonium sulphate, benserazide, 6MPH4, 6-OHDA, protease inhibitor cocktail, apomorphine hydrochloride, 3-iodo-t-tyrosine, p-tyrosine and TH were all obtained from Sigma (UK). Apomorphine and 6-OHDA were dissolved in 2.0% w/v ascorbic acid, whereas UCN solid was initially dissolved in 70% ethanol and further diluted in saline to 1×10^{-8} M stock concentration. All drugs, apart from UCN, LPS and 6-OHDA, were injected in a volume of 0.1 mL/100 g body weight. Rabbit polyclonal anti-rat TH 1gG was obtained from Calbiochem. Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit 1gG was obtained from Dako (Denmark). ABC complex was purchased from Vector Laboratories (UK). All other reagents were of Analar or high performance liquid chromatography grade.

Results

Apomorphine-induced turning

Apomorphine-induced circling is regarded as a quantitative index of nigro-striatal (NS) lesion severity (Ungerstedt, 1971) and thus, an attenuation is predictive of potential anti-parkinsonian activity. Our findings reveal that tight contralateral circling was clearly evident in 6-OHDA- and LPS-treated rats but this was greatly attenuated when UCN was injected concomitantly into the ipsilateral SNc and also 7 days after either 6-OHDA or LPS (Figs 1a and 2a). Note that lesions were already well advanced at 7 days post-injection (Figs 1a and 2a for contralateral circling; Figs 3f and 4f for histology). Whole tissue DA levels estimated in the ipsilateral striata of toxin/vehicle-treated animals disclosed dramatic depletion when compared with shamoperated animals, whereas levels estimated in toxin/UCN-treated

FIG. 2. Effects of urocortin (UCN) administration on various indicators of nigrostriatal pathway function in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-treated rats. (a-c) Key indicates experimental groups in histograms. UCN (20 fmol/2 μ L) was administered concomitantly with toxin (T = 0) or 7 days post-toxin (T = +7), (a) Contraversive turns in response to apomorphine (APO) (0.5 mg/kg). Results of one-way ANOVA: F = 8.434. (b) Striatal whole tissue dopamine (DA) levels, estimated using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) followed by electrochemical detection. Results of one-way ANOVA: F = 11.14. (c) Striatal homogenate tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) activity, assayed by L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA) formation. estimated using HPLC followed by electrochemical detection. Results of one-way ANOVA: F = 22.75. (a-c) *P < 0.01 with respect to toxin + vehicle. Data are mean ± SEM of six rats per group in all cases. (d) Western blot analysis of TH protein content in striatal homogenates. Representative blots are shown. Lanes: 1, TH standard; 2, sham; 3, LPS + vehicle; 4. LPS + UCN (T = 0); 5. LPS + UCN (T = +7).

animals were similar to those of shams (Figs 1b and 2b) and this was irrespective of whether UCN was administered at T = 0 or T = +7 days. In all cases, sham-treated animals (T = 0) and sham-treated animals given a second round of surgery (T = +7) were nearly identical with respect to circling behaviour, striatal DA concentrations and TH activity (Figs 1 and 2).

Effect of urocortin on striatal tyrosine hydroxylase activity and protein level

In order to estimate the functional integrity of nigral neurones ipsilateral to injection sites, we measured the L-dihydroxyphenylalanine synthetic capacity of striatal homogenates. *Ex-vivo* TH activities were greatly reduced in striata of 6-OHDA- and LPS-treated rats when compared with sham-treated rats and in stark contrast to those treated with UCN at both the T = 0 and T = +7 time points, where TH activities were near normal (Figs 1c and 2c). We established that TH activities in homogenates correlated closely with the relative intensity of immunostaining for the enzyme; western blots revealed a distinct loss of TH immunoreactivity in homogenates after 6-OHDA or LPS only but this was much less apparent in any of the UCN-treated groups, where band densities were more similar to those of shams (see Figs 1d and 2d for representative blots).

Effect of urocortin on survival of tyrosine hydroxylasecontaining nigral cells

Having established that intracerebral administration of UCN prevents the loss of NS function post-toxin in both rodent models, we needed to ascertain whether this could be explained by preservation of discrete nigral cells or alternatively achieved through a substantial up-regulation of TH protein in surviving cells. In order to test these possibilities, we stained cryopreserved brain sections for TH immunoreactivity and counted nigral cell bodies in the substantia nigra. As shown in Figs 3 and 4, 6-OHDA or LPS treatment resulted in a near-complete loss of TH-positive cell bodies, with very few accompanying dendrites remaining (Figs 3b and 4b). Rats

© The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and Blackwell Publishing Ltd European Journal of Neuroscience, 26, 417–423 © The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation European Journal of Neuroscience, 26, 417–423 of Europe 10 Z Soc leties and Blackwell Publishing Ltd





FIG. 3. Photomicrographs of selected rat nigral sections, immunostained for tyrosine hydroxylase. Nigrostriatal cell bodies and dendrites appear dark brown/brown in sections. (a, c, e and g) Contralateral (untreated) nigra for comparison with ipsilateral (treated) nigra (b, d, f and h). (b) 6-Hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) + vehicle; (d) 6-OHDA + uncortin (UCN) (T = +7); (f) 6-OHDA + vehicle (killed at T = +7); (h) 6-OHDA + UCN (T = 0). Bar, 100 µm.

FIG. 4. Photomicrographs of selected rat nigral sections, immunostained for tyrosine hydroxylase. Nigrostriatal cell bodies and dendrites appear dark brown/brown in sections. (a, c, e and g) Contralateral (untreated) nigra (b, d, f and h). (b) Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) + vehicle: (d) LPS + urocortin (UCN) (T = +7); (f) LPS + vehicle (d) killed at T = +7; (h) LPS + UCN (T = 0). Bar, 100 µm.

422 A. Abuirmeileh et al.

similarly treated but killed at +7 days disclosed a more modest loss of both NS cell bodies compared with 14 day exposure (Figs 3f and 4f). As can be clearly seen in Figs 3d or h and 4d or h, UCN almost completely protected against loss of TH-positive cells when administered at the same time as or 7 days following 6-OHDA or LPS injection.

Discussion

In the present study we have used a variety of measures, behavioural, neurochemical and histological, that indicate a clear protective role for UCN against 6-OHDA- or LPS-mediated nigrostriatal lesions. These findings support a potential protective role for UCN in these two paradigms of PD and clearly demonstrate that, when UCN is given concomitantly with either 6-OHDA or LPS, a comprehensive reversal of all selected markers of nigrostriatal cellular loss results. Importantly, the effects of UCN were not restricted to when it was coadministered with 6-OHDA or LPS but were also manifest when given 7 days after toxin injection when neurotoxic damage is already becoming well established (present data; He et al., 2000). This suggests that UCN is able to rescue dopaminergic neurones once damage is established. Taken as a whole, our data reveal that UCN can act as a potent neuroprotective agent in two distinct rodent models of PD and at a dose that was found to be effective in a variety of other studies (Brar et al., 2000, 2002; Facci et al., 2003; Choi et al., 2006). Moreover, we have assessed multiple parameters of NS pathway activity and nigral neuronal integrity. This approach has important strengths over 'single-parameter' studies, given that human PD pathology is complex and multicomponent (Tatton et al., 1998; Blum et al., 2001; Gandhi & Wood, 2005). Of particular significance is our finding that UCN is able to arrest and possibly reverse NS lesions once the neurodegenerative process has commenced. This principle (if reproduced in the human brain) would have obvious clinical significance as patients generally present with symptoms only once nigral neuronal loss reaches 70-80% of the total nigral complement and striatal DA levels have fallen significantly (Abercrombie et al., 1990). Apart from an apparent facility for preservation of cells, it is possible that UCN may act to stimulate dopaminergic neurones via several distinct mechanisms. Recent studies have shown that UCN potentiates the release of [3H]DA from electrically stimulated rat striatal slices (Bagosi et al., 2006) and increases the TH mRNA levels expressed by PC12 cells (Nanmoku et al., 2005), a cell type phenotypically related to midbrain dopaminergic neurones. We investigated the possible effects of UCN on TH in intact unlesioned rats by injecting the peptide alone into the SNc. Rats studied 1, 7 and 14 days later showed no significant effect on tissue DA, TH activity or protein levels (data not shown). In the present study, UCN appears to 'reverse' the loss of TH-positive cell bodies, as sections taken from rats killed 7 days post-6-OHDA or post-LPS clearly show fewer TH-positive cells than those treated with UCN at the 7-day time point (Figs 3d and 4d cf. 3f and 4f).

The underlying cellular mechanism responsible for this highly significant finding is, as yet, unclear although it is possible that UCN increases expression of TH protein in PC12 cells (Nanmoku *et al.*, 2005). No such effect was observed in the present study *in vivo*. It is possible that UCN effects a regrowth and remodeling of surviving dendrites as observed by Swinny *et al.* (2004) using cerebellar Purkinje cells *in vitro*. Interestingly, Scarabelli *et al.* (2002) also reported an apparent restorative action of UCN, albeit observed in cardiac myocytes. In addition, it is probable that UCN achieves a neuroprotective effect partly via prevention of apoptotic cell death

(Scarabelli et al., 2002; Intekhad-Alam et al., 2004). Our own studies have shown that the peptide significantly reduces the number of end-stage apoptotic nuclei observed in nigral sections following intracerebral 6-OHDA injection (Biggs et al., 2006), a significant finding as apoptosis is an important mechanism in 6-OHDA neurotoxicity (Cutillas et al., 1999) and human PD (Tatton et al., 1998; Mochizuki et al., 1996). Our use of the single-dose LPS PD model (Herrera et al., 2000) increases the significance of our data, given that recent evidence supports a neuroinflammatory component in the aetiology of human PD (Gao et al., 2003b; Block et al., 2007; Whitton, 2007) and that UCN itself possesses anti-inflammatory properties (Gonzalez-Rey et al., 2006). It is possible that UCN is instigating de-novo neurogenesis, presumably from recruited stem cells, as has been postulated in other studies (Borta & Hoglinger, 2007). The determination of this is, however, beyond the scope of the present study. Although it is yet to be proven, we would be inclined to the idea that the peptide is able to rescue DA neurones that would otherwise have been damaged beyond repair as well as possibly stabilizing the nigral environment due to its anti-inflammatory properties. The precise neuroanatomical site at which UCN acts is, as yet, unclear although a local action at the level of nigral cell bodies and dendrites seems likely, given the presence of CRF1 immunoreactivity here (Sauvage & Steckler, 2001) and widespread distribution of UCN in the brain (Yamamoto, 1998; Vasconcelos et al., 2003). Studies utilizing cerebellar granule cells and hippocampal neurones (Pederson et al., 2002) also suggest that the engagement of CRF1 is necessary for neuroprotection. It has recently been shown that UCN II, which has a high selectivity for the CRF₂ receptor subtype, is able to block voltage-gated calcium channels in PC12 cells (Tao et al., 2006). These authors have proposed that this could be the basis for neuroprotection. Whether this applies to UCN and could be shown in vivo remains to be seen.

Overall, our results add significantly to a growing knowledge base, whereby UCN mediates cytoprotection in cardiac tissues (Brar et al., 2000, 2002; Scarabelli et al., 2002) and cultured neurones (Pederson et al., 2002; Facci et al., 2003; Choi et al., 2006), with the crucial refinement that we have demonstrated efficacy in two distinct in-vivo models of a currently incurable neuropathology. The apparent ability of UCN to arrest NS damage and possibly stimulate the remaining cells suggests a novel mechanism that, if translated therapeutically, would offer a significant advance in PD treatment. This principle has recently been proposed as an essential prerequisite for the basis of a meaningful advance in PD therapy (Meissner et al., 2004). The rapidly expanding interest in UCN itself and central CRF receptor pharmacology heralds the development of novel small molecule agonists with selectivity for CRF1 and CRF2 subtypes, some of which will probably be suitable for evaluation in pre-clinical and clinical settings. We believe that our studies are an important first step towards validating UCN and central CRF receptors as potential future targets in the treatment of human PD.

Acknowledgements

A.A. is supported by a doctoral grant from the Al Isra Private University, Amman, Jordan.

Abbreviations

CRF, corticotrophin-releasing factor, DA, dopamine: LPS, lipopolysaccharide; NS, nigrostriatal; 6-OHDA, 6-hydroxydopamine; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; PD, Parkinson's disease; SNc, substantia nigra pars compacta; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; UCN, urocortin.

© The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and Blackwell Publishing Ltd European Journal of Neuroscience, 26, 417-423

References

- Abercrombie, E.D., Bonatz, A.E. & Zigmond, M.J. (1990) Effects of L-dopa on extracellular dopamine in striatum of normal and 6-hydroxydopaminetreated rats. *Brain Res.*, **525**, 36–44.
- Bagosi, Z., Jasazberenyi, M., Bujdoso, Z. & Telegdy, Z. (2006) The effects of corticoptropin-releasing factor and the urocortins on striatal dopamine release induced by electrical stimulation — an in vitro superfusion study. *Neurochem. Res.*, 31, 209-213.
- Biggs, C.S., Fowler, L.J., Pearce, B.R. & Whitton, P.S. (1992) Regional effects of sodium valproate on extracellular concentrations of 5-hydroxytryptamine. dopamine and their metabolites in the rat brain: An *in vivo* microdialysis study. J. Neurochem., 59, 1702–1708.
- Biggs, C.S., Abuirmeilch, A., Locke, I.C., Knight, R.A., Chowdrey, H.S. & Whitton, P.S. (2006) Urocortin attenuates key indicators of nigrostriatal pathway destruction in a rat hemiparkinsonian model. *Proc. Brit. Phurm. Soc.* www.pA2online.org/abstracts/vol31issue4abst162.
- Block, M.L. & Hong, J.S. (2005) Microglia and inflammation-mediated neurodegeneration: Multiple triggers with a common mechanism. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, **76**, 77–98.
- Block, M.L., Zecca, L. & Hong, J.-S. (2007) Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: Uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nat. Neurosci.*, 8, 57-69.
- Blum, D., Torch, S., Lambeng, N., Nissou, M.-F., Benabid, A.-L., Sadoul, R. & Verna, J.-M. (2001) Molecular pathways involved in the neurotoxicity of 6-OHDA, dopamine and MPTP: contribution to the apoptotic theory in Parkinson's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 65, 135-172.
- Borta, A. & Hoglinger. G.U. (2007) Dopamine and adult neurogenesis. J. Neurochem., 100, 587-595.
- Brar, B.K., Jonassen, A.K., Stephanou, A., Santilli, A., Railson, J., Knight, R.A., Yellon, D.M. & Latchman, D.S. (2000) Urocortin protects against ischemic and reperfusion injury via a MAPK-dependent pathway. J. Biol. Chem., 275, 8508-8514.
- Brar, B.K., Railson, J., Stephanou, A., Knight, R.A. & Latchman, D.S. (2002) Urocortin increases the expression of heat shock protein 90 in rat cardiac myocytes in a MEK1/2-dependent manner. J. Endocrinol., 172, 283–293.
- Choi, J.S., Pham, T.T., Jang, Y.J., Bui, B.C., Lee, B.H., Boo, K.M., Cha, C.I. & Lee, K.H. (2006) Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and urocortin promote the survival of cultured cerebellar GABAergic neurons through the type 1 CRF receptor. J. Korean Med. Sci., 21, 518-526.
- Clark, D. & White, F.J. (1987) D_1 dopamine receptor the search for a function: a critical evaluation of the D_1/D_2 dopamine receptor classification and its functional implications. *Synapse*, 1, 347–388.
- Cutillas, B., Espejo, M., Gil, J., Ferrer, I. & Ambrosio, S. (1999) Caspase inhibition protects nigral neurons against 6-OHDA-induced retrograde degeneration. *Neuroreport*, **10**, 2605–2608.
- Facci, L., Stevens, D.A., Pangallo, M., Franceschini, D., Skaper, S.D. & Strijbos, P.J.L.M. (2003) Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and related peptides confer neuroprotection via type 1 CRF receptors. *Neuropharma*cology, **45**, 623–636.
- Gandhi, S. & Wood, N.W. (2005) Molecular pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Hum. Mol. Genet., 14, 2749-2755.
- Gao, H.M., Liu, B., Zhang, W. & Hong, J.S. (2003a) Synergistic dopaminergic neurotoxicity of MPTP and inflammogen lipopolysaccharide: relevance to the etiology of Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.*, 17, 1957–1971.
- Gao, H.M., Liu, B., Zhang, W. & Hong, J.S. (2003b) Novel anti-inflammatory therapy for Parkinson's disease. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, 24, 395–401.
- Gonzalez-Rey, E., Fernandez-Martin, A., Chomy, A. & Delgado, M. (2006) Therapeutic effect of urocortin and adrenomedullin in a murine model of Crohn's disease. *Gut*, **55**, 824–832.
- He, Y., Lee, T. & Leong, S.K. (2000) 6-Hydroxydopamine induced apoptosis of dopaminergic cells in the rat substantia nigra. *Brain Res.*, 858, 163–166.
- Herrera, A.J., Castano, A., Venero, J.L., Cano, J. & Machado, A. (2000) The single intranigral injection of LPS as a new model for studying the selective effects of inflammatory reactions on dopaminergic system. *Neurobiol. Dis.*, 7, 429–447.
- Hurtig. H.I. (1997) Problems with current pharmacological treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.*, 144, 10-16.
- Intekhad-Alam, N.Y., Chowdrey, H.S., Knight, R.A. & Locke, I.C. (2004) A CRF family peptide protects a human chondrocyte cell line against apoptosis. *Osteoarthr. Cartilage*, **12** (Suppl. B), 107.
- Lewis, K., Li, C., Perrin, M.H., Blount, A., Kunitake, K.S., Donaldson, C., Vaughan, J., Reyes, T.M., Gulyas, J., Fischer, W., Bilezikjian, L., Rivier, L., Sawachenko, P.E. & Vale, W.W. (2001) Identification of urocortin III.

an additional member of the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) family with high affinity for the CRF2 receptor. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.*, **98**, 7570-7575.

- Meissner, W.T., Hill, M.P., Tison, F., Gross, C.E. & Bezard, E. (2004) Neuroprotective strategies for Parkinson's disease: conceptual limits of animal models and clinical trials. *Trend Pharmacol. Sci.*, 25, 249–253.
- Mochizuki, H., Goto, K., Mori, Y. & Mizuno, Y. (1996) Histochemical detection of apoptosis in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Sci., 137, 120– 123.
- Nanmoku, T., Takekoshi, K., Fukuda, T., Isobe, K., Shibuya, S. & Kawakami, Y. (2005) Urocortin stimulates tyrosine hydroxylase activity via the cAMP/protein kinase a pathway in rat Pheochromocytoma PC12 cells. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 382, 124–127.
- Naoi, M., Takahashi, T. & Nagatsu, T. (1988) Simple assay procedure for tyrosine hydroxylase activity by high-performance liquid chromatography employing coulometric detection with minimal sample preparation. J. Chromatogr., 427, 229-238.
- Ochu, E.E., Rothwell, N.J. & Waters, C.M. (1998) Caspases mediate 6-hydroxydopamine induced apoptosis but not necrosis in PC12 cells. J. Neurochem., 70, 2637-2640.
- Pederson, W.A., Wan, R., Zhang, P. & Mattson, M.P. (2002) Urocortin, but not urocortin II, protects cultured hippocampal neurons from oxidative and excitotoxic cell death via corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type 1. J. Neurosci., 22, 404–412.
- Reul, J.M. & Holsboer, F. (2002) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors 1 and 2 in anxiety and depression. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.*, **2**, 23-33.
- Reyes, T.M., Lewis, K., Perrin, M.H., Kunitake, K.S., Vaughan, J., Arias, C.A., Hogenesch, J.B., Gulyas, J., Rivier, J., Vale, W.W. & Sawchenko, P.E. (2001) Urocortin II: a member of the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) neuropeptide family that is selectively bound by type 2 CRF receptors. *Proc. Natl* Acad. Sci., 98, 2843-2848.
- Sauvage, M. & Steckler, T. (2001) Detection of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 immunoreactivity in cholinergic, dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons of the murine basal forebrain and brainstem nuclei – potential implication for arousal and attention. *Neuroscience*, 104, 643-652.
- Scarabelli, T.M., Pasini, E., Stephanou, A., Comini, L., Curello, S., Raddino, R., Ferrari, R., Knight, R.A. & Latchman, D.S. (2002) Urocortin promotes hemodynamic and bioenergetic recovery and improves cell survival in the isolated rat heart exposed to ischemia/reperfusion. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., 40, 155–161.
- Schapira, A.H. (2001) Causes of neuronal death in Parkinson's disease. Adv. Neurol., 86, 155-162.
- Swinny, J.D., Metzger, F., Ijkema-Passen, J., Gounko, N.V., Gramsbergen, A. & Van Der Want, J.J. (2004) Corticotropin-releasing factor and urocortin differentially modulate rat Purkinje cell dendritic outgrowth and differentiation in vitro. Eur. J. Neurosci, 19, 1749-1758.
- Takahashi, K., Totsune, K., Sone, M., Murakami, O., Satoh, F., Arihara, Z., Sasano, H., Lino, K. & Mouri, T. (1998) Regional distribution of urocortinlike immunoreactivity and expression of urocortin mRNA in the human brain. *Peptides*, 19, 643–647.
- Tao, J., Zhang, Y., Soong, T.W. & Li, S. (2006) Expression of urocortin 2 and its inhibitory effects on intracellular Ca2⁺ via L-type voltage gated calcium channels in rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells. *Neuropsychopharmacolosv*. 31, 2600–2609.
- Tation, N.A., Maclean-Fraser, A., Tatton, W.G., Perl, D.P. & Olanow, C.W. (1998) A fluorescent double-labeling method to detect and confirm apoptotic nuclei in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.*, 44, S142-S148.
- Ungerstedt, U. (1971) Postsynaptic supersensitivity after 6-hydroxydopamine induced degeneration of the nigro-striatal dopamine system. Acta Physiol. Scand. Suppl., 367, 8993.
- Vasconcelos, L.A., Donaldson, C., Sita, L.V., Casatti, C.A., Lotfi, C.F., Wang, L., Cardinouch, M.Z., Frigo, L., Elias, C.F., Lovejoy, D.A. & Bittencourt, J.C. (2003) Urocortin in the central nervous system of a primate (*Cebus Apella*): sequencing, immunohistochemical, and hybridization histochemical characterization. J. Comp. Neurol., 463, 157-175.
- Vaux, D.L. & Korsmeyer, S.J. (1999) Cell death in development. Cell, 96, 245-254.
- Whitton, P.S. (2007) Neuroinflammation as a causative factor in Parkinson's disease. Br. J. Pharmacol., 150, 963-976.
- Yamamoto, H. (1998) Urocortin-like immunoreactivity in the substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area and Edinger-Westphal nucleus of rat. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 243, 21-24.

© The Authors (2007). Journal Compilation © Federation of European Neuroscience Societies and Blackwell Publishing Ltd European Journal of Neuroscience, 26, 417-423

Journal of Neuroinflammation

Short report

Open Access

BioMed Central

Urocortin, a CRF-like peptide, restores key indicators of damage in the substantia nigra in a neuroinflammatory model of Parkinson's disease

Amjad Abuirmeileh¹, Alexander Harkavyi¹, Rebecca Lever¹, Christopher S Biggs² and Peter S Whitton^{*1}

Address: ¹Department of Pharmacology, The School of Pharmacy, 29–39 Brunswick Square, London WC1N 1AX, UK and ²School of Biosciences, University of Westminster, 115 New Cavendish Street, London W1W 6UW, UK

Email: Amjad Abuirmeileh - amjad.abuirmeileh@pharmacy.ac.uk; Alexander Harkavyi - alex.hakavyi@pharmacy.ac.uk; Rebecca Lever - rebecca.lever@pharmacy.ac.uk; Christopher S Biggs - c.biggs@westminster.ac.uk; Peter S Whitton* - peter.whitton@pharmacy.ac.uk

Corresponding author

Published: 21 July 2007

Received: 19 April 2007 Accepted: 21 July 2007

This article is available from: http://www.ineuroinflammation.com/content/4/1/19

Journal of Neuroinflammation 2007. 4:19 doi:10.1186/1742-2094-4-19

© 2007 Abuirmeileh et al: licensee BioMed Central Ltd.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0</u>), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Abstract

We have recently observed that the corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRF) related peptide urocortin (UCN) reverses key features of nigrostriatal damage in the hemiparkinsonian 6hydroxydopamine lesioned rat. Here we have studied whether similar effects are also evident in the lipopolysaccaride (LPS) neuroinflammatory paradigm of Parkinson's disease (PD). To do this we have measured restoration of normal motor behaviour, retention of nigral dopamine (DA) and also tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) activity. Fourteen days following intranigral injections of LPS and UCN, rats showed only modest circling after DA receptor stimulation with apomorphine, in contrast to those given LPS and vehicle where circling was pronounced. In separate experiments, rats received UCN seven days following LPS, and here apomorphine challenge caused near identical circling intensity to those that received LPS and UCN concomitantly. In a similar and consistent manner with the preservation of motor function, UCN 'protected' the nigra from both DA depletion and loss of TH activity, indicating preservation of DA cells. The effects of UCN were antagonised by the non-selective CRF receptor antagonist α -helical CRF and were not replicated by the selective CRF₂ ligand UCN III. This suggests that UCN is acting via CRF₁ receptors, which have been shown to be anti-inflammatory in the periphery. Our data therefore indicate that UCN is capable of maintaining adequate nigrostriatal function in vivo, via CRF, receptors following a neuroinflammatory challenge. This has potential therapeutic implications in PD.

Findings

Parkinson's disease (PD) is largely the result of a degeneration of nigrostriatal neurons. Before the disease presents clinically, death of dopamine (DA) neurons occurs in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) asymptomatically. This has traditionally been ascribed to concurrent apoptotic, excitotoxic and free-radical mediated events [1,2] Recent evidence suggests that both pre- and postnatal neuroinflammation may play a crucial predisposing or causative role in the aetiology of PD [3,4]. Prevention of nigrostriatal neuronal destruction once established, or prior to lesion development, represents an ideal future

http://www.jneuroinflammation.com/content/4/1/19

therapeutic goal in PD. Urocortin (UCN), a corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRF) related peptide has recently been proposed as a cytoprotectant. Evidence for this exists in a range of tissues including neuronal cells [5,6]. Interestingly UCN, acting via CRF1 receptors, is antiinflammatory in the periphery [7]. We have recently observed that UCN arrests the development of Parkinsonian like features in the 6-hyroxydopamine lesioned hemiparkinsonian rat [8]. UCN substantially reverses apomorphine-induced circling, loss of tissue DA, loss of nigral and striatal tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) activity and loss of TH protein levels [8]. Although the 6-OHDA model of PD is well established it has significant physiological limitations. In contrast, lipopolysaccaride (LPS) is an established product of bacterial infection, including relatively common conditions such as bacterial vaginitis. Significantly, evidence suggests that systemic inflammation can predispose or be causative in the genesis of PD [3,4]. Therefore, exposure to conditions leading to neuroinflammation, a condition to which the SNc in particularly susceptible, constitutes a realistic mechanism by which the disease may be initiated. Here we have investigated the potential protective effects of UCN in the LPS paradigm of PD. Additionally, we have studied the effects of the non-selective CRF receptor antagonist α-helical CRF and also urocortin III (UCN III), a selective CRF2 agonist [9], on indices of nigral DA neuronal integrity to determine whether effects of UCN are receptor mediated and the likely subtype.

UCN, UCN III, LPS, α-helical CRF and apomorphine were all obtained from Sigma, UK. The latter agent was dissolved in 0.2% w/v ascorbic acid, whilst LPS, a-helical CRF, UCN and UCN III were initially dissolved in water and further diluted in saline. The concentration of UCN chosen is identical to that used in previous investigations [8,10,11]. Apomorphine was injected in a volume of 0.1 ml per 100 g body weight. Experiments were performed in accordance with the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, UK (1986). Male Wistar rats (Charles River, UK; 210-240 g) were group housed with food and water ad libitum. Animals were anaesthetised, secured in a stereotaxic frame and given injections of LPS (2 μ g/2 μ l) into SNc (from bregma in mm; A -5.2, L 2.2 and V 8.3). Animals cotreated with UCN, UCN III or α-helical CRF received injections (20 fmols/2 µl) directly into the ipsilateral SNc whereas those not receiving UCN were given vehicle. UCN itself was administered either concomitantly with LPS or 7 days later (i.e. once lesions were clearly evident; Fig. 1). All intracerebral injections were performed using a stereotaxic frame mounted microsyringe (Hamilton, US) over approximately four minutes (0.5 µl/min.) and the needle left in place for five min post-injection. Fourteen days after toxin administration (seven days in certain experiments, Fig. 1) rats were given apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg, s.c.) and rotations measured 30 min later for 2 min in a circular 'arena', approximately 1 metre in diameter, to estimate lesion severity. Rats were then lightly anaesthetised, brains removed and their substantia nigra dissected on ice. DA was estimated as previously described [12] and TH activity estimated as outlined previously [8]. Data were subjected to one way ANOVA with a *post hoc* Dunnett's test.

Rats treated with LPS and vehicle displayed characteristic intense, 'tight' contraversive circling, following apomorphine (Fig 1) while those co-treated with intracerebral UCN displayed much reduced apomorphine sensitivity. UCN III did not attenuate apomorphine-induced circling in lesioned rats (Fig 1). LPS treatment produced drastic decreases in nigral DA which were substantially attenuated when UCN was injected at the same time as the LPS (Fig. 1) and critically, when UCN was given seven days following LPS injection. A similar pattern of reduction was seen in nigral TH activity following LPS, and this was also reversed by UCN either given at the same time and also seven days post LPS injection (Fig. 1). In none of the experiments did UCN III effect any decrease in LPSinduced loss of tissue DA or TH activity. In order to establish whether these apparent reductions in 'Parkinsonianlike' pathology were mediated by CRF receptors we coadministered LPS and UCN with the non-selective CRF receptor antagonist, α-helical CRF. α-helical CRF reversed the 'protective' effects of UCN against LPS-induced loss of DA, TH activity as well as apomorphine-induced circling (Fig. 1). This clearly indicates that CRF receptors mediate the actions of UCN. However, the CRF, selective analogue of UCN, UCN III was without effect. This logically indicates that the protective actions of UCN are mediated by CRF₁ receptors.

The current findings demonstrate that UCN greatly attenuates the development of PD-like pathology in a recently proposed [3,4] paradigm of the illness (LPS). The validity of this model is being increasingly appreciated as the role of neuroinflammation as a factor in the aetiology of PD is gaining substantive support in patients and animal-models [3,4,13]. The ability to restore these indices of PD-like damage in dopaminergic nigral neurons seven days after administration of LPS is particularly significant. We have determined that at this time point in our models the lesion has become established but is evidently still unstable since degeneration continues to proceed for a least a further seven days [8,14], Fig. 1. This is reasonably analogous to the predicament of PD patients, where degeneration proceeds until the nigrostriatal system is to all intents destroyed as the illness reaches its terminal phase. Current treatments are of limited, and purely symptomatic value, becoming ineffective as the neurodegeneration proceeds. What is clearly required is some treatment strategy which

http://www.jneuroinflammation.com/content/4/1/19



Figure I

Effect of the CRF-like peptide UCN on indices of nigrostriatal damage induced by intranigral injection of LPS. Data were taken from rats 14 days after injection of LPS and UCN except where indicated (7 d post LPS) in which case UCN was given seven days after LPS injection. In some experiments rats were culled seven days after administration of LPS alone to indicate the development of lesion severity at this point. Indices assessed were as follows: upper panel, circling behaviour in response to the DA agonist apomorphine (one way ANOVA F = 7.763, p < 0.001); middle panel, nigral tissue DA concentration (F = 22.77, p < 0.001), lower panel, nigral tissue TH activity (F = 11.47, p < 0.001). Each group comprised 6–8 rats. In each case differences between groups were assessed using Bonferonni's multiple comparison test. *p < 0.05 versus groups treated with either LPS and vehicle or LPS and UCN III. either stabilizes the hostile conditions prevailing within the SNc, or better, effects some degree of neuronal restoration. Our data suggest that UCN may be able to achieve this, probably acting via CRF₁ sites. The observations with UCN suggest that under neuroinflammatory conditions it is able to elicit a functional recovery in nigrostriatal neurotransmission. We have previously found UCN I to be effective in restoring both striatal TH activity and DA content following either LPS or 6-OHDA-induced lesions [8,14]. Futhermore, we have found that UCN I also reverses loss of extracellular DA in the striatum of freely moving rats (unpublished data). The resulting recovery in nigral DA neurons presumably allows for a restoration of D_1 and D_2 receptor balance in the striatum which would logically underlie the recovery in 'normal' motor activity (loss of circling) seen after apomorphine treatment. However, a determination of actual DA receptor population would be required to prove this.

Evidence has shown that UCN protects some neurons via activation of the CRF_1 subtype [5,6], whilst activation of CRF₂ sites has been cited as important [10,15]. The possibility that UCN can 'rescue' damaged cells has been postulated in some studies, especially cardiac myocytes [10] and the heart ex vivo [11,16]. We are unclear as to the precise mechanism by which UCN I exerts its protective effect. Our unpublished data indicates that UCN I treatment leads to a preservation or restoration of TH+cells in the SNc. Whether this is the result of cytoprotection, such as might occur due to an anti-inflammatory action, or a stimulation of neurogenesis remains to be determined. One possibility could be that UCN I might reduce the massive astrogliosis which arises in the SNc as a result of LPS toxicity [17]. Additionally, the potential contribution of the SNc relative to the ventral tegmental area in restoring nigrostriatal function is also unclear, although we intend to investigate this.

In summary, our data constitutes the first report of a restoration of key indicators of nigrostriatal damage in a neuroinflammatory model of PD after the lesion has become established by a molecule known to have antiinflammatory properties [7]. Although activation of the HPA axis by a CRF agonist might have potentially deleterious side effects, evidence suggests that these may be averted. Thus, CRF and UCN both reduced weight gain in rodents but CRF was much more effective than UCN in this respect and only CRF produced effects consistent with increased sympathetic activity[18]. In order to achieve substantial therapeutic relevance a means by which central CRF1 sites can be activated is clearly essential as may be refinement to ensure an appropriate pharmacological response. While UCN is a relatively large molecule with poor blood brain barrier penetration, recently small, lippophillic, CRF₁ selective antagonists have become available and CRF receptor pharmacology is a rapidly expanding field. As such we consider it highly likely that CRF_1 agonists will become available offering new possibilities in the study of UCN mediated neuroprotection as well as being of potential therapeutic value in PD.

Abbreviations

Dopamine (DA), corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF), hypothalamopituitary-adrenal (HPA), lipopolysaccaride (LPS), Parkinson's disease (PD), tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), urocortin (UCN).

Competing interests

The author(s) declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

AA, AH, CSB and PSW were responsible for the planning and actual experimentation involved in this study. RL contributed to the interpretation of the data and writing of the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

AA was supported by a doctoral award from the New University of Amman, Amman, Jordan.

References

- Vaux DL, Korsmøyer SJ: Cell death in development. Cell 1999, 96:245-254.
- Gandhi S, Wood NW: Molecular pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Hum Mol Genet 2005, 14:2749-2755.
- Block ML, Zecca L, Hong JS: Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: Uncovering the molecular mechanisms. Nature Neurosci 2007, 8:57-69.
- Whitton PS: Inflammation as a potential causative factor in the acticleur of Parkinsona disease. In Uterrand 2007 in press
- the actiology of Parkinsons disease. Br J Pharmacal 2007 in press.
 Pederson WA, Wan R, Zhang P, Mattson MP: Urocortin, but not urocortin II, protects cultured hippocampal neurons from oxidative and excitotoxic cell death via corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor type I. J Neuroscience 2002, 22:404-412.
 Facci L, Stevens DA, Pangallo M, Franceschini D, Skaper SD, Strijbos
- Facci L, Stevens DA, Pangallo M, Franceschini D, Skaper SD, Strijbos PJLM: Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and related peptides confer neuroprotection via type I CRF receptors. Neuropharmacology 2003, 45:623-636.
- Gonzalez-Rey E, Fernandez-Martin A, Chomy A, Delgado M: Therapeutic effect of urocortin and adrenomedullin in a murine model of Crohn's disease. Gut 2006, 55:824-32.
- Biggs CS, Abuirmeileh A, Locke IC, Knight RA, Chowdrey HS, Whitton PS: Urocortin attenuates key indicators of nigrostriatal pathway destruction in a rat hemiparkinsonian model. Proc Brit Pharm Soc 2006 [http://www.pa2online.org/abstracts/ Vol31ssue4abst162P.pdf].
- Lewis K, Li C, Perrin MH, Blount A, Kunitake KS, Donaldson C, Vaughan J, Reyes TM, Gulyas J, Fischer W, Bilezikijan L, Rivier L, Sawachenko PE, Vale WW: Identification of urocortin III, an additional member of the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) family with high affinity for the CRF2 receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2001, 98:7570-7575.
- Brar BK, Jonassen AK, Stephanou A, Santilli A, Railson J, Knight RA, Yellon DM, Latchman DS: Urocortin protects against ischemic and reperfusion injury via a MAPK-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 2000, 27 5:8508-8514.
- Brar BK, Railson J, Stephanou A, Knight RA, Latchman DS: Urocortin increases the expression of heat shock protein 90 in rat cardiac myocytes in a MEK1/2-dependent manner. *JEndocrinol* 2002, 172:283-293.

Journal of Neuroinflammation 2007, 4:19

- 12. Biggs CS, Fowler LJ, Pearce BR, Whitton PS: Regional effects of sodium valproate on extracellular concentrations of 5hydroxytryptamine, dopamine and their metabolites in the rat brain: An in vivo microdialysis study. J Neurochem 1992, 59:1702-1708.
- Biock ML, Hong J-S: Microglia and inflammation-mediated neu-rodegeneration: Multiple triggers with a common mecha-nism. Progress in Neurobiol 2005, 76:77-98.
- Abuirmeileh A, Biggs CS, Lever R, Whitton PS: Urocortin reverses Parkinsonian like effects of intra-nigral lipopolysaccaride injection. Proc Brt Pharm Soc 2007 [http://www.pa2online.org/ 14. abstracts/Vol4lssue2abst156P.pdf].
- 15. Intekhad-Alam NY, Chowdrey HS, Knight RA, Locke IC: A CRF family peptide protects a human chondrocyte cell line
- against apoptosis. Osteoarthr Cartiloge 2004, 12(Suppl B):107. Scarabelli TM, Pasini E, Stephanou A, Comini L, Curello S, Raddino R, Ferrari R, Knight RA, Latchman DS: Urocortin promotes hemo-16. dynamic and bioenergetic recovery and improves cell sur-vival in the isolated rat heart exposed to ischemia/ reperfusion. J Am Coll Cardial 2002, 40:155-161. Hirsch EC, Hunot S, Hartmann A: Neuroinflammatory processes in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonian Relat Disord 2005, 11 (Suppli
- 17. 1):59-515.
- Oki Y, Sasano H: Localization and physiological roles of uro-cortin. Peptides 2004, 25: 1745-1749. 18.

